
2006-2007

Scottish Legal Aid Board
Annual Report

“ The legal aid we received
enabled us to win our case.”

“ Most importantly, it helped
secure the safety of my family.”
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Strategic aims

• to deliver efficient, effective and value for money legal 
assistance services 

• to broaden access by exploring new ways of providing and 
supporting quality assured legal advice services

• to contribute to the improvement and effective operation 
of the justice system.

Corporate aims

• to achieve consistent, timely and sound decision making 
at all stages of an application for legal assistance

• to achieve consistent, timely and sound decision making 
at all stages of assessing and paying accounts

• to achieve effective financial management of the Legal Aid Fund

• to improve the effectiveness of the delivery of our service while
achieving a reasonable balance between cost and quality

• to communicate effectively with applicants, opponents, 
their advisers and other stakeholders in a clear, concise, 
timely, informative and pro-active manner

• to provide sound advice to Scottish Ministers and the 
Scottish Parliament on the current operation and development 
of the provision of legal aid.

To provide access to justice for
those eligible and in need of it, 
in a cost effective manner.



It is often said that as change is all around;
not to change is to go backwards. In many
ways this illustrates the commitment of the
Board to playing a major role in the
modernisation of the justice system and to
increasing access to justice for all those
whose lack of means would otherwise
preclude them from obtaining legal help and
representation. We are also committed to
modernising how legal aid operates through
simplifying procedures and reducing
bureaucracy, particularly through pressing
ahead with Legal Aid Online which we intend
to become the principal method of
conducting business by 2010.

In what has been a busy and exciting year,
the Board was deeply involved in the work 
of the Scottish Executive to bring the Legal
Profession and Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 2007
to fruition and now we are playing our part in
the implementation of the Act’s provisions
and associated reforms.

We have also listened carefully to the many
voices who are increasingly concerned about
the number of solicitor firms actively
providing civil legal assistance, which
continues to decline. The number of
applications for civil legal aid and civil advice
and assistance also continues to decline.
Whilst some potential applicants will
undoubtedly have been able to access legal
services under no win no fee arrangements or
other funding mechanisms, the Board
remains concerned that there may be
underlying access to justice issues which
remain to be addressed.
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A challenging and rewarding year

Iain A Robertson Chairman

Chairman’s introduction



To ensure that there is adequate access to
justice, it is essential that there are sufficient
good quality practitioners available and that
they are fairly rewarded. Where there are
gaps in private sector provision, we and the
Scottish Government need to look at the best
and most cost effective ways of filling these
gaps. This could include mechanisms such 
as contracting, grant funding or by using the
Board’s powers under Part V of the Legal Aid
(Scotland) Act 1986 where solicitors, directly
employed by the Board, can provide services.

We were pleased that in January 2007
regulations came into force to make
necessary changes to block fees for civil legal
aid cases, as recommended by the Board. 
The review of civil fees which the Board is
currently undertaking with the Scottish
Government is expected to report to Ministers 
in late autumn 2007.

In 2006 the Board expanded the network of
Public Defence Solicitors’ Offices (PDSO).
Four new offices are being opened with
Kirkwall leading the way. This small network
of seven offices with around 15 to 18
solicitors (out of a total of around 1,450
private solicitors providing criminal legal
assistance) provides a different model for
criminal legal assistance. The network gives
valuable information on the costs of
providing criminal legal assistance, how
justice or legal aid system changes are
bedding in, and where improvements can be
made in the legal aid and criminal justice
systems, as well as greater choice for clients.

In the course of the year we have been greatly
assisted by good, co-operative relationships
with our partners and the many professional
bodies on whom we depend in this country
for excellent legal services. We have also
worked closely with the team at the Justice
Department of the Scottish Government. 

We were deeply saddened by the untimely
death of Andrew Dickson, who headed the
Government’s legal aid team of officials,
whose contribution to our work was hugely
appreciated.

The Board was very pleased to welcome four
new Board members in the course of the year,
each of them bringing considerable
experience from a wide variety of areas,
particularly in criminal and civil practice,
finance and accounting. Margaret Scanlan
OBE, latterly our Deputy Chairman, retired
from the Board this year after ten years 
of superb service. My grateful thanks to
Margaret and all other Board members 
for their commitment during the year.

Once again excellent results have been
delivered by the staff team, ably led by the
Chief Executive, Lindsay Montgomery. The
Board is very grateful for their support and
hard work.

Following the election in May 2007 we 
are working with the new Cabinet Secretary
for Justice and the Scottish Government 
in the delivery of their wider justice and 
legal agenda.

We look forward to another challenging year
of change, secure in the knowledge that we
have the right partners and staff to deliver
increasingly good results.

Iain A Robertson CBE
Chairman
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We work to help people in need access 
high quality legal advice, information and
representation to deal with a wide range 
of problems. Legal aid enables access to
justice: last year people in Scotland benefited
from over 400,000 grants of assistance.

The year in review
Reform
Reform to legal aid continued, with major
changes being developed in civil and criminal
legal assistance and most significantly, the
Scottish Parliament passing a new Act that
will increase access to justice and improve
the operation of the legal aid system.

Legal Profession and Legal Aid 
(Scotland) Act 2007 
We invested much time and effort in working
with the Scottish Executive on developing 
the legal aid provisions of the Bill. We gave
evidence and submitted a draft Code of
Practice for advisers other than lawyers to 
the Justice 2 Committee. The Bill was enacted
in January 2007 and we are currently working
with the Scottish Government on the
commencement of the provisions in the 
Act which will increase access to justice.

Review of performance indicators and
performance against increased targets
How quickly and accurately we deal with 
legal aid applications is of real importance 
to applicants, their advisers and others
across the justice system. Our targets help 
us focus on achieving our best performance
every year. 

In 2006-2007, we surpassed all of our six
headline performance indicators, the key
measures of the Board’s operational
performance. We also met all but one 
of our 48 individual and corporate targets. 

Legal aid is important. Without it, many
people would not be able to get the legal 
help and advice they need. It also supports
the effective operation of the justice system.

Lindsay Montgomery Chief Executive

Chief Executive’s report
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The standard set by a number of our targets
had been increased from the previous year,
such as shortening the time taken to deal
with a civil legal aid application by a week.
Our performance was also achieved against
increased volumes of criminal cases.

We reviewed our approach to performance
indicators and targets. We asked our
stakeholders for their views on our new
standards for 2007-2008 and the response
we received was very positive. For 2007-
2008, we made several of our targets more
difficult to achieve and significantly reduced
the timescale for processing many types of
legal aid applications, in some cases, by up
to 50%. 

Key figures
The number of legal assistance grants fell 
by 1% to 408,654. Within this total both the
number of civil legal aid and criminal legal
aid grants increased. 

Spending on legal aid was £150.2 million, 
2% more than the year before. Most of the
increase was in criminal legal assistance.
Payments to advocates and solicitor
advocates increased by 13% to £20.8 million,
whilst the amounts paid to solicitors were 
1% lower at £122.0 million.

Legal Aid Online
In 2006-2007, we saw substantial increases
in solicitors’ use of Legal Aid Online, with
almost 200 firms registered to send online
applications.

The number of advice and assistance grants
made using our online system was over four
times higher than 2005-2006, with over one
in seven applications now made online
instead of paper. We expect to see even
greater use of Legal Aid Online in future.

We improved the Advice and Assistance
Online system, making it easier and quicker
to use. We received a lot of positive feedback
from users about these changes. We worked
with solicitors’ firms on the pilot system for
Civil Legal Aid Online.

Reform of summary criminal justice system
We worked closely with the Scottish
Executive and other justice organisations to
develop the changes to the summary justice
process and developed proposals for a new
summary criminal legal assistance system to
support the new summary justice process.
Further consultation and development work
will take place in 2007.

Reform of civil legal assistance
We worked with the Scottish Executive 
to develop the regulations to introduce
important reforms to civil advice and
assistance that were to be implemented 
in May 2007.

We made a report to Ministers on our
monitoring of the 2003 civil legal aid reforms.

We launched a new project to simplify civil
legal assistance. We consulted extensively,
including a survey of applicants and
opponents, and identified ways to reduce
bureaucracy and make the system more
effective and efficient for applicants,
opponents, their advisers and the Board. 
We will start implementing these changes 
in 2007-2008.



Legal aid fees
We developed changes to the civil legal aid
block fee system and assisted the Scottish
Executive with the introduction of these
regulations. The changes introduced in
February 2007 are expected to be worth
around £1 million a year to civil legal aid
practitioners. 

For criminal cases, we worked with the Law
Society of Scotland and the Scottish
Executive to introduce a backdated interim
increase in fee rates for solemn criminal legal
aid cases; and helped launch a consultation
on a new block fee system for solemn
criminal legal aid.

With the Scottish Executive and the Faculty 
of Advocates we reviewed fees for counsel 
in criminal cases and new regulations came
into force in March 2007. We also worked
with the Faculty of Advocates and the
Scottish Executive to develop fee tables for
appeals and civil cases. It is expected that
these will be introduced in 2007-2008. 

Extension of civil legal 
aid contribution periods
We know that some civil legal aid applicants
can find it difficult to pay the contribution we
have assessed them as being liable to pay
towards the cost of their case. To make this
easier, we have extended the period over
which payments can be made. As a result, 
we have succeeded in increasing access to
justice by making legal aid more affordable
for these applicants. 

Employed solicitors and Part V projects
Through Part V of our governing legislation,
we can employ solicitors to work with
partners in the advice sector to help deliver
improved advice services. In 2006-2007, we
launched three new projects and extended
two existing projects.

Scottish Ministers asked us in September
2006 to extend the Public Defence Solicitors’
Office network. We opened an office in
Kirkwall in March 2007, with three more 
to be opened in 2007-2008. 

Scottish Ministers also asked us to identify
geographic areas or areas of civil law in which
there are gaps in private sector provision,
with a view to using solicitors employed by
the Board to provide civil legal assistance to
help ensure access to justice. Preparatory
work was undertaken during 2006-2007.

Fraud and abuse of legal aid
We increased resources in our solicitor and
applicant investigations units which monitor
and investigate instances of fraud and abuse
of legal aid. We carried out more checks on
applicants’ financial eligibility, particularly for
advice and assistance granted by solicitors.
This led to a substantial increase in the
number of cases referred to the Crown Office
for possible prosecution. We also identified a
number of cases of possible fraud or abuse
by legal aid solicitors and reported these to
Crown Office or the Law Society of Scotland.
Our applicant and solicitor investigations
work achieved savings of over £2.1 million.
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Efficient Government savings
The Efficient Government savings for legal aid
operate in the context of modernising legal
aid to ensure the delivery of an efficient and
effective system. We helped the Scottish
Executive exceed its Efficient Government
legal aid savings target for 2006-2007 with
savings exceeding £9 million.

The Finance Committee of the Scottish
Parliament commented favourably on the
approach taken by the Board and the
Scottish Government on the legal aid
efficiency measures.

Future developments
In 2006-2007, we delivered a large number of
projects and did substantial development
work on projects that are to be delivered in
the next year. 

The Legal Profession and Legal Aid (Scotland)
Act 2007 provides an excellent opportunity 
to introduce new ways of funding advice
provision in Scotland. 

Our Corporate Plan 2007-2009 sets out what
we aim to achieve in the next two years. Our
main projects are:
• reform of summary criminal legal

assistance as a result of changes to
summary justice system

• transfer from the courts to the Board 
of the power to grant solemn criminal
legal aid

• introduction of quality assurance for
criminal legal assistance practitioners 

• reform of the feeing arrangements for
solicitors in solemn cases

• delivery of our project to simplify civil
legal assistance 

• reform of civil advice and assistance in
May 2007

• substantial expansion of Legal Aid Online

• introduction of advice and assistance
provided by advisers other than lawyers
and a grant funding scheme.

We will continue to work in partnership with
the Scottish Government, the legal profession
and others to develop legal aid and help
provide more efficient, effective and quality
assured legal aid services.

Lindsay Montgomery
Chief Executive
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About legal aid
Legal aid is help towards the costs of legal
advice and representation, for those who
qualify, paid for out of public funds. It is
designed to help individuals on low and
modest incomes gain access to the legal
system.

Legal aid may be free, or someone may have
to pay towards the cost of their case – for
example through paying a contribution or
from the money or property that they win or
keep as a result of their legal action. Legal aid
is accessed through a solicitor.

There are two main types of help available
through legal aid: advice and assistance and
legal aid. Together these are called legal
assistance.

• Advice and assistance covers a wide
range of matters, so long as they are
matters of Scots law. It pays for advice
from a solicitor, but apart from 
a few exceptions under assistance by way
of representation (ABWOR), it will not
cover “representation” – that is, putting
the case in court.

• Legal aid provides funding for a solicitor
to put the case in court and some
tribunals. It covers the preparation work,
as well as the hearing itself, and can
provide funding for advocates, experts
and other costs. (Cases often begin with
advice and assistance, and legal aid may
be the next step if necessary.)
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What we do

The main types of case that advice and
assistance and legal aid can help with are:
• Civil cases – such as divorce and other

matters affecting family and children, and
actions for compensation after an
accident or medical negligence.

• Criminal cases – help, advice and
representation for someone charged with
a criminal offence or needing advice
about a criminal matter.

• Children’s cases – under the Children
(Scotland) Act 1995, which helps to make
sure children are protected and
supervised. Legal aid also funds appeals
against decisions of children’s hearings.

We are committed to continuing to develop
legal aid to help people receive the high
quality legal assistance they need to deal
with a range of problems.



About us
The Scottish Legal Aid Board was set up in
1987 to manage legal aid in Scotland. We are
a non-departmental public body responsible
to the Scottish Government.

Our work is overseen by Board Members, 
who are appointed by Scottish Ministers. 
The number of members can vary from 11 to
15. To give a balanced range of knowledge
and experience, they include people with
backgrounds in business, the advice sector
and the wider community, as well as
solicitors, advocates and a person with
knowledge of court procedure and practice.

Ministers in the Scottish Government decide
legal aid policy. Ministers propose the
legislation to set the rules for legal aid, and
the fees to be paid to the legal profession.
The Scottish Parliament makes and changes
legislation – including the tests for granting
legal assistance. These tests are then applied
to every single case. In advice and assistance
and some “special urgency” cases, solicitors
apply the tests; for civil and criminal legal aid
we apply them, except in some criminal and
children’s cases, where the courts decide.

The budget for legal aid is different from
many other public services: it is not a set
amount. The Scottish Government gives the
Board the necessary funds to meet the cost 
of cases. This means we never have to refuse
someone legal aid simply because there is 
no money left to pay for their case.

Our work
A large part of our job is to decide who
should get legal aid. If it is granted, legal aid
pays solicitors, counsel – advocates and
solicitor advocates – and other costs of the
case. The solicitor could be in private
practice, employed by the Board or in a law
centre.

Our work includes:
• advising Scottish Ministers on how legal

aid is working, and ways to develop it

• managing the Legal Aid Fund and deciding 
whether to grant applications for legal aid

• deciding if people have to pay towards the
cost of legal assistance, then collecting
these amounts

• assessing solicitors’ and advocates’
accounts for legal aid work, and paying
them for the work they have done

• registering firms and solicitors who do
legal assistance work and making sure
these firms and solicitors maintain high
standards, including funding civil quality
assurance which is run by the Law Society
of Scotland

• investigating and tackling fraud and
abuse of legal aid

• developing a small network of Board-
employed solicitors who offer criminal
legal advice and also under Part V of 
our legislation, developing advice services
using Board employed solicitors on 
civil matters

• exploring new ways of delivering legal 
aid services.

When the provisions of the Legal Profession
and Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 2007 are
commenced, our work will include:
• registering advisers and their agencies,

other than lawyers, to provide advice and
assistance and making sure they meet
standards set out in a Code of Practice

• grant-funding advice organisations.
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In this section, we set out the number
of grants of legal aid made and how
much the service cost the taxpayer.

Grants of legal assistance Page 11

Overall costs Page 12

Legal profession Page 13

Legal aid facts and figures
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Grants of legal assistance in 2006-2007
408,654 grants of legal assistance were
made in 2006-2007, a reduction of 1%.
Although grants of civil, criminal and
children’s legal aid increased, a reduction in
the number of advice and assistance grants
by solicitors meant the overall total was
slightly lower than the previous year.

• criminal legal assistance grants increased
by 2% to 278,560. Within this total, the
number of summary criminal legal aid
grants rose by 3%, and the number of
solemn criminal legal aid grants by the
court rose by 18%

• there were 119,293 grants of civil legal
assistance, a reduction of 7% – although
within this total the number of civil legal
aid grants rose by 3%, reversing the falls
seen in the last three years

• 10,801 grants were made for children’s
legal assistance and contempt of court, 
a rise of 8% from the previous year.

Total legal assistance grants 2006-2007

119,293

1 2 3 4

278,560

10,801

408,6541. Civil legal assistance

2. Criminal legal assistance

3. Children’s and contempt 

legal assistance

4. Total grants of legal assistance

Civil legal assistance grants 2002-2007

150,580

2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

139,933 128,583 119,293
164,391

2002-2003

Children’s and contempt legal assistance grants 2002-2007

9,588

2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

9,582 9,967 10,80110,125

2002-2003

Total grants of legal assistance 2002-2007

441,141

2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

429,085 411,290 408,654
449,205

2002-2003

Criminal legal assistance grants 2002-2007

280,973

2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

279,570 272,740 278,560274,689

2002-2003

Grants 2002-2007
Over the last five years, the number of grants
of legal assistance has fallen by 9%. Most of
the fall has been in civil legal assistance. The
number of criminal legal assistance grants is
1% higher than five years ago.
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continued

Overall costs in 2006-2007
The total net expenditure from the Legal 
Aid Fund in 2006-2007 was £150.2 million, 
a rise of 2%, or £2.3 million, on the previous
year. Total expenditure remains slightly 
lower than that in 2004-2005, which is 
when expenditure reached the highest 
ever level.

The increase is due to several factors. Costs
of almost all other types of legal aid have
increased. There have been falls in the cost 
of civil advice and assistance, civil ABWOR
and criminal appeals. The biggest
expenditure increases have been seen 
in summary and solemn criminal legal aid. 
In summary criminal legal aid, this is because
of an increase in the number of cases. 
In solemn criminal legal aid, the rise has
been driven by an increase in the number of
very expensive cases in the High Court and
the continued increase in the number of
solemn criminal legal aid grants made by 
the courts. 

Expenditure on legal aid was:
• £106.6 million for criminal cases, 

a 3% increase on the previous year.

• £39.0 million on civil cases, 1% lower
than the previous year. This includes
contributions and expenses received 
in civil legal aid cases of £11.7 million.

• £4.5 million on children’s legal assistance
and contempt of court legal assistance, 
an increase of 6% on the previous year.

Expenditure on legal aid 2002-2007
Over the last five years, expenditure has
increased by 11% – a rise of £15.0 million.
Most of the increase has been because 
of a 15% or £13.6 million rise in the costs 
of criminal legal assistance. Civil legal
assistance expenditure has risen by 
£0.9 million, or 2%. Expenditure on
children’s and contempt legal assistance 
has increased by 13% or £0.5 million. 

Net civil legal assistance expenditure 2002-2007 

(£ million)

40.1

2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

39.9 39.5 39.038.1

2002-2003

Criminal legal assistance expenditure 2002-2007 

(£ million)

102.5

2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

109.0
104.0 106.6

93.0

2002-2003

Children’s and contempt legal assistance expenditure 2002-2007 

(£ million)

3.2

2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

3.4 4.3 4.54.0

2002-2003

Net total legal assistance expenditure 2002-2007 (£ million)

145.9

2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

152.4 147.9 150.2

135.2

2002-2003
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Legal profession
Legal aid practitioners
Firms of solicitors must be registered with 
us to undertake legal assistance work. In
addition, individual solicitors who undertake
criminal legal assistance must also be
registered.

As at 31 March 2007, there were:
• 599 firms registered to offer criminal 

legal assistance, 4% lower than the
previous year

• 1,459 solicitors registered to provide
criminal legal assistance, also 4% lower
than the previous year

• 676 firms registered to provide civil legal
assistance, 8% fewer than the previous
year. (Solicitors are not registered to
undertake civil work, only their firm.)

The Board shares the concerns expressed by
others about the reducing number of firms
providing civil legal assistance. Of particular
concern are potential access to justice
problems which may be faced by the public 
in accessing civil legal assistance solicitors. 
A number of changes to address possible
access problems are being developed – 
see page 15.

Payments made in 2006-2007
Legal aid pays for fees charged by solicitors,
advocates and solicitor advocates. It also
pays for outlays – for example, travel
expenses and the cost of getting reports from
experts such as doctors and surveyors.
Outlays may also include payments to the
legal profession, either to advocates under
advice and assistance or to “Edinburgh
agents” who are solicitors acting on behalf 
of other solicitors in cases going through the
Court of Session.

There was a 1% fall in payments to solicitors
to £122.0 million; payments to advocates 
and solicitor advocates rose by 13% to 
£20.8 million; and outlays were 8% higher 
at £18.2 million.

Payments made 2002-2007
The changes in payments made over the last
five years are:
• payments to solicitors have increased by

5%, which is £6.1 million more, although
payments in the last year are lower than
the previous three years

• payments to advocates and solicitor
advocates have increased by 53%, which
is £7.2 million higher

• outlays have increased by 21%, which is 
£3.2 million higher. 

Payments made – outlays 2002-2007 

(£ million)

16.0

2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

17.7 16.8 18.215.0

2002-2003

Payments made – advocates and solicitor advocates 2002-2007 

(£ million)

17.9

2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

18.8 18.3 20.8
13.5

2002-2003

Payments made – solicitors 2002-2007 

(£ million)

122.9

2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

127.3 122.7 122.0115.9

2002-2003

Payments made
We publish on our website www.slab.org.uk
details of payments made in 2006-2007 to 
all firms of solicitors, solicitor advocates 
and advocates.
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This section covers civil cases such as
matters affecting family and children. 
It includes information on
developments to improve the system
and grants and cost figures.
Developments Page 15

Key civil figures Page 17

Civil advice and assistance and ABWOR Page 18

Civil legal aid Page 19

Civil legal assistance



15

Scottish Legal Aid Board
Annual Report 2006-2007

Civil legal assistance developments
Reform of civil advice and assistance
In 2006-2007, we began development work
on the second phase of the reforms which
were to be implemented on 1 May 2007. 

We worked with the Scottish Executive to
introduce regulations changing the way in
which civil advice and assistance operates,
including removing the minimum fee for
solicitors and introducing a ‘diagnostic
interview’ stage to establish if a solicitor’s
help is needed in their client’s case. 

We developed a new case management
computer system, new application forms,
guidance and organised a series of seminars
to inform the profession about the changes 
in preparation for implementation on 
1 May 2007. 

Monitoring of civil legal aid reform
In October 2003, we implemented major
reforms of civil legal aid. The reforms
included a new block fee payment structure
and increase in fees for solicitors; the
introduction of quality assurance and
registration of firms; and new case reporting
requirements.

In 2006-2007, we reported to Scottish
Ministers, in partnership with the Law Society
of Scotland and the Scottish Executive, 
on the effect of the reforms. The report
concluded that the reforms were operating
reasonably well but that further work should
be done to ensure the future supply of legal
aid services.

Changes to civil legal aid fees
As a result of our monitoring of the block 
fee system, we highlighted for Scottish
Ministers changes needed to improve the
system. We worked on the detail of these
changes with the Law Society of Scotland 
and the Scottish Executive. 

The changes were introduced in February
2007 and are expected to be worth around 
£1 million a year to solicitors. These
important changes improves the amount
solicitors are paid, for example in family
cases or in cases where no proceedings are
raised after legal aid is granted, but where
necessary work has been carried out by 
the solicitor. 

Towards the end of 2006-2007, we were
asked by Scottish Ministers to start work 
with the Scottish Government, on a review 
of fees for civil legal aid.

Simplification of civil legal assistance
We launched a new project to simplify civil
legal assistance for applicants, opponents,
solicitors and the Board. 

We ran 17 focus groups across the country
with solicitors to get their views on how to
improve the system for the benefit of all
those involved, including applicants,
opponents and legal aid practitioners. 
We carried out a survey of legal aid
applicants to collect their views on how legal
aid works. We set up an external reference
group for stakeholders to allow them to
contribute to the project. 

As a result of the feedback received we 
have already made changes. We have:
• ended the system of Board audits of civil

solicitors’ compliance with the Law
Society of Scotland’s administrative
procedures, as the system showed that
firms were generally meeting these
requirements

• developed new templates for use with 
the new advice and assistance forms,
introduced on 1 May 2007.
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Civil legal assistance
continued

In 2007-2008 we will be:
• revising the civil legal aid forms to reduce

the number of questions

• simplifying the civil legal aid application
process by reducing supporting
documentation and developing model
applications 

• developing a supplier support system to
feed back to firms information about their
legal aid applications

• developing better information about 
the legal aid services firms provide so 
that applicants can find legal aid solicitors
who deal with the problems they need
advice on

• piloting new ways of collecting financial
information from applicants – for example,
by telephone.

Extension of civil legal aid 
contribution periods
We made it easier for people offered civil
legal aid to pay their contributions, by
extending the period to up to 48 months over
which they can pay. Previously, they had to
pay over 20 months. 

Fees for counsel 
For many years there has been no table of
fees for work done by counsel in civil sheriff
court cases and this has led to increasing
levels of fees and uncertainty about legal aid
expenditure. We worked with the Scottish
Executive and the Faculty of Advocates to
develop a table of fees for civil sheriff court
work. It is planned to introduce the new fee
tables in late 2007-2008.

Civil quality assurance 
We continued to work jointly with the Law
Society of Scotland on the quality assurance
peer review system. The peer review system
is operated by the Law Society of Scotland
and funded by the Board. Peer reviews are
carried out by experienced civil solicitors
recruited by the Society in consultation with
the Board. The peer review process involves
looking at a sample of files against agreed
and tested criteria. Peer review helps firms
develop better business practices. Overall,
the results of the peer reviews show that 
in a large majority of cases solicitors deliver 
a good quality service. 

New ways of providing civil legal assistance
Part V of the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986
allows the Board to run innovative legal
advice projects to test new methods of
delivering legal advice and improving access
to legal services within remote and rural
communities. 

In 2006-2007, we launched three new
projects and extended two existing projects.

We employ five solicitors directly to work in
partnership with local advice-giving
organisations. The solicitors provide a
mixture of casework, second tier support and
training for local advisers. The projects are: 
• Citizens Advice Scotland project – based

in Inverness to serve bureaux across the
Highlands and Islands

• Street Legal project – based in Edinburgh
to provide legal advice to young people
and rough sleepers at risk

• Disability Legal Advice project – improves
access to legal advice for disabled people
across North and South Lanarkshire

• Fife Rights Forum project – provides
specialised legal aid advice and
representation to mental health clients 
in Fife

• Argyll and Bute Advice Network project –
provides advice services across Argyll 
and Bute.
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Key civil legal assistance
facts and figures 2006-2007
Civil legal assistance in total
• In 2006-2007, there were 119,293 grants

of civil legal assistance (which includes
both civil legal aid and civil advice and
assistance and ABWOR) in total. This was
7% fewer than the previous year because
of a continuing decrease in civil advice
and assistance grants by solicitors. The
number of civil legal aid grants increased
by 3% to 11,323, reversing the decrease,
seen over many years, in the number of
grants.

• Overall, the net cost of civil legal
assistance was £39.0 million last year.
This is 1% lower than was spent in 2005-
2006.

Civil advice and assistance and ABWOR
• Solicitors made 9% fewer grants of advice

and assistance – 104,416 compared with
114,285 in 2005-2006.

• However, there was a 7% increase in 
the number of grants of ABWOR for civil
matters compared to the previous year, 
to 3,554.

• The cost of civil advice and assistance
and ABWOR fell by 7% to £19.2 million.

Grants of civil legal aid 
• We made 3% more grants of civil legal 

aid compared to the previous year –
11,323 compared with 10,982.

• The number of applications for civil legal
aid fell by 3%, from 16,859 to 16,291.

• The net cost of civil legal aid increased 
by 5% to £19.8 million, which was £1.0
million more than the previous year.

Amounts people paid 
• Most people granted civil legal aid do 

not pay a contribution towards the costs.
Last year, 25% of people who received
civil legal aid had to pay a contribution,
with the average amount being £1,034.

• People who received civil legal aid 
made payments towards the cost of 
their legal aid totalling £11.7 million, 
as contributions, expenses or from what
they won or kept at the end of a case. 
This is 37% of the gross expenditure 
on civil legal aid cases. 

Civil legal assistance
Facts and figures
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Civil advice and assistance and ABWOR
Grants of civil advice and assistance and
assistance by way of representation (ABWOR)
The total number of civil advice and
assistance and ABWOR grants continued to
fall for the seventh successive year. In the
last year the fall was 8%, to 107,970 grants,
and takes the overall reduction over the last
five years to 28%.

Advice and assistance excluding ABWOR fell
by 9% to 104,416. There were reductions in
grants in most categories. The most
significant changes have been seen in the
number of grants for reparation, debt,
interdict, housing, divorce and separation.

In ABWOR, where the solicitor can represent
people in certain types of tribunal and other
hearings, there was a 7% increase to 3,554
grants, after falls in the three previous years.
There were increases in the number of mental
health and immigration ABWOR cases.

Requests for increases in authorised
expenditure have also fallen by 9% this year.
This is partly because of the reduction in the
number of grants. It is also partly because of
an increase in the use of “templates” for
certain types of case, which enable solicitors
to put in a single request for an increase 
to cover all the steps commonly taken for 
that type of case, cutting the need for
additional requests and reducing
bureaucracy for solicitors. 

Costs
The cost of civil advice and assistance 
fell by 7% to £19.2 million. There was a 
24% reduction in the total cost of ABWOR
cases, largely due to a fall in the number 
and average cost of immigration cases. 

The average cost of an advice and assistance
case was £186, an increase of 7% on the
previous year. The average cost of a civil
ABWOR case fell by 1% to £694.
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Civil legal aid grants
Applications and grants
The number of applications for civil legal aid
fell in 2006-2007, by 3% to 16,291. 

There were 11,323 grants of civil legal aid, an
increase of 3% on the previous year. 

There was a 4% increase, to 7,929, in grants
of civil legal aid for family/matrimonial cases.
These cases account for 70% of all civil legal
aid grants. The rise is mainly because of
changes in family law, meaning that people
can now apply for divorces earlier than
previously. 

Reparation cases, such as compensation
claims after accidents, are the next largest
type of case in civil legal aid, at 11% of civil
grants. Last year the number of reparation
grants fell by 26% to 1,257 grants. This
follows a large increase the year before due
to a significant number of “slopping out”
cases by prisoners. There have been fewer of
these cases this year. In the previous year
there were 148 reparation grants for cases
involving actions against former children’s
homes and religious orders. 

The number of grants in relation to the Adults
with Incapacity (Scotland) Act has increased
in the last year, from 233 to 604. 

These cases make up a large proportion of
the ‘other’ category shown in the tables on
pages 54-58.

Trends in civil legal aid
Over the past 10 years applications for civil
legal aid have fallen by 37% and grants by
35%. However, in the last five years the rate of
reduction has become less: applications have
fallen 15% and grants by 16%.

The Board’s previous research and
discussions with solicitors and other
stakeholders suggests that much of the fall in
applications is because of wider changes:
reductions in the number of fault based
divorces, tougher police and prosecution
approaches to domestic violence, an increase
in no win/no fee arrangements and rising
incomes and reductions in the number of
people on benefit. 

Nevertheless, we remain concerned to ensure
that the reduction in applications does not
reflect a reduction in access to justice,
particularly given the reduction in the number
of solicitor firms undertaking civil legal
assistance. Much of our work now and in the
future will be focused on ensuring access to
legal advice, assistance and representation
for those who need it. Various developments
are underway and these are reported on 
page 15.

Civil legal aid grants by type of case 2006-2007

OtherAppealsJudicial
review

DebtRecovery 
of heritable

property

ReparationFamily/
matrimonial
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2003-2004
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Grants

Applications 2006-2007
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Amounts people pay towards 
the cost of civil legal aid
Payments made to assisted persons
Where civil legal aid is granted, this does not
always mean that the taxpayer has to meet
the whole cost of case. Someone granted civil
legal aid may have to pay a contribution
based on their income or capital. Or, if their
case is successful, their opponent may be
ordered to pay their expenses, and we will
use this to pay for their legal aid. If these
expenses do not meet their legal aid costs,
they may have to pay from any money they
win or keep in their case – for example, in
damages cases – this is often called “property
recovered or preserved” or “clawback”.

Contributions
Last year the proportion of cases where the
applicant had to pay a contribution fell by 
2% to 25%. The average contribution in 
2006-2007 was £1,034, an increase of 4% 
on 2005-2006 but almost the same as the
two previous years. 

Three-quarters of people awarded civil legal
aid do not have to pay a contribution to the
cost of their case.

Amounts recovered
£11.7 million in total was collected, £0.9
million, or 8%, more than the previous year.
This means that we recovered 37% of the
total spent on civil legal aid cases, compared
to 36% in 2005-2006. The amount of income
we collect can vary significantly from year to
year as a small number of expensive cases
can influence the overall total.

In civil legal aid reparation cases, 73% of the
amount spent was recovered, and 17% of the
amount spent on family and matrimonial
cases was recovered. 

The income received was made up of:
• contributions of £1.3 million collected

from people who had been granted civil
legal aid, which was 15% higher than the
previous year

• expenses of £8.8 million from opponents,
1% more than the year before

• £1.5 million from property recovered or
preserved.
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Expenditure
Costs, average case costs and very 
expensive cases
Gross expenditure on civil legal aid rose by
£1.8 million, or 6%, to £31.4 million
compared to the previous year. The net cost
to the taxpayer (allowing for contributions,
expenses recovered from opponents and
amounts recovered from assisted persons)
was £19.8 million, an increase of 5% on the
previous year. The average gross cost of a
civil case rose by 3% to £2,643. 

A key factor in this change in expenditure is
because of the impact of a small number of
very expensive cases, where the costs are
over £50,000. In 2006-2007 there were 29
such cases, an increase of 11 cases compared
to the previous year. The total cost of these
cases last year was £2.5 million, which was
significantly more than the £1.5 million spent
on high cost cases the previous year. In
particular, seven cases cost more than
£100,000 each, compared to three the year
before. These seven cases alone cost a total
of £1.0 million.

Amounts paid for civil legal aid
Last year the amounts paid for civil legal 
aid were:
• £16.7 million to solicitors, a fall of 2%

• £4.9 million to advocates and solicitor
advocates, an increase of 7%

• £9.8 million on outlays, an increase 
of 22%.

The main reasons for this increase are a rise
in the cost of reports in sheriff court family
cases and the cost of experts instructed in
Court of Session reparation cases. Where a
solicitor from elsewhere in the country
instructs an Edinburgh solicitor to conduct a
case in the Court of Session, the cost is also
counted as an outlay. 

Over the last five years, payments made for
civil legal aid work overall have increased by
16% or £4.4 million: 
• payments made to solicitors over this

period have risen by 2%, or £0.4 million

• payments to counsel have increased 
by £1.7 million, a rise of 52% 

• the cost of outlays for civil legal aid has
increased by 30%, which is £2.3 million
more over the last five years.

Payments made for civil legal aid – solicitors 2002-2007 

(£ million)
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Payments made for civil legal aid – advocates and solicitor advocates 
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Payments made for civil legal aid – outlays 2002-2007 
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We set out details on changes to 
the system, and figures on grants 
and costs.
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Criminal legal assistance developments
Reform of summary criminal legal assistance
Major changes to the operation of summary
justice are planned to be introduced in 
2007-2008. Summary criminal legal
assistance needs to be reformed to ensure
that it supports and facilitates the effective
working of the new system. 

We have worked with the Scottish Executive
and our justice system partners on
developing the new summary criminal justice
system and reformed summary criminal legal
assistance system. With the Scottish
Government, it is intended to consult with
stakeholders in 2007 on the legal aid
proposals, with implementation in 2008.

Reform of solemn fees for solicitors
We worked with the Scottish Executive 
and the Law Society of Scotland to develop 
a new block fee system. In partnership with
the Law Society of Scotland, we launched 
a consultation on proposals for a new block 
fee system for solemn criminal legal aid work.
Further progress will be made on the new fee
system in 2007-2008.

We introduced an interim backdated increase
in fee rates for solicitors undertaking solemn
criminal legal aid work following decisions 
by Scottish Ministers. 

Reform of counsel’s fees 
In partnership with the Scottish Executive
and the Faculty of Advocates, we reviewed
the operation of the fee tables for counsel 
in criminal cases that were introduced in 
April 2005, and recommended changes to 
the Scottish Executive. As a result, the
Scottish Executive introduced regulations 
in March 2007. 

We worked with the Faculty of Advocates and
Scottish Executive to develop a new table of
fees for counsel in cases before the Judicial
Committee of the Privy Council. We also
worked on developing a new table of fees for
counsel in criminal appeal cases, that are
expected to be introduced in 2007-2008. 

Quality assurance
We worked with the Law Society of Scotland
to develop a new peer review quality
assurance system for all solicitors doing
criminal legal assistance work. We hope to
pilot the new system in 2007.

Code of Practice for solicitors
Under Part V of the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act
1986, both solicitors and firms wanting to
provide criminal legal assistance must be
registered with the Board and comply with
the Code of Practice for Criminal Legal
Assistance. The Code enables us to monitor
the quality of criminal legal assistance work
carried out in Scotland and to ensure that 
the considerable sums spent on criminal
legal assistance are being properly spent. 
We issued the revised Code for consultation
with the legal profession and others. It is
expected that the revised Code will be issued
in 2007-2008 subject to agreement by
Scottish Ministers.
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Key criminal legal assistance
facts and figures 2006-2007
• The total number of grants of legal

assistance for criminal matters increased
by 2% to 278,560 in 2006-2007.

• The cost of providing criminal legal
assistance rose by 3% to £106.6 million,
reversing the reduction seen the previous
year. Among the reasons for the increase
were more summary and solemn criminal
cases and more high cost cases.

Advice and assistance and ABWOR
• The number of grants by solicitors of

advice and assistance (including ABWOR)
for criminal cases was 144,019, which 
was 1% fewer than the previous year. 

• Expenditure was almost unchanged 
at £11.9 million.

Criminal legal aid
• There were 82,686 grants of summary

criminal legal aid, a rise of 3% on the
previous year, reversing the slight fall
seen the previous year. 

• The cost of summary criminal legal 
aid also rose by 4% to £52.1 million. 
The average case cost was unchanged
from the previous year at £645.

• Grants by the courts of solemn criminal
legal aid (for the most serious crimes)
increased by 18% to 13,898.

• The cost of solemn criminal legal 
aid rose by 3% or £1.1 million, 
to £37.3 million.
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Criminal advice and assistance and ABWOR
Grants
The total number of criminal advice and
assistance grants by solicitors (including
Assistance By Way Of Representation
(ABWOR), where the solicitor can represent
someone in court in some circumstances),
fell by 1% to 144,019 compared with 
2005-2006.

Grants of criminal advice and assistance were
almost unchanged at 125,027, which halts
the trend of reductions over the last five
years. Criminal ABWOR grants fell by 5% to
18,992 grants compared to the previous year.
This continues the trend of reductions over
the past five years of 12%. 

Costs
Expenditure on criminal advice and assistance
and ABWOR was almost unchanged at 
£11.9 million. Criminal advice and assistance
costs rose by 1% to £8.1 million, while
criminal ABWOR was unchanged at 
£3.7 million.

The average cost of a case under advice and
assistance rose by 1% from £68 to £69, and
the average cost of a case under ABWOR rose
by 7% to £225. 

Summary criminal legal aid
Criminal legal aid in summary cases
Applications for summary criminal legal aid
rose by 5% to 89,984, from 85,916 in 2005-
2006. This reversed the slight reduction seen
the previous year. The increase is consistent
with a rise in the number of accused being
prosecuted under summary procedure and
takes the number of applications to its
highest ever level.

The total number of summary criminal grants
made by the courts and the Board was
82,686, a 3% increase on the previous year.

The courts may grant summary criminal legal
aid in a limited number of defined
circumstances, mainly where the court is
considering a prison sentence where the
accused has not previously been in prison.
Grants of summary criminal legal aid by the
courts rose by 12% to 1,540.

Within summary criminal legal aid grants:
• Offensive weapons/vandalism/breach of

the peace accounts for 28% of all grants
made. There was a 2% increase in these
cases to 23,330 grants. 

• Assault cases are 25% of all summary
criminal grants, and increased by 6% to
20,353 grants.

• Theft, housebreaking and robbery were
16% of all summary grants. These
increased by just 1% to 13,403 grants.

The number of summary grants for district
court cases was virtually unchanged at
11,724. Most summary grants were for the
sheriff court, with 70,962 grants, an increase
of 4% on the previous year. 

Summary criminal legal aid expenditure 2002-2007 (£ million)
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Costs 
The cost of summary criminal legal aid
increased by 4% to £52.1 million. This is the
highest level of expenditure on summary
criminal legal aid since 1997-1998. 

The average cost of a summary criminal case
was £645, unchanged from the previous year.

The system of fixed payments continues to
ensure general consistency in the costs of
individual summary cases from year to year.
The increase in expenditure this year is
therefore due to the increase in applications
and grants.

Trends in summary criminal legal aid
Over the last five years applications for
summary criminal legal aid have increased 
by 13% and grants by 10%. 

Expenditure on summary criminal legal aid
has increased by 13% over the past five years. 

Criminal legal aid in solemn cases
Solemn criminal grants
The courts grant legal aid in solemn cases.
The number of court grants of solemn legal
aid recorded by the Board, rose by 18% to
13,898 grants. This follows an 8% increase in
the previous year. These increases are
broadly in line with a rise in the number of
indictments registered by the courts.

Within solemn criminal legal aid grants:
• Assault is the largest category of case,

accounting for a third of all solemn grants.
There was a 12% increase in assault solemn
grants compared to the previous year. 

• Drugs cases are the next largest category,
and increased by 24%

• The biggest increase came in offensive
weapons cases, which more than doubled
from 544 cases in 2005-2006 to 1,194.
This rise is because of a new Crown Office
and Procurator Fiscal Service policy of
prosecuting offensive weapons cases under
solemn procedure rather than summary.

Costs
Expenditure on solemn criminal legal aid rose
by 3%, or £1.1 million to £37.3 million. The
average case cost (including appeals) rose by
6% to £2,961.

The key factor in this change in expenditure
was a 29% increase in the number of High
Court cases that were paid. 

Despite an 11% reduction in the average cost
of these cases, this change in number has led
to additional expenditure of £2.4 million. This
was partially offset by a fall in both the
number and average cost of sheriff court
solemn cases. 

There was also an impact from a small
number of very expensive cases, where the
costs are over £50,000. Last year there were
48 such solemn cases, an increase of 
19 cases compared to 2005-2006. The total
cost of these cases was £1.7 million more
than the previous year. The main change was
the number of very expensive drugs-related
cases, a number of which cost more than
£100,000. The number of cases costing more
than £100,000 has increased from nine in
2005-2006, with a total value of £1.2 million,
to 16 in 2006-2007, with a total value of 
£2.3 million. 

Trends in solemn criminal legal aid
Over the last five years the number of grants
by the courts for solemn criminal legal aid
has increased by 27%. As solemn cases tend
to be considerably more expensive than
summary cases, this has significant
expenditure implications. Expenditure on
solemn criminal legal aid has increased by
20% over the past five years. The increase in
solemn criminal legal aid grants this year will
lead to increased expenditure in future years.

Solemn criminal legal aid grants made by the courts 2002-2007
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Other criminal legal aid work
Appeals
There were 2,134 grants of criminal legal aid
for appeals, a decrease of 13% on the previous
year, continuing the trend for the last seven
years. The biggest fall was in appeals against
sentence, which was 15% lower. The number
of appeals has fallen by 23% over the past
five years.

The cost of appeals was £3.3 million, a fall of
15% on the previous year. Even with this fall,
the total cost of appeals has increased by
37% over the last five years. The average cost
of an appeal case was £1,523, an increase of
14% on the previous year. 

Duty solicitor
Anyone taken into custody (regardless of
their financial circumstances) has the right to
use the duty solicitor. A duty solicitor is
available at every sheriff and district court in
Scotland. Duty solicitors can represent
accused people at their first appearances in
court and, if they plead guilty, deal with any
follow-up hearings until the end of the case. 

Duty solicitors made 34,713 appearances for
people on criminal matters in 2006-2007, an
increase of 8% on the previous year. Over the
last five years the number of duty
appearances has increased by 31%. 

The cost of the duty solicitor scheme
increased by 17% to £1.2 million compared to
2005-2006. Over the past five years, costs
have increased by 37%, or £0.3 million.

Criminal sanctions
To employ advocates and solicitor advocates
in certain types of cases or to employ an
expert or do unusual work, a solicitor must
ask us for sanction.

The number of sanction requests in summary
cases rose by 5% this year compared with
2005-2006. The great majority of summary
sanction requests continue to relate to experts. 

The total number of solemn sanction
requests has risen by 17%. Although there
were increases in all sanction types, the
biggest change has been a 30% increase in
requests for sanction for counsel. This
increase is not unexpected, as it flows largely
from a change in procedure allowing earlier
applications for sanction for junior counsel in
High Court cases. There has also been a 12%
increase in requests for sanction for counsel
in sheriff court solemn cases. 

Amounts paid for criminal legal aid 
Last year the amount paid for criminal legal
aid work rose by 3% to £92.7 million. The
amount paid to solicitors for criminal legal aid
rose very slightly, to £72.7 million. Amounts
paid to advocates and solicitor advocates
rose by 18% to £14.9 million. Expenditure on
outlays fell by 2% to £5.2 million.

Over the last five years payments for criminal
legal aid work have increased by 17%, a rise
of £13.2 million: 
• payments to solicitors rose by £6.9

million, an increase of 11%

• payments to advocates and solicitor
advocates have increased by 58% or 
£5.5 million 

• payments for outlays increased by 19%, 
or £0.8 million over this period.

Payments made for criminal legal aid – outlays 2002-2007 

(£ million)
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PDSO is a small network of Board-
employed solicitors who provide
criminal defence services. This section
gives information on PDSO’s work and
development.
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PDSO developments
The small network of seven PDSO offices
across Scotland offers people a greater
choice of criminal defence services. There are
now 15-18 solicitors employed by the Board 
in the PDSO, working alongside around 1,450
private sector criminal legal assistance
solicitors. PDSO allows us to learn more
about the operation of the justice system and
it brings a different approach to dealing with
clients who face criminal charges. 

PDSO solicitors are paid an annual salary,
rather than being paid on a case by case
basis as private solicitors are. Each office
comprises a team of legal and administrative
staff. PDSO provides criminal legal advice,
assistance and representation to anyone
entitled to legal aid and charged with a
criminal offence.

In 2006, the Scottish Ministers at that time
asked the Board to increase the number of
PDSO offices. We opened a new office in
Kirkwall to add to the existing offices in
Edinburgh, Glasgow and Inverness. Further
offices in Ayr, Falkirk and Dundee will be
opened in 2007.

Facts and figures 
• In 2006-2007 the PDSO offices handled

1,491 cases, including 77 solemn cases.
This means that one in twenty cases 
PDSO dealt with were about the most
serious criminal charges. 

• Over the last five years the overall 
number of cases dealt with by PDSO has
increased by 33%, whilst solemn cases
have gone up by 208%.

• The cost of funding PDSO was £864,000,
which was 9% higher than the previous
year as it included costs to start up 
new offices.
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This section covers legal help to make
sure children are protected and
supervised and appeals against
children’s hearing decisions. It also
covers legal aid for contempt of court.

Children’s and contempt legal assistance
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Key children’s legal assistance
facts and figures 2006-2007
• Children’s advice and assistance was up

3% at 5,868 grants.

• Grants of children’s legal aid by the courts
and by the Board for appeals increased by
12% to 4,461 grants. This follows an
increase of 9% the year before.

• The overall cost of children’s legal
assistance increased by 5% to 
£4.4 million.

The legal aid in this section is specifically for
proceedings under the Children (Scotland)
Act 1995. This involves measures to ensure
children are protected and supervised, and
appeals against decisions of children’s
hearings.

Children’s advice and assistance
The number of grants of advice and
assistance by solicitors rose by 3% to 
5,868 grants. Spending was unchanged 
at £0.5 million.

Children’s legal aid
The number of grants of legal aid by the
courts increased by 12% compared to the
previous year to 4,461 grants, including five
appeals (which are decided by the Board). 

The total paid for legal aid for children rose
by 6%, to £4.0 million. The average case cost
increased by just 1% to £1,126. 

However, we continue to see a small number
of very expensive cases, where the cost is
over £50,000. Last year there were nine very
expensive cases, compared to seven the
previous year. 

Contempt of court
Grants by the courts for contempt of court
proceedings increased by 57% to 472. This
follows a 32% rise the previous year. 

Expenditure increased by 32% to £0.1 million.
This was because of a 52% increase in the
number of accounts paid; the average cost 
of a case fell by 13% to £295.

Children’s legal aid grants (including appeals) 2002-2007

Children’s legal aid expenditure 2002-2007 
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3.8 4.0

3.4
2.9
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Our performance
We have performance targets for
making correct decisions within a set
timescale. This section tells you how
we performed against target.
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Measuring our performance
Our main roles include taking decisions on
legal aid applications and assessing and
paying the accounts of solicitors and counsel.
We set performance indicators and targets 
to provide a measure of our performance. 
Our targets are agreed by Scottish 
Ministers annually.

Our headline indicators combined individual
timeliness and accuracy targets for each legal
aid type. They are weighted equally so that
we achieve an appropriate balance between
the measures for speed of processing and the
quality of decisions. 

In 2006-2007, we set ourselves more difficult
performance indicators and targets. Over
recent years, we have seen a substantial
increase in the volume of criminal work 
but have been able to continue to achieve 
or surpass our targets.

Our performance
In 2006-2007, we surpassed all of our six
headline performance indicators, the key
measures of the Board’s operational
performance. Two of these were more
stretching than in 2006-2007. 

We also achieved all except one of our 
48 individual and corporate targets. This
performance was against a number of
tougher targets compared to the previous
year. For example, we reduced the time target
for dealing with summary criminal applications
by one day to 10 days, and reduced the time
to deal with initial civil legal aid applications
from 42 to 37 days, whilst raising the target 
to be achieved from 90% to 92%.

Review of targets
In 2006, we established a project to review
our performance indicators. We produced a
research report on performance indicators
and wrote to our stakeholders asking for their
views on our targets and performance. We
also conducted a telephone survey of
applicants to collect information on their
views of our service and timescales. 

The feedback we received from stakeholders
was that our performance was good and that
our standards met their requirements.
Applicants’ feedback was also good and
showed they were happy with our service
standards and our commitment to timeliness
and accuracy. 

Following the feedback we set new tougher
standards for 2007-2008. 

Advice and 
assistance accounts

99%96%

Criminal and 
children’s accounts

99%97%

Civil accounts

99%97%

Advice and assistance
applications

98%97%

Criminal and children’s
legal aid applications

100%99%

Civil legal aid
applications

98%
94%

Headline performance against target 2006-2007

Target

Performance

Targets and outcomes are rounded to the nearest percentage.
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Corporate developments
This section covers other developments
to improve the legal aid system.

Legal Aid Online Page 35

Value for money Page 35

Other developments Page 37
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Legal Aid Online
Legal Aid Online is a service that allows
solicitors to submit applications and
accounts through the internet. It saves time,
improves firms’ cash flow, allows firms to 
be more efficient and provide a better service
for clients. 

We began developing our Legal Aid Online
service with advice and assistance. We
moved from the pilot stage to full roll-out and
in 2006-2007, almost 200 solicitor firms 
used Legal Aid Online. Over 38,000 advice
and assistance grants were made through 
our online service, a four fold increase on
2005-2006. Over one in seven advice and
assistance grants were made using our online
service, and we expect further increases in
the year ahead.

We held workshops and feedback sessions
with Legal Aid Online users to help us improve
the system. We created a self-service package
to allow firms to use Legal Aid Online or
offered them on-site training, where required. 

We piloted Civil Legal Aid Online with a
number of firms and this will be rolled out 
in 2007-2008.

Value for money
Efficient Government
The Board worked closely with the Scottish
Executive to develop a programme of legal
aid legislative and regulatory changes to
meet the Scottish Executive’s Efficient
Government legal aid savings targets. These
changes, together with improvements to the
operation of the justice system, helped to
deliver the legal aid savings target of 
£9 million for 2006-2007. This built on the
savings in 2005-2006 of £5.7 million.

Modernising Government
We are also committed to the Scottish
Government’s Modernising Government
initiative. As well as introducing Legal Aid
Online, we introduced electronic case
management and document management
systems. These new systems support our
commitment to accuracy and timeliness of
decision making and allow us to reduce
administrative and processing staff. 

We intend to continue to identify the scope
for further savings and efficiency gains in 
the administration budget. We are currently
developing projects aimed at delivering such
savings. These include: simplification of civil
legal assistance; investigation of opportunities
for joint working with other organisations on
IT and procurement; integration of the Board’s
registration functions and introduction of
scanning of legal aid forms; and improved
environmental management of water 
and power.



Administration costs
The cost of running the Board in 2006-2007
was £12.7 million, a 4% increase on 2005-
2006. This includes the cost of staff and
accommodation, capital expenditure, funding
the civil legal assistance peer review quality
assurance scheme and the cost of our
innovative Part V legal advice projects.

The cost of the Board’s administration 
is met by the Scottish Government and is
cash limited.

Staff numbers 
We continue to manage significant changes
to our workforce composition without
impacting on service delivery. We have
restructured our applications and legal
services departments to provide more
dedicated specialist staff within civil,
children’s and criminal legal assistance, thus
improving consistency and decision making.
We have continued to reduce the number of
administrative staff in the light of more online
applications and as new computer systems
deliver efficiencies. 

The Scottish Government provided extra
funds for new staff to take forward our new
responsibilities arising from the Legal
Profession and Legal Aid (Scotland) Act, the
reforms of advice provision and changes to
civil and criminal legal assistance. 

Minimising fraud and abuse of legal aid
One of our roles is to minimise fraud and
abuse of legal aid and this is something we
take very seriously. In 2006-2007, we
invested in additional resources in our
checking, monitoring and investigations
work. This has resulted in us identifying more
instances of fraud or abuse by a minority of
solicitors and applicants.

When we assess legal aid applications and
accounts, we rely on the information
solicitors and applicants give us. In advice
and assistance, the solicitor grants advice
and assistance, when satisfied that the
applicant is financially eligible. An important
part of the checking is to seek verification of
this information from applicants, solicitors
and third-parties such as the courts,
Department for Work and Pensions, HM
Revenue and Customs, banks and others. 
We also analyse trends in our business, by
comparing solicitors’ legal aid costs and
patterns of legal aid business.

We have investigation teams who deal with
either solicitor or applicant investigations.
During 2006-2007, as a result of our
compliance and investigation work we:
• terminated or refused legal aid in 227

cases as a result of investigations into
applicants’ financial circumstances

• reported 30 individuals to the procurator
fiscal as a result of which the courts
imposed community service orders, fines
and compensation orders 

• made complaints about two solicitors 
to the Law Society of Scotland

• de-registered two firms and two solicitors
from the Criminal Legal Assistance
Register

• made savings and recoveries as a result 
of applicant and solicitor investigations
activities in excess of £2.1 million.

36

Corporate developments
continued



To ensure that the correct financial information
is provided, we have revised the advice and
assistance application forms and given
solicitors more guidance on seeking financial
verification. We can also now recover costs
where applicants for legal aid do not co-
operate with our requests for information.

During 2004-2005, following the successful
enhancement of our reporting and analysis
capability, Board investigations revealed that
a solicitor had fabricated documents to
fraudulently obtain £1.8 million over a seven
year period. We urgently undertook a review
to ensure that the case was an isolated one,
and fortified our controls to minimise the risk
of a reoccurrence. We reported the matter to
the police, but no action could be taken
following the death of the solicitor. 

We have worked with the Scottish Ministers’
Civil Recovery Unit to recover the loss. 
A binding agreement has been signed by all
parties that will effect recovery, with no loss
to public funds. All monies due are expected
to be paid by the no later than the end of
January 2008.

Other developments
Freedom of Information
The Freedom of Information (Scotland) 
Act 2002 encourages openness and
accountability in the public sector. 
The Board, as a public body, complies 
with the provisions in the Act. We received 
67 requests for information, compared to 
80 requests the previous year. 

Of the 65 requests we dealt with, we provided
the information free of charge in 40 cases. 
We did not hold the information in five cases,
part provided/part refused the information 
in five cases and issued fees notices in three
cases. We refused the information in 12 cases
on the basis of the exemptions under the
Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act, two of
them because the projected cost was over
the prescribed amount of £600.

Two appeals were made to the Scottish
Information Commissioner. We await the
Commissioner’s decision on these.

Complaints
We encourage people to send us their views
about our service. Their input allows us to
improve our services. 

Last year we received 108 formal complaints,
a reduction of 42 on the previous year. Of the
complaints that we completed dealing with
this year, we considered 25% to be justified,
compared with 36% the previous year. 

Disability Equality Scheme
We are committed to developing and
promoting equality of opportunity for all.
We published the Board’s Disability Equality
Scheme in December 2006.

The Board as an organisation
We continued to invest in our IT systems. 
As part of the improvements to our computer
systems, we are introducing wider use of
document management technology including
scanning and intelligent forms processing.
This will help us to deal with applications
more quickly.

We also enhanced our project and
programme management capabilities.

Risk Management
We have a well developed risk management
system under which all areas of the Board
identify key risks and seek ways to minimise
these. Under our risk management system,
there are regular reports to our senior
management team, quarterly reports to our
Audit Committee, and an annual report to 
the Board. Further information on our risk
management system is provided on page 91.

Developing staff
We believe it is important to equip our staff
with knowledge and understanding of the
justice system in which legal aid plays a key
part, to allow us to deliver an improved
service. We are a Learndirect Scotland
learning centre and we are committed to
encouraging staff to continue their
development as paralegals, solicitors 
and other professionals.
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Board Members and Executive Team

1 2 3

4 5 6

7 8 9

10 11 12

13 14 15

The Board are appointed by Scottish Ministers. The
number of members can vary from 11 to 15. To give a
balanced range of knowledge and experience, they
include people with backgrounds in business, the
advice sector and the wider community, as well as
solicitors, advocates and a person with knowledge 
of courts procedure and practice.

We keep a register of Board Members’ interests in
line with the Code of Best Practice for Board Members
of Public Bodies. Members must tell us all relevant
interests and we update the register every quarter.
You can read the register, and more about the work 
of Board Members, on our website www.slab.org.uk

Board Members
1. Iain A. Robertson CBE, Chairman
Appointed 1 April 2006
Iain Robertson was chief executive of Highlands and
Islands Enterprise (HIE) from 1990 to 2000 having
previously spent 15 years with BP, latterly as director
of acquisitions and divestitures in the USA. 

Mr Robertson is a member of the Accounts
Commission and an independent member of the
Department for Business, Enterprise and Regulatory
Reform (BERR) Legal Services Group Board. He is also
chair of the Coal Liabilities Strategy Board at BERR.

2. Graham Bell QC
Appointed 1 April 2006
Graham Bell has been a member of the Scottish Bar
since 1980 and a Queen’s Counsel since 1991. He is
currently a member of the Scottish Criminal Cases
Review Commission and a legal panel member for
Mental Health Tribunal Scotland. 

3. Les Campbell 
Appointed 1 September 2006
Les Campbell is a Chartered Accountant and 
is currently Finance Director at Student Loans
Company Ltd. Before joining Student Loans Company,
he was Director of Finance and Corporate Services at
Glasgow Housing Association and prior to that he
spent over 25 years in a variety of financial roles 
in the private sector. He is also a Board Member 
at the charity Quarriers.

4. William Gallagher 
Appointed 1 April 2000
Willie Gallagher holds a number of directorships 
in both private and public sectors. He is Executive
Chairman of Transport Initiatives Edinburgh and 
a director of Touchdown Services and Lothian 
Buses plc. He is a Chartered Engineer and was
previously Director of Customer Services for the
ScottishPower group.

Board members
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5. Joseph Hughes 
Appointed 1 September 2006
Joseph Hughes qualified as a solicitor in 1984 and set
up his own practice in 1986 specialising in criminal
court work. He is currently a Senior Partner operating
five offices. He is a criminal solicitor advocate and
member of the Centre for Crime and Justice Studies at
King’s College, London. He also holds a number of
tribunal and voluntary sector posts, including a
director of Turning Point Scotland and Vice-Chair 
of the Scottish Committee of NCH Scotland.

6. Denise Loney 
Appointed 1 January 2007
Denise Loney qualified as a solicitor in 1987 and 
has held a variety of positions in private practice 
from trainee to partner. Her area of expertise is civil
litigation and she is currently a Partner in Semple
Fraser LLP, in Glasgow. 

7. Paul McBride QC
Appointed 1 April 2006
Paul McBride joined the Bar in 1988 and became 
a Queen’s Counsel in 2000. He is currently Vice
Chairman of the Faculty of Advocates criminal bar
association and has served as an Advocate Depute. 

8. Susan McPhee
Appointed 1 January 2005
Susan McPhee has been the Head of Social Policy
and Public Affairs with Citizens Advice Scotland since
1998. Before this, she was legal services adviser with
Citizens Advice Scotland, having previously been 
a solicitor in private practice from 1981 to 1990. 

9. Ellen Morton 
Appointed 1 December 2002
An elected local councillor for Argyll and Bute since
1999, Ellen Morton is a part-time member of the
Asylum and Immigration Tribunal. Mrs Morton’s
experience includes thirty years in various teaching
posts, and managing a business. 

10. David Nicol 
Appointed 1 April 2002
David Nicol is a solicitor and partner with Allan
McDougall Solicitors, Edinburgh. He has been 
a legal adviser at a legal clinic run by a voluntary
organisation for over 10 years and is a Director 
of Family Mediation Lothian. 

11. Professor Mahendra Raj
Appointed 1 September 2007
Professor Raj has been Professor of Finance at Robert
Gordon University since 1996. He has held several
public and voluntary appointments. Professor Raj
resigned as a Board Member from 1 August 2007.

12. Elaine Rosie 
Appointed 1 January 2005
Elaine Rosie has been the Training and Development
Manager with Shelter Scotland since 2000, 
with responsibility for training and the Scottish
Homelessness Advisory Service. Before this, she 
was the Depute Director of Shelter Scotland for eight
years, with responsibility for managing all Shelter’s
advice and legal services provision in Scotland. 

13. Sheriff Kenneth Ross 
Appointed 1 April 2004
Sheriff Ross has been a sheriff in Dumfries since
2000. He has previously served as a sheriff in
Linlithgow for three years and as a temporary sheriff
for 10 years. Before becoming a sheriff, he was a
solicitor for 23 years. He is a former President of 
the Law Society of Scotland. 

14. Margaret Scanlan OBE
Appointed 1 September 1997
Margaret Scanlan has been a solicitor in private
practice for over 30 years. An accredited specialist in
family law, she is a founder member and past Chair 
of the Family Law Association. Margaret retired from 
the Board in March 2007.

15. Graham Watson 
Appointed 1 April 2006
Graham Watson retired from the Royal Air Force 
in 2003 as a Group Captain after 31 years service. 
He is currently a member of Fife NHS Board where 
he is Chair of the Audit Committee. He has over 
30 years of senior management experience in a 
wide range of appointments. 

Executive Team
a. Lindsay Montgomery
Chief Executive
Lindsay joined the Board in July 1999. He previously
worked in public bodies including SNH and HM
Treasury. He is responsible to the Board for the
organisation’s performance and management 
of activities.

b. Colin Lancaster 
Director of Policy and Development 
Colin joined the Board in June 1997 and was
appointed Director in 2007. Colin has a legal
background and is responsible for policy development,
research, analysis and management information.

c. Andrew Menzies
Director of Corporate Services and Accounts 
Andrew joined the Board in March 2003. He has
extensive public sector experience in financial roles.
He is responsible for the Board’s finance, accounts,
IS, HR and facilities services.

d. Ian Middleton
Director of Audit and Compliance 
Ian joined the Board in 1987. He is responsible for
internal audit, compliance audits, solicitor and
application investigations and the Board’s
Independent Checking and Quality Unit.

e. Tom Murray
Director of Legal Services and Applications
Tom is a solicitor who has worked at the Board since
May 1986. He previously worked in private practice.
Tom is responsible for all legal services and
applications areas, which include decision making 
on civil, criminal and children’s legal aid cases.

Executive Team
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1.1 Initial applications for legal assistance

1997-1998 1998-1999 1999-2000 2000-2001 2001-2002 2002-2003 2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

Total civil advice and assistance
and ABWOR 168,422 166,236 168,233 166,988 160,391 150,911 138,258 128,944 117,601 107,970 
Total criminal advice and assistance 
and ABWOR 153,030 144,951 150,847 162,424 164,888 159,363 159,033 152,174 145,208 144,019 
Children’s advice and assistance – – – – 6,611 6,768 5,728 5,687 5,681 5,868 
Total advice and assistance intimations 321,452 311,187 319,080 329,412 331,890 317,042 303,019 286,805 268,490 257,857

Civil legal aid initial applications 26,043 23,890 23,106 21,018 19,994 19,151 18,175 16,997 16,859 16,291

Applications to the Board for
summary criminal legal aid 68,434 64,156 64,818 69,137 76,527 79,927 82,999 86,269 85,916 89,984

NOTE
1. Before 2001-2002 children’s advice and assistance intimations were included with criminal advice and assistance.
2. From 1995-1999 grants of ABWOR were only recorded in total and not recorded as being civil or criminal grants. The figures stated for 1995-1999 are estimated as 8%

of all ABWOR grants for civil matters, and 92% for criminal. This is based on the proportions for ABWOR in 1999-2000 which recorded civil and criminal separately.

Appendix 1
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1.2 Grants of legal assistance

1997-1998 1998-1999 1999-2000 2000-2001 2001-2002 2002-2003 2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

Civil legal assistance

Civil advice and assistance 166,589 164,399 166,425 164,177 156,358 146,639 134,143 125,029 114,285 104,416
Civil ABWOR (note 1) 1,833 1,837 1,808 2,811 4,033 4,272 4,115 3,915 3,316 3,554
Civil advice and assistance and ABWOR 168,422 166,236 168,233 166,988 160,391 150,911 138,258 128,944 117,601 107,970
Civil legal aid 17,405 15,661 14,551 13,557 11,167 13,480 12,322 10,989 10,982 11,323
Total civil legal assistance 185,827 181,897 182,784 180,545 171,558 164,391 150,580 139,933 128,583 119,293

Criminal legal assistance

Criminal advice and assistance (note 2) 131,945 123,829 128,805 140,058 142,400 137,732 136,102 131,521 125,257 125,027
Criminal ABWOR (note 1) 21,085 21,122 22,042 22,366 22,488 21,631 22,931 20,653 19,951 18,992
Total criminal advice and assistance
and ABWOR 153,030 144,951 150,847 162,424 164,888 159,363 159,033 152,174 145,208 144,019
Summary criminal legal aid:
Board granted 59,644 58,534 59,188 62,801 70,832 73,767 75,414 79,343 78,677 81,146
Court granted 2,716 3,157 1,472 860 1,017 1,170 1,142 1,153 1,374 1,540
Total summary criminal 62,360 61,691 60,660 63,661 71,849 74,937 76,556 80,496 80,051 82,686
Solemn criminal legal aid (court granted) 8,906 9,431 9,233 9,471 9,966 10,978 11,399 10,967 11,811 13,898
Automatic legal aid – – – – – 144 193 539 1,007 1,110
Appeals 3,012 2,788 3,228 3,242 3,002 2,776 2,629 2,551 2,453 2,134
Duty solicitor appearances, including PDSO
(note 3) 26,337 27,397 25,104 23,885 22,141 26,491 31,163 32,843 32,210 34,713
Total criminal legal assistance 253,645 246,258 249,072 262,683 271,846 274,689 280,973 279,570 272,740 278,560

Children’s legal assistance

Children’s advice and assistance (note 2) – – – – 6,611 6,768 5,728 5,687 5,681 5,868
Children’s legal aid including appeals 2,586 2,511 2,833 2,841 2,853 3,118 3,654 3,668 3,986 4,461
Total children’s legal assistance 2,586 2,511 2,833 2,841 9,464 9,886 9,382 9,355 9,667 10,329

Contempt of court

Contempt of court legal aid (note 4) 165 162 167 165 148 239 206 227 300 472
Total grants of legal assistance 442,223 430,828 434,856 446,234 453,016 449,205 441,141 429,085 411,290 408,654

Note 

1. From 1995-1999 grants of ABWOR were only recorded in total and not recorded as being civil or criminal grants. The figures stated for 1995-1999 are estimated as 8%
of all ABWOR grants for civil matters, and 92% for criminal. This is based on the proportions for ABWOR in 1999-2000 which recorded civil and criminal separately.

2. Before 2001-2002 children’s advice and assistance intimations were included within criminal advice and assistance.
3. Duty work undertaken by PDSO is included in the total duty solicitor appearances from 2002-2003.
4. Advice and assistance for contempt of court is included within criminal advice and assistance.

Throughout these appendices

– figures for grants and refusals of applications do not necessarily equal numbers of applications, since decisions on applications received towards the end of one
year may not be reached until the following year

– unless otherwise stated, figures for accounts paid include VAT and are prepared on a cash basis and include all accounts passed for payment during the year
– in tables showing accounts paid, unless otherwise stated, outlays include all payments other than fees paid to solicitors and advocates – for example, 

expert witnesses
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1.3 Total payments for administration and Legal Aid Fund

1997-1998 1998-1999 1999-2000 2000-2001 2001-2002 2002-2003 2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Grant-In-Aid 7,718 7,564 8,533 9,116 9,513 10,475 10,910 11,258 12,258 12,696

Legal Aid Fund (gross expenditure) 145,066 138,125 130,157 130,470 135,884 144,835 157,281 164,621 158,655 161,866
Less civil legal assistance income received 8,992 9,448 9,967 9,280 8,540 9,668 11,350 12,203 10,804 11,668
Total net legal aid expenditure 136,074 128,677 120,190 121,190 127,344 135,167 145,931 152,418 147,851 150,198

1.4 Total cost to the taxpayer of legal assistance

1997-1998 1998-1999 1999-2000 2000-2001 2001-2002 2002-2003 2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Civil legal assistance

Civil advice and assistance 16,984 18,315 18,133 18,648 17,810 18,856 18,925 18,664 18,174 17,304
Civil ABWOR (note 1) 341 370 370 472 1,006 1,865 2,546 2,636 2,532 1,912
Total civil advice and assistance and ABWOR 17,325 18,685 18,503 19,120 18,816 20,721 21,472 21,299 20,706 19,216
Civil legal aid gross expenditure 34,311 32,093 30,246 28,755 28,347 27,071 29,994 30,821 29,627 31,428
Less civil legal assistance income received 8,992 9,448 9,967 9,280 8,540 9,668 11,350 12,203 10,804 11,668
Civil legal aid (net cost) 25,319 22,645 20,279 19,475 19,807 17,403 18,644 18,618 18,823 19,760
Total civil legal assistance 42,644 41,330 38,782 38,595 38,623 38,124 40,116 39,917 39,530 38,976

Criminal legal assistance

Criminal advice and assistance (note 2,3) 7,583 7,504 7,512 8,281 8,583 8,880 9,012 8,989 8,088 8,132
Criminal ABWOR (note 1) 2,097 2,271 2,272 2,798 2,880 3,361 3,444 3,940 3,730 3,724
Total criminal advice and assistance 
and ABWOR 9,680 9,775 9,784 11,079 11,463 12,241 12,456 12,929 11,818 11,856
Summary criminal legal aid, 
including automatic legal aid 52,667 48,589 44,927 40,407 42,016 46,056 48,859 50,990 50,320 52,134
Solemn criminal legal aid (court granted) 26,761 24,333 21,893 25,196 28,737 31,052 37,457 39,174 36,147 37,254
Appeals 1,723 1,555 1,748 2,146 2,460 2,410 2,413 4,141 3,888 3,310
Total criminal legal aid 81,151 74,477 68,568 67,749 73,213 79,518 88,729 94,306 90,355 92,698
Duty solicitor appearances 904 943 870 835 813 878 945 969 1,031 1,203
Public Defence Solicitors’ Office (PDSO) 25 405 430 390 357 344 376 827 793 864
Total criminal legal assistance 91,760 85,600 79,652 80,053 85,846 92,981 102,506 109,031 103,997 106,622

Children’s legal assistance

Children’s advice and assistance (note 2) – – – – – 595 426 455 457 458
Legal aid for children 1,639 1,719 1,725 2,501 2,827 3,357 2,733 2,906 3,759 3,980
Total children’s legal assistance 1,639 1,719 1,725 2,501 2,827 3,952 3,159 3,361 4,216 4,439

Other

Contempt of court (note 3) 31 28 31 41 40 59 87 67 77 102
Miscellaneous payments 0 0 0 0 8 51 63 42 31 60
Total cost of legal assistance to the taxpayer 136,074 128,677 120,190 121,190 127,344 135,167 145,931 152,418 147,851 150,198

NOTE
1. From 1995-2000 accounts paid for ABWOR were only recorded in total and not recorded as being civil or criminal ABWOR matters. The figures stated for 1995-2000

are estimated as 14% of all ABWOR payments for civil matters, and 86% for criminal. This is based on the proportions for ABWOR in 2000-2001 which recorded civil
and criminal separately.

2. Before 2002-2003 children’s advice and assistance intimations were included within criminal advice and assistance.
3. Advice and assistance for contempt of court is included within criminal advice and assistance.
4. Expenditure for miscellaneous payments from 2001-2006 and PDSO expenditure in 2001-2003 are restated.

Appendix 1 continued
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1.5 Average case costs
1997-1998 1998-1999 1999-2000 2000-2001 2001-2002 2002-2003 2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Civil legal assistance

Advice and assistance 127 130 129 133 141 148 157 166 174 186
ABWOR – – – 488 438 536 660 707 698 694
Civil legal aid 1,685 1,764 1,918 2,005 2,197 2,257 2,358 2,515 2,561 2,643

Criminal legal assistance

Advice and assistance 62 63 62 63 67 69 69 69 68 69
ABWOR – – – 181 151 187 180 205 211 225
Summary criminal legal aid 845 820 832 652 639 649 649 646 645 645
Solemn criminal legal aid (including appeals) 2,143 2,428 2,729 2,137 2,537 2,751 3,146 3,072 2,799 2,961

Children’s legal assistance

Advice and assistance – – – – 100 99 86 91 90 89
Children’s legal aid 876 878 909 1,053 1,359 1,455 1,069 1,003 1,120 1,126

Contempt legal aid

Contempt of court legal aid 237 286 193 268 302 302 474 370 340 295

NOTE
1. Before 2001-2002 children’s advice and assistance was included within criminal advice and assistance.
2. From 1995-1999 grants of ABWOR were only recorded in total and not recorded as being civil or criminal grants. The figures stated for 1995-1999 are estimated as 8%

of all ABWOR grants for civil matters, and 92% for criminal. This is based on the proportions for ABWOR in 1999-2000 which recorded civil and criminal separately.

Throughout these appendices

– figures for grants and refusals of applications do not necessarily equal numbers of applications, since decisions on applications received towards the end of one
year may not be reached until the following year

– unless otherwise stated, figures for accounts paid include VAT and are prepared on a cash basis and include all accounts passed for payment during the year
– in tables showing accounts paid, unless otherwise stated, outlays include all payments other than fees paid to solicitors and advocates – for example, 

expert witnesses



46

Key statistics 1997-2007 continued

1.6 Payments made
1997-1998 1998-1999 1999-2000 2000-2001 2001-2002 2002-2003 2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Total legal assistance payments made 

Advocates 9,007 8,920 7,404 9,935 11,003 11,944 15,446 16,317 16,135 17,972
Solicitor Advocates 401 553 478 708 1,236 1,598 2,408 2,456 2,209 2,779
Counsel (advocates and solicitor advocates) 9,408 9,473 7,882 10,643 12,239 13,542 17,854 18,773 18,344 20,751
Solicitors 119,732 113,336 108,292 106,325 109,455 115,916 122,940 127,329 122,702 122,026
Outlays 15,900 14,911 13,553 13,112 13,824 14,981 16,047 17,650 16,785 18,165
Total 145,040 137,720 129,727 130,080 135,518 144,439 156,841 163,752 157,831 160,942

Civil legal aid payments made

Advocates 2,955 2,940 2,640 3,482 3,099 3,238 4,157 4,384 4,605 4,929
Solicitor Advocates 2 1 0 5 8 1 2 3 0 7
Counsel 2,957 2,941 2,640 3,487 3,107 3,239 4,159 4,387 4,605 4,936
Solicitors 23,150 21,541 19,963 17,925 17,603 16,306 17,962 17,793 17,025 16,704
Outlays 8,204 7,611 7,643 7,343 7,637 7,526 7,873 8,641 7,997 9,788
Total 34,311 32,093 30,246 28,755 28,347 27,071 29,994 30,821 29,627 31,428

Criminal legal aid payments made (excluding duty and contempt)

Advocates 5,894 5,850 4,639 6,150 7,186 7,813 10,714 11,501 10,390 12,100
Solicitor Advocates 398 551 477 700 1,222 1,592 2,400 2,448 2,201 2,761
Counsel 6,292 6,401 5,116 6,850 8,408 9,405 13,114 13,949 12,591 14,861
Solicitors 68,737 62,521 59,284 57,170 60,889 65,771 70,706 74,953 72,528 72,686
Outlays 6,121 5,555 4,168 3,729 3,916 4,341 4,909 5,404 5,236 5,151
Total 81,150 74,477 68,568 67,749 73,213 79,517 88,729 94,306 90,355 92,698

NOTE
1. Fees paid to solicitors, advocates and solicitor advocates includes VAT.
2. In this table payments made to counsel are the sum of amounts paid to advocates and solicitor advocates.

Appendix 1 continued
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2.1 Headline targets and performance
TARGET ACTUAL

2006-2007 2005-2006

Civil legal aid applications 94% 98% 87%/95%1

Criminal and children’s legal aid applications 99% 100% 99%
Advice and assistance applications 97% 98% 99%
Civil accounts 97% 99% 99%
Criminal and children’s accounts 97% 99% 99%
Advice and assistance accounts 96% 99% 99%

1. A new civil applications computer system was introduced in summer 2005. Performance figures are for the full year and from 1 September 2005 to 31 March 2006.

2.2 Civil legal aid applications
Weighting Target Actual

From
1 Sept
2005-

31 March 
Headline 2006-2007 2006-2007 2005-2006 20061

Timeliness 0.5 92% 96% 76% 92%
Accuracy 0.5 96% 99% 98% 98%
Headline 94% 98% 87% 95%

1. A new civil applications computer system was introduced in summer 2005. Performance figures are for the full year and from 1 September 2005 to 31 March 2006.

Standard Target Actual

From
1 Sept
2005-

Timeliness 31 March 
Percentage of applications actioned within service standard time 2006-2007 2006-2007 2005-2006 20061

Initial applications 37 days 92% 95% 70% 91%
Sanction to employ counsel, expert witnesses or incur unusual costs 12 days 92% 98% 78% 92%
Requests to change solicitor 12 days 90% 98% 84% 95%
Reviews of refusal of initial application 33 days 90% 93% 68% 87%
Requests to extend the scope of the case within 14 day intimation period 30 days 90% 94% 77% 92%
Requests to extend the scope of the case within 28 day intimation period 33 days 95% * – –
Special urgency cases 2 days 97% 99% 93% 97%
Special urgency cases received Friday-Sunday 4 days 97% 99% – –
All application types within standard 90% 96% 76% 92%

Accuracy Standard Target Actual

Percentage of decisions that are free of material errors 2006-2007 2006-2007 2005-2006

Initial applications error free 96% 98% 97%
Sanction to employ counsel, expert witnesses or incur unusual costs error free 96% 100% 99%
Requests to change solicitor error free 96% 100% 100%
Reviews of refusal of initial application error free 96% 99% 98%
Requests to extend the scope of the case within 14 day intimation period error free 96% 100% 99%
Requests to extend the scope of the case within 28 day intimation period error free 96% * –
Reassessments of financial eligibility error free 96% 97% 98%
Special urgency cases error free 96% 100% 100%
Special urgency cases received Friday-Sunday error free 96% 100% –
All application types error free 96% 99% 98%

NOTE
*No applications were received for this category for requests to extend the scope of the case.

Appendix 2
Targets and outcomes in this section are rounded to the nearest percentage.

Our performance
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2.3 Criminal and children’s legal aid applications

Weighting Target Actual

Headline 2006-2007 2006-2007 2005-2006

Timeliness 0.5 99% 100% 99%
Accuracy 0.5 98% 100% 99%
Headline 99% 100% 99%

Timeliness Standard Target Actual

Percentage of applications actioned within service standard time 2006-2007 2006-2007 2005-2006

Initial applications in summary cases 10 days 99% 100% 99%
Sanction to employ counsel, expert witnesses or incur unusual costs 7 days 99% 100% 99%
Requests to change solicitor 7 days 99% 100% 99%
Reviews of refusal of initial application 12 days 99% 100% 99%
Application to make an appeal in court (including children’s appeal) 7 days 99% 100% 99%
Requests to reconsider a decision by the Board 12 days 99% 100% 99%
Special urgency cases (summary first instance and appeals) 3 days 99% 100% 99%
Exceptional cases 10 days 99% 98% 99%
All application types within standard 99% 100% 99%

Accuracy Standard Target Actual

Percentage of decisions that are free of material errors 2006-2007 2006-2007 2005-2006

Initial applications in summary cases error free 98% 100% 99%
Sanction to employ counsel, expert witnesses or incur unusual costs error free 98% 100% 99%
Requests to change solicitor error free 98% 100% 99%
Reviews of refusal of initial application error free 98% 100% 99%
Application to make an appeal in court (including children’s appeal) error free 98% 100% 99%
Requests to reconsider a decision by the Board error free 98% 100% 99%
Special urgency cases (summary first instance and appeals) error free 98% 100% 99%
Exceptional cases error free 98% 100% 99%
All application types error free 98% 100% 99%

Appendix 2 continued



49

Scottish Legal Aid Board
Annual Report 2006-2007

2.4 Advice and assistance applications

Weighting Target Actual

Headline 2006-2007 2006-2007 2005-2006

Timeliness 0.5 96% 97% 98%
Accuracy 0.5 98% 99% 99%
Headline 97% 98% 99%

Timeliness Standard Target Actual

Percentage of applications actioned within service standard time 2006-2007 2006-2007 2005-2006

Registration of Intimations of grants of advice and assistance by a solicitor 10 days 97% 97% 98%
Requests for increase in authorised expenditure 7 days 94% 97% 97%
Requests for change of nominated solicitor1 10 days 95% 97% 93%
Requests to reconsider a decision by the Board 7 days 90% 94% 95%
All application types within standard 96% 97% 98%

1. This applies only to a change in the nominated solicitor where the case remains with the same firm of solicitors.

Accuracy Standard Target Actual

Percentage of decisions that are free of material errors 2006-2007 2006-2007 2005-2006

Registration of Intimations of grants of advice and assistance by a solicitor error free 98% 100% 99%
Requests for increase in authorised expenditure error free 98% 99% 99%
Requests for change of nominated solicitor error free 98% 100% 99%
Requests to reconsider a decision by the Board error free 98% 98% 97%
All application types error free 98% 99% 99%

2.5 Accounts

Standard Target Actual

Civil legal aid 2006-2007 2006-2007 2005-2006

Timeliness – percentage of accounts actioned within services standard time 30 days 97% 99% 99%
Accuracy – percentage of accounts that are error free of material errors error free 96% 98% 98%
Headline 97% 99% 99%

Standard Target Actual

Criminal and children’s legal aid 2006-2007 2006-2007 2005-2006

Timeliness – percentage of accounts actioned within services standard time 30 days 97% 99% 99%
Accuracy – percentage of accounts that are error free of material errors error free 97% 99% 99%
Headline 97% 99% 99%

Standard Target Actual

Advice and assistance 2006-2007 2006-2007 2005-2006

Timeliness – percentage of accounts actioned within services standard time 30 days 95% 99% 99%
Accuracy – percentage of accounts that are error free of material errors error free 96% 99% 99%
Headline 96% 99% 99%

2.6 Corporate targets
Standard Target Actual

2006-2007 2006-2007 2005-2006

Complaints handling 28 days – 90% 83%
Freedom of information 20 working days – 92% 98%
Payment for goods and services1 30 days 98% 99% 98%
Collection of contributions Percentage due 90% 93% 94%

1. This excludes solicitors and advocates providing legal aid services.
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2.7 Headline targets and performance 2002-2007

Headline target 2002-2003 2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

Civil legal aid applications 89% 90% 92% 93% 94%

Criminal and children’s legal aid applications 94% 95% 99% 99% 99%

Advice and assistance applications 94% 95% 96% 97% 97%

Civil accounts 90% 91% 95% 96% 97%

Criminal and children’s accounts 95% 96% 97% 97% 97%

Advice and assistance accounts 94% 95% 96% 96% 96%

Headline performance 2002-2003 2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

Civil legal aid applications 90% 93% 93% 87%/95% 98%

Criminal and children’s legal aid applications 99% 99% 99% 99% 100%

Advice and assistance applications 97% 98% 99% 99% 98%

Civil accounts 98% 98% 98% 99% 99%

Criminal and children’s accounts 98% 99% 99% 99% 99%

Advice and assistance accounts 98% 98% 99% 99% 99%

2.8 Notes and definitions

Targets and outcomes are rounded to the nearest percentage. This means where performance is shown as 100% a small number of cases may not have achieved the
standard. The targets for all application types such as timeliness, are calculated in proportion to the volumes of each individual legal aid type that the Board receives 
and the target set for that type. They are not calculated using a simple arithmetic average. 

Applications: 

‘Actioned within service standard’ is measured from the date of receipt until the date of final decision, excluding any periods where the application has been 
continued for further information. In the case of an intimation of a grant of advice and assistance, the service standard is met when the Board issues to the 
solicitor an acknowledgement of the grant.

A final decision on an application is considered to have been taken if we have intimated any of the following: 
(a) a decision to grant legal aid 
(b) a decision to refuse legal aid 
(c) a decision to abandon the application

All timeliness targets are in calendar days and exclude public holidays. Where we do not meet our standard, we aim to contact the applicant and/or solicitor within
three days to provide a decision or a status update with an indication of when a decision will be made.

Accounts: 

All timeliness standards are in calendar days, and exclude public holidays. Performance targets are a percentage of the number of accounts actioned within 
30 calendar days (excluding public holidays). The 30 day period begins on the day the account is received by the Board when this is before 12 noon. For accounts
received after 12 noon, the 30 day period will begin from the next business day. It ends when: a payment is processed to BACS, a letter seeking further information 
is issued, or an offer is made. This applies to properly prepared and vouched accounts. 

Civil and criminal accounts are actioned by way of an offer letter or a request for further information. Where an offer can be made, payment will be made at the time 
of the offer. Advice and assistance accounts are actioned by way of payment or issuing a letter about abatements or requesting further information. No payments on
offer can be made.

Appendix 2 continued
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3.1 Total grants of civil legal assistance

2006-2007 2005-2006

Civil advice and assistance 104,416 114,285
Civil ABWOR 3,554 3,316
Total civil advice and assistance and ABWOR 107,970 117,601
Civil legal aid 11,323 10,982
Total civil legal assistance 119,293 128,583

3.2 Total net cost to the taxpayer of providing civil legal assistance

2006-2007 2005-2006
£000 £000

Civil advice and assistance 17,304 18,174
Civil ABWOR 1,912 2,532
Total civil advice and assistance and ABWOR 19,216 20,706
Civil legal aid 19,760 18,823
Total civil legal assistance 38,976 39,530

3.3 Total net cost of civil legal assistance by type of case

Total Total
net cost net cost

2006-2007 2005-2006
£000 £000

Family/matrimonial 20,204 20,514
Debt 1,255 1,402
Reparation 4,917 3,788
Judicial review 506 720
Appeals 514 507
Recovery of heritable property 370 236
Other 11,210 12,362
Total net cost 38,976 39,530

NOTE
1. Table 7.1 provides more details on total expenditure and income received.

Appendix 3

Civil legal assistance
Key figures

Throughout these appendices

– figures for grants and refusals of applications do not necessarily equal numbers of applications, since decisions on applications received towards the end of one
year may not be reached until the following year

– unless otherwise stated, figures for accounts paid include VAT and are prepared on a cash basis and include all accounts passed for payment during the year
– in tables showing accounts paid, unless otherwise stated, outlays include all payments other than fees paid to solicitors and advocates – for example, 

expert witnesses
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3.4 Intimations of civil advice and assistance and ABWOR by subject matter

Subject matter 2006-2007 2005-2006

Civil advice and assistance

Divorce 9,444 10,028
Separation 5,784 6,426
Other family/matrimonial 4,158 4,647
Contact 10,455 10,632
Residence 2,371 2,331
Aliment/Child Support Agency 1,071 1,217
Hire purchase/debt 9,632 11,088
Housing 8,035 9,103
Recovery of heritable property 922 988
Reparation 7,943 9,996
Breach of contract 388 508
Employment 2,099 2,592
State benefit 7,895 7,602
Interdict/harassment/non-harassment 6,190 7,262
Anti Social Behaviour Order 393 315
Immigration 6,383 6,477
Human rights 162 386
Criminal Injuries Compensation Agency 2,262 2,799
Wills/executry 2,633 2,979
Mental health 1,358 1,160
Complaints against professional bodies 1,723 2,209
Judicial review 815 527
Conveyancing 187 247
Power of attorney 563 544
Restoration of driving licence 50 255
Civil appeals 118 176
Other 11,382 11,791
Total civil advice and assistance 104,416 114,285

Civil ABWOR

Employment tribunals 138 111
Immigration 1,768 1,588
Mental health 1,408 1,149
Bankruptcy/petition by debtor 25 48
Sequestration 104 129
Restoration of driving licence 34 197
Other 77 94
Total civil ABWOR 3,554 3,316

Total civil advice and assistance and ABWOR 107,970 117,601

3.5 Intimations of civil advice and assistance and ABWOR by gender

Male applicant Female applicant Total

Civil advice and assistance 46,773 45% 57,643 55% 104,416
Civil ABWOR 2,371 67% 1,183 33% 3,554
Total 2006-2007 49,144 46% 58,826 54% 107,970

Total 2005-2006 54,328 46% 63,273 54% 117,601

Appendix 3 continued
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3.6 Increases in limit of authorised expenditure of civil advice and assistance and ABWOR

Applications for increase Increases granted Increases refused

2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

Civil advice and assistance 76,201 84,983 62,926 70,612 5,478 5,788
Civil ABWOR 5,543 5,080 4,732 4,191 124 187
Total 81,744 90,063 67,658 74,803 5,602 5,975

NOTE
1. Decisions in table 3.6 do not include decisions after reconsideration. These are reported separately in table 3.7.

3.7 Reconsideration of an application for an increase in limit of authorised expenditure

Applications for

reconsideration Increases granted Increases refused

2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

Civil advice and assistance 4,172 3,659 3,357 2,804 820 834
Civil ABWOR 158 147 139 116 21 29
Total 4,330 3,806 3,496 2,920 841 863

3.8 Disposal of applications under regulation 16(3) (Hardship Provisions) of the Advice and Assistance (Scotland) Regulations 1996 

Total

Applications Granted payments

£000

Client claimed 743 223 160
Solicitor claimed 252 200 150
Total 2006-2007 995 423 311

Total 2005-2006 1,244 520 336

Throughout these appendices

– figures for grants and refusals of applications do not necessarily equal numbers of applications, since decisions on applications received towards the end of one
year may not be reached until the following year

– unless otherwise stated, figures for accounts paid include VAT and are prepared on a cash basis and include all accounts passed for payment during the year
– in tables showing accounts paid, unless otherwise stated, outlays include all payments other than fees paid to solicitors and advocates – for example, 

expert witnesses
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3.9 Civil legal aid applications

Sheriff court Court of Session Other courts Total

Proceedings 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

Family/matrimonial 10,427 10,454 95 86 1 0 10,523 10,540
Debt 544 616 22 32 0 1 566 649
Reparation 1,745 2,417 306 324 0 2 2,051 2,743
Judicial review 0 0 420 538 0 3 420 541
Appeals 132 146 142 124 21 24 295 294
Recovery of heritable property 1,216 1,232 1 4 0 0 1,217 1,236
Other 1,027 630 184 218 8 8 1,219 856
Total 15,091 15,495 1,170 1,326 30 38 16,291 16,859

3.10 Civil legal aid grants (including grants on review)

Sheriff court Court of Session Other courts Total

Proceedings 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

Family/matrimonial 7,863 7,581 66 58 0 1 7,929 7,640
Debt 224 235 12 19 0 1 236 255
Reparation 1,061 1,469 196 220 0 0 1,257 1,689
Judicial review 0 0 221 176 0 2 221 178
Appeals 67 83 89 58 12 16 168 157
Recovery of heritable property 635 593 0 1 0 0 635 594
Other 769 374 103 91 5 4 877 469
Total 10,619 10,335 687 623 17 24 11,323 10,982

Grants with contribution 2,831 2,935
Grants with no contribution 8,492 8,047
Total 11,323 10,982

Average value of contribution, where payable £1,034 £994

NOTE
1. This table shows contributions payable at the grant of the civil legal aid application, or when granted on review.
2. The average value of contribution, where payable figure for 2005-2006 is restated.

3.11 Intimations of steps taken under Regulation 18(1)(a) and certificates granted under Regulation 18(1)(b) of the Civil Legal Aid
(Scotland) Regulations 2002 (legal aid in matters of special urgency)

2006-2007 2005-2006

Intimations under regulation 18(1)(a) 7,726 8,114
Certifications under regulation 18(1)(b) 1,220 1,678
Total 8,946 9,792

3.12 Analysis of full applications where legal aid was refused or abandoned at first instance

Refused on merits Refused on means Abandoned Total

Court 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

Court of Session 639 652 27 29 82 103 748 784
Sheriff court 3,650 4,157 584 444 1,876 1,224 6,110 5,825
Other courts 12 17 1 3 2 3 15 23
Total 4,301 4,826 612 476 1,960 1,330 6,873 6,632

NOTE
1. In this table and in tables 3.14 and 3.15, refused on merits includes applications refused on the basis of no probable cause, or unreasonableness, where the

proceedings are statutorily excluded from civil legal aid.

Appendix 3 continued
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3.13 Disposal of applications for review of decision to refuse legal aid

Applications
2006-2007 2005-2006

Received Allowed Refused Received Allowed Refused

Family/matrimonial 1,472 1,167 327 1,636 1,021 418
Debt 172 103 84 206 76 111
Reparation 747 428 356 932 487 400
Judicial review 161 68 101 167 64 86
Appeals 93 59 42 97 53 37
Recovery of heritable property 117 89 28 134 100 24
Other 266 184 80 177 100 76
Total 3,028 2,098 1,018 3,349 1,901 1,152

3.14 Applications for civil legal aid and decisions by gender

Male applicant Female applicant

2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

Applications 6,937 43% 7,337 44% 9,354 57% 9,522 56%
Total grants 4,487 40% 4,489 41% 6,836 60% 6,493 59%
Refused on merits 2,283 53% 2,436 50% 2,018 47% 2,390 50%
Refused on means 220 36% 187 39% 392 64% 289 61%
Abandoned 881 45% 631 47% 1,079 55% 699 53%

3.15 Applications for civil legal aid and decisions by pursuer/defender

2006-2007 2005-2006
Pursuer Defender Other Pursuer Defender Other

Applications 9,964 4,446 1,881 10,375 4,503 1,981
Total grants 7,414 2,664 1,245 7,374 2,512 1,096
Refused on merits 2,445 1,111 745 2,907 1,225 694
Refused on means 422 157 33 345 103 28
Abandoned 1,022 768 170 731 447 152

3.16 Analysis of contributions payable by assisted persons

£0 £1-£50 £51-£100 £101-£250 £251-£500 £501-£800 £801-£1,200 £1,201-£1,700 Over £1,700

Court of Session 564 4 2 4 15 23 23 31 21
Sheriff court 7,915 51 79 176 379 434 511 622 452
Other courts 13 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 1
Total 2006-2007 8,492 (75.0%) 55 (0.5%) 81 (0.7%) 180 (1.6%) 396 (3.5%) 457 (4.0%) 535 (4.7%) 653 (5.8%) 474 (4.2%)

Total 2005-2006 8,047 (73.3%) 45 (0.4%) 86 (0.8%) 261 (2.4%) 440 (4.0%) 480 (4.4%) 524 (4.8%) 611 (5.6%) 488 (4.4%)
Of those contributions, the breakdown between capital and income was as follows:
Capital contributions 1 0 1 0 4 5 5 18
Income contributions 55 81 180 398 460 537 661 450

NOTE
1. Included in the table are 25 cases, where both a capital and income contribution was payable.
2. This table show contributions payable at the grant of the civil legal aid application, or when granted on review.
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3.17 Sanctions in civil legal aid cases

Applications Applications Applications Applications

received granted refused abandoned

Expert witness/unusual expenditure 4,650 3,754 578 3
Counsel (advocates and solicitor advocates) 1,859 914 388 1
Total 2006-2007 6,509 4,668 966 4

Total 2005-2006 7,512 4,843 860 144

3.18 Applications for extensions of grants of civil legal aid

Applications Applications Applications

received granted refused

Family/matrimonial 876 641 79
Debt 15 9 0
Reparation 133 100 12
Judicial review 23 10 2
Appeals 6 7 0
Recovery of heritable property 8 5 0
Other 57 41 2
Total 2006-2007 1,118 813 95

Total 2005-2006 1,142 721 116

3.19 Applications for change of solicitor in civil legal cases

Applications Applications Applications

received granted refused

Total 2006-2007 1,009 946 24

Total 2005-2006 1,104 959 35
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3.20 Accounts paid and average case costs – civil advice and assistance and ABWOR

Minimum fee cases Detailed accounts

Total

number Total Total Average Average
Number Total Number Total of cases paid paid case cost case cost

Subject matter of cases paid of cases paid Solicitor Outlays 2006-2007 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £ £

Civil advice and assistance

(excluding ABWOR)

Divorce 461 13 8,266 2,015 1,917 97 8,727 2,027 2,064 232 219
Separation 273 7 4,712 1,415 1,344 71 4,985 1,422 1,458 285 266
Other family/matrimonial 429 12 3,659 820 759 61 4,088 832 827 204 197
Contact 720 21 8,740 1,705 1,672 33 9,460 1,725 1,645 182 171
Residence 123 3 1,968 488 478 10 2,091 491 465 235 214
Aliment/Child Support Agency 151 4 851 165 154 11 1,002 170 163 169 144
Hire purchase/debt 1,299 36 7,698 896 872 24 8,997 933 969 104 95
Housing 1,076 31 6,367 894 853 41 7,443 924 972 124 111
Recovery of heritable property 36 1 796 154 152 2 832 155 128 186 174
Reparation 504 14 6,490 1,840 1,278 562 6,994 1,854 2,089 265 244
Breach of contract 30 1 349 60 52 8 379 61 63 161 138
Employment 222 6 1,731 509 488 21 1,953 516 597 264 244
State benefit 1,229 34 5,106 797 653 144 6,335 830 899 131 129
Interdict/harassment/
non-harassment 898 26 5,498 852 838 14 6,396 878 904 137 125
Immigration 298 8 4,380 1,452 1,163 290 4,678 1,461 2,092 312 334
Human rights 22 0 195 37 33 5 217 38 39 175 135
Criminal Injuries 
Compensation Authority 192 5 1,818 223 204 19 2,010 228 248 113 104
Wills/executry 243 7 2,036 207 198 9 2,279 213 234 94 91
Mental health 28 1 1,092 1,059 779 280 1,120 1,060 783 947 1,000
Complaints about professional bodies 477 14 1,391 123 117 6 1,868 136 153 73 72
Judicial review 30 1 433 152 119 33 463 153 147 330 294
Conveyancing 26 1 122 24 21 3 148 25 23 169 129
Power of attorney 32 1 410 77 65 12 442 78 74 176 161
Restoration of driving licence 11 0 129 25 22 3 140 25 39 180 131
Civil appeals 11 0 117 47 30 17 128 47 37 366 221
Other 2,713 78 7,159 942 855 87 9,872 1,020 1,061 103 99
Total civil advice and assistance 11,534 326 81,513 16,978 15,115 1,863 93,047 17,304 18,174 186 174

Civil ABWOR

Employment tribunals 1 0 92 77 67 10 93 77 114 825 964
Immigration 17 0 1,341 830 699 130 1,358 830 1,507 611 791
Mental health 14 0 981 939 710 228 995 939 807 944 753
Bankruptcy/petition by debtor 1 0 35 3 3 0 36 3 3 90 78
Sequestration 15 0 72 6 5 1 87 6 10 72 75
Restoration of driving licence 5 0 113 26 21 4 118 26 69 218 251
Other 10 0 59 30 16 14 69 30 22 442 277
Total civil ABWOR 63 2 2,693 1,910 1,522 388 2,756 1,912 2,532 694 698

Total civil advice and assistance 

and ABWOR 2006-2007 11,597 328 84,206 18,888 16,637 2,251 95,803 19,216 – 201 –

Total civil advice and assistance
and ABWOR 2005-2006 14,682 412 93,108 20,295 17,631 2,664 107,790 – 20,706 – 192

NOTE
1. Where minimum fees are paid under ABWOR, this is because solicitors have intimated the case as ABWOR, but have either not proceeded with the case or dealt 

with it under advice and assistance.
2. In this table, payments to advocates and solicitor advocates are included under outlays, as regulation 17(1) of the Advice and Assistance (Scotland) Regulations 

1996 only provides for payment to the solicitor of fees and outlays.

Civil legal assistance expenditure
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3.21 Accounts paid and average case costs – civil legal aid

Average Average
Total Total cost cost

Solicitor Number paid paid per case per case
Solicitor Advocate advocate Outlays of cases 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

Proceedings £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £ £

Sheriff court

Family/matrimonial 9,762 743 0 5,236 7,855 15,740 15,610 2,004 2,042
Debt 345 61 0 51 363 457 491 1,259 1,283
Reparation 2,771 594 0 1,144 1,026 4,509 4,429 4,395 4,214
Appeals 120 89 0 36 120 245 198 2,043 2,024
Recovery of heritable property 242 14 0 11 789 268 183 339 322
Other 744 219 0 283 775 1,247 1,374 1,608 1,347
Total sheriff court 13,984 1,719 0 6,762 10,928 22,465 22,286 2,056 2,070

Court of Session

Family/matrimonial 168 239 0 193 70 599 523 8,564 7,265
Debt 97 148 0 55 29 299 64 10,322 7,070
Reparation 1,923 1,685 0 2,227 307 5,835 4,672 19,005 17,831
Judicial review 179 343 0 223 262 745 678 2,843 2,447
Appeals 73 245 7 78 87 403 438 4,633 8,255
Other 223 352 0 151 188 726 655 3,862 5,899
Total Court of Session 2,662 3,011 7 2,927 943 8,607 7,028 9,128 8,965

Total other courts 57 200 0 99 20 356 313 17,778 14,890

All courts

Family/matrimonial 9,929 981 0 5,429 7,925 16,340 16,133 2,062 2,091
Debt 442 208 0 106 392 756 555 1,929 1,416
Reparation 4,693 2,279 0 3,371 1,333 10,343 9,101 7,760 6,931
Judicial review 179 343 0 223 262 745 678 2,843 2,447
Appeals 194 334 7 114 207 648 636 3,132 4,211
Recovery of heritable property 242 14 0 11 789 268 183 339 322
Other 1,024 771 0 534 983 2,328 2,029 2,368 2,032
Total all courts 2006-2007 16,704 4,929 7 9,788 11,891 31,428 – 2,643 –

Total all courts 2005-2006 17,025 4,605 0 7,997 11,570 – 29,627 – 2,561

NOTE
1. Reparation cases include those paid in terms of the extra statutory concession and of regulation 3 (as amended) of the Civil Legal Aid (Scotland) (Fees) Regulations

1989, where the legal representatives have elected to opt for the party and party expenses recovered from the opponent.
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3.22 Amounts recovered by the Legal Aid Fund

2006-2007 2005-2006
£000 £000

Contributions from assisted persons 1,348 1,173
Expenses from opponents 8,795 8,740
Amounts awarded to assisted persons transferred to Legal Aid Fund 1,526 891
Total recoveries 11,668 10,804

NOTE
1. These are amounts actually received by the Board, not amounts due to it.
2. A breakdown of total amounts recovered is shown in the Analysis of Payments in table 7.1.

3.23 Accounts paid under special urgency (whereby in certain circumstances work carried out where legal aid is not subsequently
granted, is paid for out of the Legal Aid Fund)

Average
Solicitor Number Total cost per

Solicitor Advocate advocate Outlays of cases paid case
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £

Total 2006-2007 640 238 0 349 1,420 1,228 864

Total 2005-2006 539 208 0 206 1,787 953 533

NOTE
1. The amounts shown in this table are also included in the figures in table 3.22.
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4.1 Total grants of criminal legal assistance

2006-2007 2005-2006

Criminal advice and assistance and ABWOR 125,027 125,257
Criminal ABWOR 18,992 19,951
Total criminal advice and assistance and ABWOR 144,019 145,208
Summary criminal legal aid
– Board granted 81,146 78,677
– court granted 1,540 1,374
Total summary criminal 82,686 80,051
Solemn criminal legal aid (court granted) 13,898 11,811
Automatic legal aid (court granted) 1,110 1,007
Appeals 2,134 2,453
Duty solicitor appearances 34,713 32,210
Total criminal legal assistance 278,560 272,740

4.2 Total cost to the taxpayer of providing criminal legal assistance

2006-2007 2005-2006
£000 £000

Criminal advice and assistance 8,132 8,088
Criminal ABWOR 3,724 3,730
Total criminal advice and assistance and ABWOR 11,856 11,818
Summary criminal legal aid, including automatic legal aid 52,134 50,320
Solemn criminal legal aid (court granted) 37,254 36,147
Appeals 3,310 3,888
Total criminal legal aid including appeals 92,698 90,355
Duty solicitor appearances 1,203 1,031
Public Defence Solicitors’ Office 864 793
Total criminal legal assistance 106,622 103,997

4.3 Total cost of criminal legal assistance by type of case

2006-2007 2005-2006
£000 £000

Murder/attempted murder/culpable homicide 7,790 8,840
Assault 21,954 21,362
Theft/housebreaking/robbery 13,507 13,859
Road traffic offences 7,984 8,156
Offensive weapons/vandalism/breach of the peace 17,168 16,449
Drugs 12,978 11,471
Embezzlement/fraud 2,299 2,263
Sexual offences 4,658 4,335
Other (including contempt advice and assistance) 12,796 11,419
Appeals 3,422 4,020
Duty solicitor appearances 1,203 1,031
Public Defence Solicitors’ Office 864 793
Total criminal legal assistance 106,622 103,997

Appendix 4
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4.4 Intimations of criminal advice and assistance and ABWOR by subject matter

Subject matter 2006-2007 2005-2006

Criminal advice and assistance

Murder/attempted murder/culpable homicide 592 551
Assault 19,581 18,417
Theft/housebreaking/robbery 18,664 18,562
Road traffic 12,750 13,548
Offensive weapons/vandalism/breach of the peace 23,727 23,621
Drugs 7,906 7,644
Embezzlement/fraud 1,457 1,526
Sexual offences 1,025 1,032
Appeals 1,263 1,465
Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 6,675 6,293
Means enquiries/fines 12,803 14,631
Prison rules 1,328 1,885
Breach proceedings 1,787 1,798
Contempt of court 538 519
Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1,518 1,618
Criminal Law (Consolidation)(Scotland) Act 1,302 1,360
Other 12,111 10,787
Total criminal advice and assistance 125,027 125,257

Criminal ABWOR

Assault 1,006 1,045
Theft/housebreaking/robbery 1,831 1,983
Road traffic 3,967 4,702
Means enquiries/fines 2 0
Offensive weapons/vandalism/breach of the peace 1,865 2,066
Drugs 1,008 1,001
Embezzlement/fraud 191 246
Sexual offences 50 48
Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 909 1,041
Breach proceedings 5,157 5,317
Contempt of court 9 5
Civic Government (Scotland) Act 136 161
Criminal Law (Consolidation)(Scotland) Act 118 137
Other 2,743 2,199
Total criminal ABWOR 18,992 19,951

Total criminal advice and assistance and ABWOR 144,019 145,208

Criminal advice and assistance and ABWOR
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4.5 Intimations of criminal advice and assistance and ABWOR by gender

Male applicant Female applicant Total

Criminal advice and assistance 101,868 81% 23,159 19% 125,027
Criminal ABWOR 15,281 80% 3,711 20% 18,992
Total 2006-2007 117,149 81% 26,870 19% 144,019

Total 2005-2006 118,048 81% 27,160 19% 145,208

4.6 Increases in limit of authorised expenditure of criminal advice and assistance and ABWOR

Applications for increase Increases granted Increases refused

2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

Criminal advice and assistance 17,634 19,041 13,955 15,001 1,848 1,960
Criminal ABWOR 18,719 18,344 16,833 16,219 520 664
Total 36,353 37,385 30,788 31,220 2,368 2,624

NOTE
1. Decisions in table 4.6 do not include decisions after reconsideration. These are reported separately in table 4.7.

4.7 Reconsideration of an application for an increase in limit of authorised expenditure

Applications for reconsideration Increases granted Increases refused

2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

Criminal advice and assistance 1,228 1,210 662 654 574 548
Criminal ABWOR 445 404 357 311 100 89
Total 1,673 1,614 1,019 965 674 637
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4.8 Applications to the Board for summary criminal legal aid

District court Sheriff court Total

Offence 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

Assault 2,291 2,333 19,106 17,653 21,397 19,986
Theft/housebreaking/robbery 2,739 2,561 11,074 10,791 13,813 13,352
Road traffic offences 1,707 1,675 10,066 9,970 11,773 11,645
Offensive weapons/vandalism/breach of the peace 5,642 5,506 19,680 18,773 25,322 24,279
Drugs 1,216 1,116 6,516 6,417 7,732 7,533
Embezzlement/fraud 168 144 964 1,119 1,132 1,263
Sexual offences 16 3 318 258 334 261
Other 1,554 1,461 6,927 6,136 8,481 7,597
Total 15,333 14,799 74,651 71,117 89,984 85,916

NOTE
1. Sheriff court includes cases heard by stipendiary magistrates in the district court.

4.9 Grants by the Board of summary criminal legal aid

Granted at first instance Granted after review

District court Sheriff court District court Sheriff court Total

Offence 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

Assault 2,101 2,146 17,132 16,059 90 79 873 757 20,196 19,041
Theft/housebreaking/robbery 2,247 2,282 10,476 10,394 97 82 263 197 13,083 12,955
Road traffic offences 654 645 7,485 7,362 155 139 751 750 9,045 8,896
Offensive weapons/vandalism/
breach of the peace 4,001 4,084 17,913 17,329 353 396 752 721 23,019 22,530
Drugs 948 919 6,021 6,077 70 56 203 187 7,242 7,239
Embezzlement/fraud 110 110 881 1,044 4 10 37 47 1,032 1,211
Sexual offences 5 2 276 242 0 1 19 10 300 255
Other 732 696 6,103 5,467 115 126 279 261 7,229 6,550
Total 10,798 10,884 66,287 63,974 884 889 3,177 2,930 81,146 78,677

NOTE
1. Sheriff court includes cases heard by stipendiary magistrates in the district court.

4.10 Refusals of summary criminal legal aid at first instance by reason for refusal

District court Sheriff court Total

Reason 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

Not in the interests of justice 3,784 3,291 2,395 2,289 6,179 5,580
Means 225 236 1,929 1,882 2,154 2,118
Other rights and facilities 0 0 0 1 0 1
Non-timeous 0 1 2 0 2 1
Abandoned 10 14 85 105 95 119
Lack of information 484 462 3,497 2,959 3,981 3,421
Total 4,503 4,004 7,908 7,236 12,411 11,240

NOTE
1. Sheriff court includes cases heard by stipendiary magistrates in the district court.

Criminal legal aid
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4.11 Disposal of applications for review of decision to refuse summary criminal legal aid

2006-2007 2005-2006
Granted 4,061 3,819
Refused 3,560 3,170
Total 7,621 6,989

4.12 Grants of legal aid by the courts in summary proceedings under Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986 section 23(1)(b)

District court Sheriff court Total

Offence 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

Assault 2 1 155 148 157 149
Theft/housebreaking/robbery 19 19 301 295 320 314
Road traffic offences 6 1 198 197 204 198
Offensive weapons/vandalism/breach of the peace 7 1 304 248 311 249
Drugs 1 1 78 75 79 76
Embezzlement/fraud 0 1 32 47 32 48
Sexual offences 0 0 5 9 5 9
Other 7 4 425 327 432 331
Total 42 28 1,498 1,346 1,540 1,374

NOTE
1. Under section 23(1)(b), the court may grant summary criminal legal aid when it is considering a sentence for a convicted person who has not previously been

sentenced to imprisonment.

4.13 Intimations of automatic legal aid for other courts and under section 22(1)(d)

Type of intimation 2006-2007 2005-2006

Glasgow Domestic Abuse Court 552 561
Glasgow, Kirkcaldy and Dunfermline Drug Courts 155 108
Hamilton and Airdrie Youth Court 383 310
Automatic legal aid under Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986:
– section 22(1)(da) The court determines the trial cannot go ahead because the applicant is insane 14 18
– section 22(1)(db) In relation to an examination of facts and the disposal of the case 1 7
– section 22(1)(dc) Appeal against a finding of insanity 0 1
– section 22(1)(dd) Court appoints solicitor to represent a person accused of sexual offence 5 2
Total 1,110 1,007

NOTE
1. Automatic legal aid under the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986 sections 22 (1) (da-dd) is where the court appointed a solicitor to act for an unrepresented person

accused of a sexual offence.

4.14 Grants of legal aid by the courts in solemn proceedings

Sheriff court High court Total

Offence 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

Murder/attempted murder/culpable homicide 864 753 9 17 873 770
Assault 4,628 4,149 9 5 4,637 4,154
Theft/housebreaking/robbery 1,810 1,595 7 2 1,817 1,597
Road traffic offences 460 451 4 3 464 454
Offensive weapons/vandalism/breach of the peace 1,194 544 0 0 1,194 544
Drugs 2,434 1,947 8 19 2,442 1,966
Embezzlement/fraud 242 235 2 0 244 235
Sexual offences 708 704 8 3 716 707
Other 1,503 1,374 8 10 1,511 1,384
Total 13,843 11,752 55 59 13,898 11,811
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4.15 Applications for criminal legal aid and decisions by gender

Male applicant Female applicant

2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

Applications (summary) 75,381 84% 72,226 84% 14,603 16% 13,690 16%
Grants (summary) 67,906 84% 66,094 84% 13,240 16% 12,583 16%
Refusals (summary) 10,810 87% 9,822 87% 1,601 13% 1,418 13%
Grants by the courts – solemn 12,243 88% 10,430 88% 1,655 12% 1,381 12%
Grants by the courts – 23(1)(b) 1,193 77% 1,128 82% 347 23% 246 18%

4.16 Criminal appeals - applications

Applications Applications Applications

received granted refused

Leave to appeal

– against conviction 199 185 1
– against conviction and sentence 231 213 0
– against sentence only 1,741 1,674 6
Total leave to appeal 2,171 2,072 7

Other appeals

Petition to Nobile Officium, etc. 28 16 4
Crown appeals 28 25 3
Appeal against other disposal 25 14 4
Reference by the Scottish Criminal Cases Review Commission to the High Court 4 4 0
Appeals to the Judicial Committee of the Privy Council 3 2 1
Applications for special leave to appeal to the Judicial Committee of the Privy Council 1 1 1
Total other appeals 89 62 13

Total 2006-2007 2,260 2,134 20

Total 2005-2006 2,620 2,453 28

NOTE
1. This table includes grants made under regulation 15 of the Criminal Legal Aid (Scotland) Regulations 1996 (matters of special urgency).

4.17 Duty solicitor appearances

2006-2007 2005-2006

Total number of appearances by duty solicitors 34,116 31,150
Total number of appearances by Public Defence Solicitors’ Office as duty solicitors 597 1,060
Total number of appearances 34,713 32,210
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4.18 Sanctions in criminal legal aid cases

Applications Applications Applications Applications

received part granted granted refused

Summary criminal

– expert witness 2,406 394 1,741 110
– unusual expenditure 134 3 53 35
– counsel (advocates and solicitor advocates) 200 7 87 93
Total summary criminal 2,740 404 1,881 238

Solemn and section 23(1)(b)

– expert witness 3,603 492 2,651 91
– unusual expenditure 800 29 529 125
– counsel 3,529 140 2,407 806
Total solemn and section 23(1)(b) 7,932 661 5,587 1,022

Criminal appeals

– expert witness 112 21 70 2
– unusual expenditure 110 3 80 13
– counsel 190 23 101 41
Total criminal appeals 412 47 251 56

Total 2006-2007 11,084 1,112 7,719 1,316

Total 2005-2006 9,882 1,116 6,809 1,024

NOTE
1. In this table, and in tables 4.20 and 4.21, summary criminal means summary criminal applications granted by the Board.

4.19 Applications for exceptional status in fixed payment cases

Applications Applications Applications

received granted refused

Total 2006-2007 220 148 71

Total 2005-2006 159 108 49

4.20 Applications under Regulation 15 of the Criminal Legal Aid (Scotland) Regulations 1996 (matters of special urgency)

Applications granted

2006-2007 2005-2006

Summary criminal 58 73
Criminal appeals 2,077 2,221
Total 2,135 2,294

4.21 Requests for change of solicitor in criminal legal aid cases

Applications Applications Applications

received granted refused

Summary criminal 3,151 2,330 289
Court granted legal aid 2,321 1,734 123
Criminal appeals 153 106 8
Total 2006-2007 5,625 4,170 420

Total 2005-2006 5,050 3,924 329
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4.22 Accounts paid and average case costs – criminal advice and assistance and ABWOR

Minimum fee cases Detailed accounts

Total

number Total Total Average Average
Number Total Number Total of cases paid paid case cost case cost
of cases paid of cases paid Solicitor Outlays 2006-2007 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £ £

Criminal advice and assistance 

(excluding ABWOR)

Murder/attempted murder/
culpable homicide 130 4 375 40 37 3 505 44 55 87 107
Assault 3,881 111 14,194 1,152 1,120 32 18,075 1,263 1,203 70 69
Theft/housebreaking/robbery 4,448 128 13,376 1,105 1,071 34 17,824 1,233 1,254 69 70
Road traffic 2,632 76 9,649 804 785 19 12,281 879 911 72 71
Offensive weapons/vandalism/
breach of the peace 5,233 151 17,282 1,406 1,372 34 22,515 1,557 1,566 69 69
Drugs 1,785 52 5,765 476 461 15 7,550 527 498 70 70
Embezzlement/fraud 307 9 1,041 92 89 4 1,348 101 114 75 78
Sexual offences 205 6 706 67 63 4 911 73 85 80 93
Appeals 502 14 772 97 76 21 1,274 112 132 88 89
Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 3,175 92 2,949 240 230 10 6,124 332 314 54 52
Means enquiries/fines 9,020 263 3,344 198 193 5 12,364 461 526 37 38
Prison rules 227 6 1,231 160 134 26 1,458 167 235 114 118
Breach proceedings 365 11 1,002 176 166 10 1,367 186 166 136 127
Contempt of court 362 11 133 8 8 1 495 19 18 38 36
Civic Government (Scotland) Act 405 12 1,098 95 92 3 1,503 107 106 71 70
Criminal Law (Consolidation) 
Scotland Act 204 6 1,073 89 86 2 1,277 95 91 74 71
Other 3,831 111 7,155 864 761 103 10,986 975 817 89 86
Total criminal advice 

and assistance 36,712 1,062 81,145 7,070 6,743 327 117,857 8,132 8,088 69 68

Criminal ABWOR

Assault 115 3 534 87 85 2 649 90 124 139 155
Theft/housebreaking/robbery 220 6 1,391 287 283 4 1,611 293 295 182 178
Road traffic 340 10 3,246 458 450 8 3,586 468 551 130 128
Offensive weapons/vandalism/
breach of the peace 220 6 1,282 207 203 4 1,502 213 256 142 152
Drugs 116 3 837 133 124 9 953 136 115 143 144
Embezzlement/fraud 20 1 157 43 41 2 177 43 59 245 218
Sexual offences 8 0 31 8 7 1 39 8 5 208 184
Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 141 4 659 177 167 10 800 181 227 226 224
Breach proceedings 362 11 4,669 1,466 1,371 95 5,031 1,477 1,422 293 281
Civic Government (Scotland) Act 18 1 84 17 14 3 102 17 17 170 125
Criminal Law (Consolidation) 
Scotland Act 13 0 83 12 12 0 96 13 17 133 153
Other 212 6 1,761 778 684 94 1,973 784 644 398 353
Total criminal ABWOR 1,785 51 14,734 3,673 3,442 232 16,519 3,724 3,730 225 211

Total criminal advice and assistance 

and ABWOR 2006-2007 38,497 1,113 95,879 10,743 10,184 559 134,376 11,856 – 88 –

Total criminal advice and assistance
and ABWOR 2005-2006 39,378 1,128 96,704 10,690 10,147 543 136,082 – 11,818 – 87

NOTE
1. Where minimum fees are paid under ABWOR, this is because solicitors have intimated the case as ABWOR, but have either not proceeded with the case or dealt 

with it under advice and assistance.
2. In this table, payments to advocates and solicitor advocates are included under outlays, as regulation 17(1) of the Advice and Assistance (Scotland) Regulations 

1996 only provides for payment to the solicitor of fees and outlays.

Criminal legal assistance expenditure
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Criminal legal assistance expenditure continued

4.23 Duty solicitor – accounts

Total Number of Cost per

paid appearances appearance

£000 £

Total 2006-2007 1,203 34,116 35

Total 2005-2006 1,031 31,150 33

NOTE
1. The Public Defence Solicitors’ Office made 597 appearances as duty solicitor for accused persons (2005-2006:1,060 appearances). These are excluded from the
figures in this table.

4.24 Accounts paid and average case costs by proceedings – criminal legal aid

Average Average
Number cost cost

Solicitor Advocate Solicitor of cases Total paid per case per case
advocate Outlays 2006-2007 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

Proceedings £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £ £

Total district court 4,383 4 2 122 11,456 4,511 4,315 394 394

Sheriff court – summary (fixed payments) 45,159 207 62 1,432 68,671 46,859 44,618 682 677
Sheriff court – summary (detailed charges) 616 20 0 128 663 763 1,386 1,151 1,237
Total sheriff court – summary 45,775 227 62 1,559 69,334 47,623 46,005 687 687
Sheriff court – solemn (detailed charges) 14,175 2,536 41 1,694 10,037 18,446 19,754 1,838 1,929
Total sheriff court 59,950 2,763 103 3,253 79,371 66,069 65,759 832 851

High Court (non appeals) 6,829 8,087 2,409 1,484 1,491 18,809 16,393 12,615 14,181
Appeals 1,524 1,247 248 292 2,173 3,310 3,888 1,523 1,336
Total High Court 8,352 9,334 2,656 1,776 3,664 22,119 20,281 6,037 4,988

Total summary 2006-2007 50,158 231 64 1,681 80,790 52,134 – 645 –

Total summary 2005-2006 48,536 162 51 1,570 77,963 – 50,320 – 645
Total solemn (including appeals) 2006-2007 22,528 11,870 2,697 3,470 13,701 40,565 – 2,961 –

Total solemn (including appeals) 2005-2006 23,991 10,228 2,149 3,666 14,305 – 40,035 – 2,799
Total all proceedings 2006-2007 72,685 12,101 2,761 5,151 94,491 92,698 – 981 –

Total all proceedings 2005-2006 72,528 10,390 2,201 5,236 92,268 – 90,355 – 979

NOTE
1. This table shows fees for solicitor advocates in the district and sheriff courts. These charges are for bail appeals which are heard in the High Court but arise in 

those courts.
2. These figures exclude payments for contempt of court and duty.
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4.25 Numbers of cases and average case costs by type of case and court

District court Sheriff court High court All courts

Average Average
Average Average Average cost per cost per

Number cost per Number cost per Number cost per Number case case
of cases case of cases case of cases case of cases 2006-2007 2005-2006

Offence £ £ £ £ £

Murder/attempted murder/culpable homicide – – 266 2,584 457 15,446 723 10,714 10,623
Assault 2,083 400 20,688 899 148 7,930 22,919 899 905
Theft/housebreaking/robbery 2,315 386 12,569 809 93 9,815 14,977 800 824
Road traffic offences 645 484 8,823 700 15 9,929 9,483 700 702
Offensive weapons/vandalism/breach of the peace 4,392 388 19,191 705 21 8,063 23,604 652 646
Drugs 1,101 376 7,844 946 386 11,612 9,331 1,320 1,243
Embezzlement/fraud 100 389 1,199 1,436 11 35,815 1,310 1,645 1,363
Sexual offences 9 379 629 2,575 271 10,900 909 5,035 4,516
Other 811 383 8,162 754 89 17,022 9,062 881 846
Appeals – – – – 2,173 1,523 2,173 1,523 1,336
Total 2006-2007 11,456 394 79,371 832 3,664 6,037 94,491 981 –

Total 2005-2006 10,958 394 77,244 851 4,066 4,988 92,268 – 979

Throughout these appendices

– figures for grants and refusals of applications do not necessarily equal numbers of applications, since decisions on applications received towards the end of one
year may not be reached until the following year

– unless otherwise stated, figures for accounts paid include VAT and are prepared on a cash basis and include all accounts passed for payment during the year
– in tables showing accounts paid, unless otherwise stated, outlays include all payments other than fees paid to solicitors and advocates – for example, 

expert witnesses
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5.1 Total grants of children’s legal assistance

2006-2007 2005-2006

Children’s advice and assistance 5,868 5,681
Legal aid for children 4,456 3,984
Appeals 5 2
Total children’s legal assistance 10,329 9,667

5.2 Total cost to the taxpayer of providing children’s legal assistance

2006-2007 2005-2006
£000 £000

Children’s advice and assistance 458 457
Legal aid for children 3,980 3,759
Total children’s legal assistance 4,439 4,216

Children’s advice and assistance

5.3 Intimations of children’s advice and assistance

2006-2007 2005-2006

Total advice and assistance intimations for matters relating to Children (Scotland) Act 1995 5,868 5,681

5.4 Intimations of children’s advice and assistance by gender

Male applicant Female applicant Total

Total 2006-2007 2,089 36% 3,779 64% 5,868

Total 2005-2006 1,979 35% 3,702 65% 5,681

5.5 Increases in limit of authorised expenditure of children’s advice and assistance

Applications for increase Increases granted Increases refused

2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

Total 1,937 2,005 1,574 1,606 155 145

NOTE
1. Decisions in table 5.5 do not include decisions after reconsideration. These are reported separately in table 5.6.

5.6 Reconsideration of an application for an increase in limit of authorised expenditure

Applications

for reconsideration Increases granted Increases refused

2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006 2006-2007 2005-2006

Total 91 88 72 68 14 19

Appendix 5
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5.7 Grants of legal aid by the courts under the Children (Scotland) Act 1995

2006-2007 2005-2006

Total 4,456 3,984

5.8 Sanctions in children’s legal aid cases

Applications Applications Applications Applications

received part granted granted refused

Children
– expert witness 231 11 169 20
– unusual expenditure 107 6 69 15
– counsel (advocates and solicitor advocates) 199 3 81 89
Total 2006-2007 537 20 319 124

Total 2005-2006 412 36 251 68

5.9 Applications to the Board in respect of appeals to the Court of Session and the Sheriff Principal

Applications Applications

received granted

Total 2006-2007 17 5

Total 2005-2006 19 2

5.10 Sanctions for appeals

Applications Applications Applications Applications

received part granted granted refused

Children’s appeals

– expert witness 0 0 0 0
– unusual expenditure 0 0 0 0
– counsel 2 0 2 0
Total 2006-2007 2 0 2 0

Total 2005-2006 7 1 4 2

Legal aid for applicants in children’s cases

Throughout these appendices

– figures for grants and refusals of applications do not necessarily equal numbers of applications, since decisions on applications received towards the end of one
year may not be reached until the following year

– unless otherwise stated, figures for accounts paid include VAT and are prepared on a cash basis and include all accounts passed for payment during the year
– in tables showing accounts paid, unless otherwise stated, outlays include all payments other than fees paid to solicitors and advocates – for example, 

expert witnesses
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5.11 Accounts paid and average case costs – children’s advice and assistance

Minimum fee cases Detailed accounts

Total

Number Total Number Total number Total Average

of cases paid of cases paid Solicitor Outlays of cases paid case cost

Subject matter £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £

Total 2006-2007 1,447 42 3,700 416 406 11 5,147 458 89

Total 2005-2006 1,328 38 3,748 420 407 13 5,076 457 90

NOTE
1. In this table, payments to advocates and solicitor advocates are included under outlays, as regulation 17(1) of the Advice and Assistance (Scotland) Regulations 1996

only provides for payment to the solicitor of fees and outlays.

5.12 Analysis of accounts paid – children’s legal aid

Solicitor Advocate Solicitor Outlays Number Total Average cost

paid advocate of cases paid per case

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £

Total 2006-2007 2,678 932 0 370 3,535 3,980 1,126

Total 2005-2006 2,336 1,128 0 294 3,357 3,759 1,120
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6.1 Grants of legal aid by the courts under section 30 of the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986 (Contempt)

District court Sheriff court High Court Total

Total 2006-2007 13 418 41 472

Total 2005-2006 7 270 23 300

6.2 Analysis of accounts paid

Solicitor Solicitor Number Total Average cost

paid Advocate advocate Outlays of cases paid per case

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £

Total 2006-2007 82 8 11 2 345 102 295

Total 2005-2006 54 12 8 3 227 77 340

NOTE
1. In addition to legal aid for contempt of court, there were grants of advice and assistance for contempt of court. Information on grants and amounts paid are included

in the criminal advice and assistance tables in Appendix 4.

Contempt of court

Appendix 6

Throughout these appendices

– figures for grants and refusals of applications do not necessarily equal numbers of applications, since decisions on applications received towards the end of one
year may not be reached until the following year

– unless otherwise stated, figures for accounts paid include VAT and are prepared on a cash basis and include all accounts passed for payment during the year
– in tables showing accounts paid, unless otherwise stated, outlays include all payments other than fees paid to solicitors and advocates – for example, 

expert witnesses
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7.1 Legal assistance expenditure
Expenditure Income Total 2006-2007

Contributions Amounts

Total from Expenses awarded Total
Advice & gross assisted from to assisted Total Total net cost

assistance ABWOR Legal aid cost persons opponents persons income net cost 2005-2006
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Civil legal assistance

Family/matrimonial 6,669 0 16,340 23,008 1,169 437 1,198 2,804 20,204 20,514
Debt 933 9 756 1,698 37 346 61 443 1,255 1,402
Reparation 2,082 0 10,343 12,426 28 7,263 219 7,509 4,917 3,788
Judicial review 153 0 745 898 3 389 0 392 506 720
Appeals 47 0 648 695 9 172 1 182 514 507
Recovery of heritable property 155 0 268 423 20 21 11 53 370 236
Other 7,266 1,902 2,328 11,496 82 168 36 286 11,210 12,362
Total civil legal assistance 17,304 1,912 31,428 50,644 1,348 8,795 1,526 11,668 38,976 39,530

Criminal and contempt legal assistance

Murder/attempted murder/culpable homicide 44 0 7,746 7,790 – – – 0 7,790 8,840
Assault 1,263 90 20,600 21,954 – – – 0 21,954 21,362
Theft/housebreaking/robbery 1,233 293 11,980 13,507 – – – 0 13,507 13,859
Road traffic offences 879 468 6,637 7,984 – – – 0 7,984 8,156
Offensive weapons/vandalism/
breach of the peace 1,557 213 15,398 17,168 – – – 0 17,168 16,449
Drugs 527 136 12,314 12,978 – – – 0 12,978 11,471
Embezzlement/fraud 101 43 2,155 2,299 – – – 0 2,299 2,263
Sexual offences 73 8 4,577 4,658 – – – 0 4,658 4,335
Other 2,324 2,472 7,981 12,777 – – – 0 12,777 11,401
Appeals 112 0 3,310 3,422 – – – 0 3,422 4,020
Duty 0 0 1,203 1,203 – – – 0 1,203 1,031
Contempt 19 0 102 121 – – – 0 121 95
Total criminal and contempt legal assistance 8,132 3,724 94,003 105,860 0 0 0 0 105,860 103,281

Children’s legal assistance 458 0 3,980 4,439 0 0 0 0 4,439 4,216

Total legal assistance expenditure 2006-2007 25,895 5,636 129,412 160,942 1,348 8,795 1,526 11,668 149,274 –

Total legal assistance expenditure 2005-2006 26,720 6,262 124,849 157,831 1,173 8,740 891 10,804 – 147,027

NOTE
1. Expenditure and income are not necessarily linked and income can be expected to vary from year to year. Some income, such as that from property recovered and

preserved or contributions paid over 20 months (the majority), may be received by the Board well after the original case has concluded, in some cases years later.
2. Total expenditure excludes miscellaneous payments and PDSO expenditure, which are shown in table 1.4.

Appendix 7
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7.2 Analysis of payments for all categories

Total
Type Fees (including VAT) Total fees Outlays Total 2006-2007 2005-2006

Solicitor Including Excluding Including Excluding Including Excluding Including
Number Solicitor Advocate Advocate VAT VAT VAT VAT VAT VAT VAT
of cases £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Civil legal assistance

Civil advice and assistance 93,047 15,441 0 0 15,441 13,139 1,863 1,863 17,304 15,002 18,174
Civil ABWOR 2,756 1,523 0 0 1,523 1,298 388 388 1,912 1,686 2,532
Civil legal aid 11,891 16,704 4,929 7 21,640 18,620 9,788 9,781 31,428 28,402 29,627
Total civil legal assistance 107,694 33,668 4,929 7 38,605 33,057 12,039 12,032 50,644 45,089 50,334

Criminal legal assistance 

Criminal and contempt
advice and assistance 117,857 7,805 0 0 7,805 6,635 327 327 8,132 6,961 8,088
Criminal ABWOR 16,519 3,493 0 0 3,493 2,969 232 232 3,724 3,201 3,730
Total summary
criminal legal aid 2006-2007 80,790 50,158 231 64 50,452 42,992 1,681 1,628 52,134 44,619 50,320
Total solemn
criminal legal aid 2006-2007 11,528 21,005 10,622 2,450 34,077 29,023 3,178 2,981 37,254 32,004 36,147
Total appeals 2006-2007 2,173 1,524 1,247 248 3,019 2,575 292 266 3,310 2,842 3,888
Duty (note 1) 1,166 2 1 1,169 1,001 35 31 1,203 1,032 1,031
Total criminal legal assistance 228,867 85,150 12,102 2,762 100,014 85,195 5,744 5,464 105,758 90,660 103,204

Children’s legal assistance 

Children’s advice and assistance 5,147 448 0 0 448 381 11 11 458 391 457
Children’s legal aid 3,535 2,678 932 0 3,611 3,077 370 356 3,980 3,433 3,759
Total children’s legal assistance 8,682 3,126 932 0 4,058 3,458 380 366 4,439 3,824 4,216

Contempt legal aid

Contempt of court legal aid 345 82 8 11 100 85 2 2 102 87 77
Total 2006-2007 345,588 122,026 17,972 2,779 142,777 121,795 18,165 17,864 160,942 139,659 –

Total 2005-2006 356,370 122,702 16,135 2,209 141,046 120,302 16,785 16,452 – – 157,831

NOTE
1. Duty solicitors made 34,116 appearances on behalf of accused persons. The Public Defence Solicitors’ Office also made 597 appearances as duty solicitor.
2. In this table, advice and assistance payments to counsel and solicitor advocates are included under outlays, as regulation 17(1) of the Advice and Assistance

Regulations 1996 only provides for payment to the solicitor of fees and outlays.

7.3 Grant-In-Aid expenditure
2006-2007 2005-2006

£000 £000

Staff costs 8,369 8,001
Running costs 3,717 3,720
Capital 610 537
Total 12,696 12,258

NOTE
1. Although the Board’s accounts are prepared on an accrual basis, this table is produced on the cash basis of the actual expenditure.

Appendix 7 continued

Throughout these appendices

– figures for grants and refusals of applications do not necessarily equal numbers of applications, since decisions on applications received towards the end of one
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expert witnesses
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PDSO, the Public Defence Solicitors’ Office

About the Public Defence Solicitors’ Office (PDSO)
When the Public Defence Solicitors’ Office (PDSO) opened on 1 October 1998 in Edinburgh, it was the first public defender service in the UK. Its aims were to provide 
legal advice, assistance and representation in court for those who cannot afford to pay for it themselves, and handled criminal cases in all the courts in Edinburgh.

Ministers announced their intention to continue the PDSO Edinburgh office and to create up to two more offices in different offices when the Criminal Justice 
(Scotland) Bill was introduced in the Scottish Parliament in March 2002. As a result, two further PDSO offices were opened in Glasgow and Inverness in May 2004.

In 2006, the Scottish Ministers at that time asked the Board to increase the number of PDSO offices. A new office was opened in Kirkwall in early 2007 with further
offices in Ayr, Falkirk and Dundee to be opened in spring 2007.

Within our statistical tables and accounts we report on the volumes of work undertaken by PDSO, and its costs. This appendix brings together key information 
on PDSO’s work.

8.1 Expenditure

2006-2007 2005-2006
£000 £000

Criminal defence costs – outlays 63 58
Salaries and wages 489 447
Social security costs 43 39
Pensions 42 –
Accommodation 137 136
Audit fees 2 2
Depreciation 15 16
Revaluation/permanent diminution in value of fixed assets 2 3
Other operating costs 162 117
Total 955 818

NOTE
This table shows the expenditure of PDSO on an accounting basis. However, funding provided from the Legal Aid Fund in 2006-2007 was £864,000 (£793,000 in 2005-
2006). The difference is due to adjustments for accruals and prepayments. The funding figure is included in tables 1.4 and 8.2.

8.2 PDSO costs and volumes

1998-1999 1999-2000 2000-2001 2001-2002 2002-2003 2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007

PDSO costs (£000s) 405 430 390 357 344 376 827 793 864

Total number of cases 417 1,034 1,202 1,194 1,123 1,196 1,565 1,743 1,491

Number of solemn cases 0 1 26 34 25 28 54 89 77

Number of appearances by PDSO as duty solicitor – – – – 1,092 930 1,142 1,060 597

NOTE
PDSO expenditure is shown as actual funding, not on an accounting basis as at table 8.1.
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We encourage members of the public and legal profession to raise issues of concern with us. We use the information we get from looking into and resolving these to
identify problem areas and improve our service. The level of complaints about our service remains low, when considered against the high number of applications we
consider each year.

9.1 Complaints and reviews received and cleared

2006-2007 2005-2006

Initial complaints received 92 118
Reviews received 16 32
Total new complaints received 108 150

Number of complaints (initial and review) carried forward from previous year 17 11
Total complaints under consideration 125 161

Total complaints cleared 114 144

Number of complaints carried forward to next year 11 17

NOTE
1. These figures include both initial complaints made to any member of staff and reviews, where someone is unhappy with how their initial complaint has been dealt

with, and asks the Chief Executive or Chairman to explore it further. 

9.2 Complaints cleared within target

2006-2007 2005-2006

Total cleared within 28 days 103 120
Percentage cleared within 28 days 90% 83%

NOTE:
1. The 28 days target does not include time we spend waiting for further information from third parties.

9.3 Cleared complaints considered justified

2006-2007 2005-2006

Total complaints not justified 85 92
Total complaints justified 29 52
Percentage justified 25% 36%

Appendix 9

Other information
Complaints about the Scottish Legal Aid Board
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Other information
Complaints about the Scottish Legal Aid Board continued

9.4 Complaints considered by the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman (SPSO)

If, after the Chairman or Chief Executive has considered a complaint, someone is still unhappy with our response, we give them details of how to complain to the

Scottish Public Services Ombudsman.

2006-2007 2005-2006

Complaints made to the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman 5 9
Complaints carried forward from previous year 4 3
Total complaints under consideration 9 12

Complaints closed and not upheld by SPSO 5 8
Complaints upheld 11 0
Number of complaints outstanding and carried forward to next year 3 4

NOTE
1. Complaint upheld in part. The Board made an apology to only one aspect of the complaint. In all other aspects the Board’s process was handled well.

Appendix 9 continued
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9.5 Information requests and decisions

2006-2007 2005-2006

Total number of requests received 67 80
Requests brought forward from previous year 7 11

Responses provided:

Information provided free of charge 40 53
Information provided after payment of fee 3 0
The Board does hold not the requested information 5 6
Refusal notice(s) issued 10 21
Projected cost over £600 and we will not supply the information (notes 2,3) 2 0
Part refusals (some information provided) 5 4
Total number dealt with 65 84

Number carried forward 9 7

Of those requests closed, percentage dealt with within 20 working days 92% 98%

9.6 Review of refusal notices

2006-2007 2005-2006

Requests received 7 0
Cases brought forward 0 1
Decisions made 7 1

Original decision of Board upheld 5 1
Original decision of Board changed 2 0
Cases undecided and carried forward 0 0

Of those review requests closed, percentage dealt with within 20 working days 86% 100%

9.7 Appeals to the Scottish Information Commissioner

2006-2007 2005-2006

Requests 2 1
Cases brought forward 0 3
Decisions made 0 3

Decision of Board upheld 0 3
Decision of Board changed 0 0
Cases undecided and carried forward 2 0

Requests under the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002
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Statement of accounts
Foreword

Background

The Board presents its accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 2007.

The Board is a Non-Departmental Public Body set up in 1987 under the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986, and is accountable to Scottish Ministers. A key objective for the
Board is to operate within its administration budget and to manage the Legal Aid Fund. Separate accounts have been prepared for the Scottish Legal Aid Fund and for
the administrative income and expenditure of the Scottish Legal Aid Board.

The accounts have been prepared in a form directed by Scottish Ministers in accordance with section 5 (2) of the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986, as amended by the
Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000, and the Government’s Financial Reporting Manual 2006-2007.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Scottish Legal Aid Board (“the Board”) are to determine and, where appropriate, grant applications for legal aid; to scrutinise and pay
legal aid accounts submitted by solicitors and advocates from the Legal Aid Fund; to collect expenses and contributions; and to advise Scottish Ministers on legal 
aid matters.

Membership of the Executive team

Throughout 2006-2007 the Executive team has comprised:

• Lindsay Montgomery, Chief Executive
• Ian Middleton, Director of Audit and Compliance
• Andrew Menzies, Director of Corporate Services and Accounts
• Tom Murray, Director of Legal Services and Applications
• Colin Lancaster, Head of Policy and Development

Iain A. Robertson CBE was the Chairman of the Board.

Changes to the Government’s Financial Reporting Manual (FReM). 

The Board’s Annual Accounts are prepared in accordance with the accounting principles and disclosure requirements of the Government’s ‘Financial Reporting
Manual’. The Financial Reporting Manual is prepared following consultation with the Financial Reporting Advisory Board (established in 1996 to act as an independent
review in the process of setting accounting standards for government). The manual is updated regularly to reflect developments in accounting standards and company
law in the United Kingdom and, where appropriate, comments received from users.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2007, the Financial Reporting Advisory Board agreed amendments to the Financial Reporting Manual on accounting for grants and
grants-in-aid. The changes mean that the previous practice where grants and grants-in-aid received for revenue purposes were shown as income, has changed 
so that such amounts are considered as contributions from controlling parties giving rise to a financial interest in the residual interest of the body, and hence are
accounted for as financing. Thus the funding is recorded as a movement on the general reserve, not as income within an ‘Income and Expenditure Statement’. 

This has a number of consequences for the Board’s accounts. Firstly, in relation to the presentation of the primary Financial Statements, the ‘Income and Expenditure
Account’ is replaced by an ‘Operating Cost Statement’ in both the Scottish Legal Aid Fund Accounts and in the Scottish Legal Aid Board Accounts. Secondly, the fact
that the grant/grant-in-aid can no longer be considered income means that, in the Scottish Legal Aid Fund Accounts, the Board is no longer able to accrue future
income relating to the value of work in progress for legal aid certificates in issue. Instead, the liability for payments to solicitors and advocates in respect of unpaid
work completed at the balance sheet date is reflected as a provision for liabilities and charges. This also means that the Board can no longer adopt the approach of
reflecting a balance sheet debtor in respect of future income from the Scottish Government, relating to the value of work in progress for legal aid certificates in issue. 
The absence of such a balancing debtor in the Scottish Legal Aid Fund Accounts, where liabilities will exceed assets, thus renders the Scottish Legal Aid Fund Balance
Sheet ‘technically insolvent’. 

The technical accounting approach has no impact on the underlying basis for meeting the Board’s current and ongoing obligations to solicitors and advocates in
relation to the payment for work done on legal aid certificates in issue. The Legal Aid Scotland Act (1986) creates a statutory obligation for payment of sums due to 
any solicitor or counsel out of the Fund. 

Finally, there is also an amendment to the Financial Reporting Manual in relation to accounting for fixed assets which affects both the Scottish Legal Aid Fund Accounts
and the Scottish Legal Aid Board Accounts. Previously grants or grant-in-aid received to finance all fixed assets were credited to a government grant reserve and
subsequently released to match the depreciation charge over the expected useful life of the asset. The changes to the Financial Reporting Manual mean that grant-in-
aid received to finance the acquisition of fixed assets in general is now credited to general reserves and only grants received to finance the acquisition 
of a specific asset are credited to a Government Grant reserve. Effectively this results in the merging of the previous Government Grant reserve with the General 
Fund reserve.

As noted elsewhere, these are changes in accounting policy and, in accordance with accounting practice, prior years’ results have been restated.
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Accounting for pensions

In line with the Financial Reporting Manual, issued annually by the relevant authorities in England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland, these accounts 
meet the requirements of Financial Reporting Standard 17 ‘Retirement Benefits’, as applicable to the Board’s pension scheme.

Although the Board operates a single scheme for all staff, the income, costs and liabilities are apportioned between staff funded by the Scottish Legal Aid Fund,
presently only PDSO staff; and staff funded from the Scottish Legal Aid Board’s grant-in-aid.

Further detail on pension arrangements is provided in the Accounting Policies at notes 1.9 and 24.9; and in notes 16 and 35 of the accounts.

Employee communication

The Board issues a monthly newsletter and occasional circulars for staff about matters of concern to them, including performance. Managers and staff discuss 
these during team briefing sessions. The Board conducts periodic employee opinion surveys to obtain staff views on issues such as communications, training 
and development, management practices, and quality of service. A Joint Consultative Committee of management and union representatives meets regularly.

As an Investor in People, the Board continues to give staff the opportunities and support needed to develop their skills in meeting the organisation’s objectives.

Equal opportunities 

The Board is committed to the development and promotion of equality of opportunity for all. It is committed to providing equal opportunities in employment.
It does not treat any job applicant or employee less favourably because of gender, race, colour, religion, nationality, age, disability, sexual orientation or marital

status. This applies in the recruitment, reward, training and promotion of both new and existing employees. It also applies to grievance, disciplinary, or other
procedures, employee benefits and all terms and conditions of employment. 

Audit

KPMG LLP carried out the audit of the Board’s accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 2007. The agreed fee for this service was £41,300, which relates 
solely to the provision of statutory audit services.

Register of Board Members’ interests

The Board keeps a register of Board Members’ interests, which is on its website at www.slab.org.uk, or available in a paper copy from the Board’s Communications
Department (telephone 0131 240 1985).
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Financial position at the end of the year

On a cash basis, net expenditure on the Scottish Legal Aid Fund was £150m, compared to £148m in 2005-2006. The basis of preparation for the annual accounts 
(the accruals basis) results in accounting adjustments, including certain notional credits, depreciation, accruals and prepayments. Once such adjustments are made,
the Operating Cost Statement shows a net cost of operations, including notional credits and pension costs of £156m (2005-2006: £148m).

On a cash basis, £12.8m was required to meet the expenditure of the Scottish Legal Aid Board, compared to £12.3m in 2005-2006. The basis of preparation 
for the annual accounts (the accruals basis) results in accounting adjustments, including certain notional credits, depreciation, accruals and prepayments. 
Once such adjustments are made, the Operating Cost Statement shows a cost of operations, including notional credits and pension costs of £13.9m 
(2005-2006: £13m).

Main trends, performance and development during the financial year

During 2006-2007 there was a reduction in the volume of criminal advice and assistance, but an increase in both summary criminal applications and in legally aided
solemn criminal cases. These increases have led to an overall increase in the cost of criminal legal assistance.

During 2006-2007, the number of applications for both civil advice and assistance and civil legal aid received by the Board have continued to fall. The impact 
of increases in solicitors’ fees for cases which were granted after October 2003 is now being seen through increases in the average cost of civil legal aid cases.
Together these have resulted in an increase in the cost of civil legal assistance, although the overall net cost shows a modest fall, given the increase in income
received, arising mainly from expenses recovered and contributions from assisted persons.

During 2006-2007, substantial progress was achieved against the objectives detailed in the Board’s Corporate Plan. As shown in the Annual Report, having
substantially increased performance targets and increased some of the service standards, the Board met or exceeded all of its six headline performance indicators, 
the key measures of the Board’s operational performance.

The year also saw major milestones in the modernisation of legal aid achieved, particularly with the Scottish Parliament passing the Legal Profession and Legal Aid
(Scotland) Act in December 2006. Many of the areas of work in the past year have been the development stages to enable future implementation.

Areas of work included:
• Simplification of civil legal assistance: A review of the operation of all aspects of civil legal assistance was started, with a view to identifying ways of reducing

bureaucracy and making the system more effective and efficient for applicants, opponents, their advisers and the Board.
• Civil advice and assistance reform: Work continued on preparing for the second phase of civil advice and assistance reforms that were to be implemented 

on 1 May 2007. This included revising computer systems, forms, guidance and keeping solicitors updated about the changes.
• Civil legal aid fees: The Board worked with the Scottish Executive on further improvements to the civil legal aid fee structure and these were implemented 

in February 2007. 
• Availability of civil legal assistance: There have been concerns about areas where there are insufficient numbers of solicitors providing a civil legal assistance

service. Scottish Ministers announced in December 2006 that a review of fees for civil legal aid was to be undertaken by the Board and the Scottish Executive. 
The Board’s simplification project also assists in identifying how to encourage and support private sector solicitors to provide civil legal assistance.

• Public Defence Solicitors’ Office (PDSO): Scottish Ministers asked the Board to expand the PDSO network, and development work was undertaken to enable 
new offices to open by summer 2007.

• Reform of summary justice and criminal legal assistance: The Board worked with partners in the criminal justice system on reform of summary criminal legal
assistance as part of the Scottish Executive’s programme of reform of Summary Justice. Changes are expected to be implemented in early 2008.

• Advocates fees reform: The Board continued to work with the Faculty of Advocates and the Scottish Executive to develop new feeing arrangements for advocates 
in civil and criminal cases, including criminal appeals. These will bring greater certainty, control and value for money in legal aid cases. 

• Reform of solemn criminal legal aid: The Board worked with the Law Society of Scotland and the Scottish Executive to develop new block fee arrangements 
for paying solicitors for solemn cases, which we expect to be implemented during 2007-2008. A further interim increase in solicitors’ fees for solemn cases 
was made by Scottish Ministers on 16 November 2006, which was backdated to December 2005. 

• Quality assurance for criminal legal assistance: The Board continued to work with the Law Society of Scotland to develop quality assurance systems based on 
peer review for all criminal legal assistance work. 

• Legal Aid Online: Legal Aid Online allows solicitors to submit applications and accounts through the internet, making the system faster, easier and more
convenient. The Board continued to develop advice and assistance online, particularly linked to the reform of the advice and assistance system; and also
developed online services for civil legal aid. During the year the number of firms of solicitors and the number of applications made using Legal Aid Online
increased. It is expected that the coming year will see a substantial expansion of Legal Aid Online. 

• Performance indicators: Taking account of customers’ needs and priorities, past performance and the scope for improvement offered by new computer systems,
the Board undertook a comprehensive review of its performance targets. For 2006-2007 two of the six headline indicators were increased, for civil legal aid
applications and civil accounts. Following the review, for 2007-2008 there have been increases to two of the headline targets, and two new headline targets have
been introduced. The Board also significantly reduced the timescales for processing many types of legal aid.
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Future development plans

Over the next two years there will be substantial change to the provision of legal assistance in Scotland.

Priorities for the year ahead are set out in the Board’s Corporate Plan 2007-2009. Many of these build on progress already made, while others flow from the 
Legal Profession and Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 2007, Scottish Ministers decisions on improvements to be made to publicly funded legal assistance and a range 
of changes to the operation of legal aid which the Board wants to make.

Important changes have been introduced through the Legal Profession and Legal Aid (Scotland) Act, which was passed by the Scottish Parliament in December 2006.
Ministers have also asked the Board to take on a number of new responsibilities and projects, which can be implemented under existing statutory powers, while others
can be introduced by regulations. These changes build on the proposals made in the Strategic Review of Legal Aid, Information and Advice and the Scottish Executive’s
Advice for All consultation.

The changes include:
• extending provision of legal advice services by expanding the range of suppliers of legal advice and assistance funded by the Board, to ensure that people can

receive the right advice from the right person at the right time. As well as funding solicitors on a case by case basis to provide advice and assistance, the Board 
will be able to fund advisers other than lawyers to provide advice and assistance. The new system is expected to be implemented in 2008.

• the Board will also have new grant funding powers to fund provision of advice services. The Scottish Government will decide the overall funds available and the
Board will consult on development of the scheme in 2007. The first grant funding applications are expected in 2008.

• advice agencies will be registered with the Board to be able to provide advice and assistance.
• greater co-ordination and planning of advice services is needed by funders and providers and the Board has been asked to contribute to this.
• developing detailed proposals for changes to financial eligibility in civil legal aid which could increase access to justice.
• the granting of solemn criminal legal aid will be transferred from the courts to the Board.

Each of these provisions requires the Board to complete substantial development work to enable their implementation. 

Overall, the main priority projects for the coming year are:
• delivery of the Board’s simplification of civil legal assistance
• reform of civil advice and assistance, with implementation of the second phase of changes on 1 May 2007
• opening of a small number of additional public defence solicitors offices
• reform of the summary criminal legal assistance system as part of the reform of summary justice
• development work to enable the transfer from the courts to the Board of the power to grant solemn criminal legal aid
• introduction of quality assurance for criminal legal assistance practitioners and reform of the feeing arrangements for solicitors in solemn cases
• introduction of advice and assistance provided by advisers other than lawyers and a grant funding scheme
• substantial expansion of Legal Aid Online.

Legal Aid Fund

Estimating the future cost of legal aid is complex. Legal aid is not cash limited and can be affected by numerous factors. For example, overall volumes of criminal 
legal aid applications are affected by many factors, such as crime levels and police clear up rates. Changes in these and other factors could lead to changes in the
volume of applications for legal aid, which will have a subsequent effect on spending. 

Our current estimates of volumes and expenditure are based on recent trends and latest indications of likely future trends. Current figures suggest that overall 
net cash expenditure from the Legal Aid Fund is likely to be around £157 million in 2007-2008, 5% higher than in 2006-2007. However, both the demand led 
nature of the fund and the susceptibility of the trends in volume and cost to external factors may impact on this forecast. 

For more detailed information please refer to the Board’s Corporate Plan 2007-2009 or the Board’s Annual Report.

Payment of suppliers

The Board’s payment policy for suppliers in respect of its administrative expenditure is to agree payment terms when placing orders for goods and services and,
whenever necessary, ensure that suppliers are aware of the Board’s terms of payment. The Board aims to comply with these terms subject to satisfactory performance
by the supplier. The Board adheres to “The Better Payment Practice Code”. The target turnaround time for invoices is 30 days. In 2006-2007, the Board met this target
in 98.6% of cases (2005-2006: 98.0%).
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Environmental matters 

The Board has considered the existing legislation and guidance available on environmental and sustainability matters. The Board places importance on ensuring 
that its policies and procedures are in line with good environmental practice and statute. The Board has taken some key steps to assist in protecting our environment
e.g. it has installed infra-red occupancy detection light switches in occupied rooms to reduce electricity consumption from lighting; it has set internal rules for copying
to minimise the amount of paper used; it has installed video conferencing facilities which will help reduce business travel. The Scottish Legal Aid Board aims to
continuously improve its environmental performance and has adopted an environmental policy, procedures and targets. All targets set for the period 2005-2007 
have been achieved. During 2006-2007 , the Board reviewed its environmental policy, setting targets for 2007-2008 and beyond. In 2007-2008 the Board aims to
further reduce its target water consumption and increase the ratio of recycled paper used. The Board will also seek to develop the monitoring of our environmental
impact through measurement of its carbon footprint.

Basis of going concern

In line with the Financial Reporting Manual, issued annually by HM Treasury, these annual accounts are required to reflect Financial Reporting Standard 17 
‘Retirement Benefits’. This requires entities to recognise, in their accounts, the costs, the assets and the liabilities of pension schemes.

As shown in note 35 the actuarial estimate of the Board’s accrued pension liabilities stands at £37m. This reflects the inclusion of liabilities falling due in future 
years. The Board’s pension scheme, being ‘unfunded’, has no tangible assets. Rather, in accordance with arrangements set out in the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986,
pensions and other liabilities are met from grant-in-aid as they fall due, resulting in the scheme’s reliance on future funding from the Board’s sponsoring department,
the Scottish Government’s Justice Department. Accounting rules and convention currently prohibit the Board anticipating such funding in these accounts, resulting in
the Scottish Legal Aid Board balance sheet on page 108, showing ‘net liabilities’ and ‘negative taxpayer’s equity’. 

The technical accounting practice has no impact on the underlying basis for meeting the Board’s current and ongoing pension liabilities. These will be met out of the
Board’s funding from the Scottish Government, in accordance with arrangements set out in the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986. The Scottish Government’s Justice
Department has given the Board a written assurance that there are no plans to change the existing arrangements whereby they fund the Board’s administrative costs,
including the provision for the net pension costs, through grant-in-aid. Further, they state that there are no plans to wind up the Board, and that if this was ever to
become a possibility, then the liabilities falling due under the pension scheme would be a matter which the Government would require to recognise through the
legislation that was considered by Parliament. 

Similarly, the changes in accounting practice set out in the Foreword and in note 2 mean that the Board will no longer be able to adopt the approach of reflecting 
a balance sheet debtor in respect of future income from the Scottish Government, relating to the £89m valuation of work in progress for legal aid certificates in issue. 
The absence of such a balancing debtor will be reflected by a position where liabilities will exceed assets, resulting in the Scottish Legal Aid Fund balance sheet on
page 96, showing ‘net liabilities’ and ‘negative taxpayer’s equity’.

The technical accounting approach has no impact on the underlying basis for meeting the Board’s current and ongoing obligations to solicitors and advocates in
relation to the payment for work done on legal aid certificates in issue. These will be met out of the Board’s funding from the Scottish Government, in accordance 
with arrangements set out in the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986, which creates a statutory obligation for payment of sums due to any solicitor or counsel out of the 
Legal Aid Fund.

Accordingly, it has been considered appropriate to adopt a going concern basis for both the Scottish Legal Aid Fund and the Scottish Legal Aid Board in the preparation
of these financial statements.

Representations 

The directors who held office at the date of approval of these accounts confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 
the Board’s auditors are unaware; and each director has taken all the steps that he/she ought reasonably to have taken to make himself/herself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Board’s auditors are aware of that information.

Lindsay Montgomery

Chief Executive and Accountable Officer
7 September 2007
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Remuneration and Appointments Committee

The Board’s Remuneration and Appointments Committee comprises four Board Members. 

During 2006-2007 the members were:
• William Gallagher, Board Member and Convener of Remuneration and Appointments Committee
• Iain Robertson CBE, Board Chairman 
• Professor Mahendra Raj, Board Member
• Sheriff Kenneth Ross, Board Member

The purpose of the Remuneration and Appointments Committee is to consider remuneration of the Board’s Senior Staff and to take an overview of appointments and
remuneration issues, including the staff pay remit submitted to the Scottish Government, pension policies and related matters. 

Senior management

Appointments of senior management are on a permanent basis in accordance with individual contracts:

Name Start date Notice period

Lindsay Montgomery 1 July 1999 3 months
Tom Murray 1 May 1986 12 weeks
Ian Middleton 11 May 1987 12 weeks
Andrew Menzies 3 March 2003 12 weeks
Colin Lancaster 20 June 1997 4 weeks

The current normal retirement age is 60 years of age and contracts include notice periods. Termination payments, where appropriate, are made under the Board’s
redundancy policy which allows either for a redundancy payment, or where an individual is over 50 years old, a retirement pension and lump sum. 

The Chief Executive and Directors are paid spot salaries designed to reflect the job weight, skill, knowledge requirements and market position of each post. 
The remuneration on appointment for the Chief Executive, and any variation thereafter for reasons other than those of performance, is agreed by the Remuneration 
and Appointments Committee with reference to the Scottish Government for approval. The remuneration on appointment for Directors, and any variation thereafter, 
is agreed by the Remuneration and Appointments Committee. Providing performance is assessed as being at least satisfactory, the basic salary for the Chief Executive

and Directors is revalorised annually using the same basis as the rate of increase applied to the Chairman/Board members’ remuneration that is set by Ministers. This
is applied as a consolidated increase to salary.

Performance is also rewarded for the Chief Executive and Directors, as agreed by the Remuneration and Appointments Committee, with a non-consolidated lump 
sum bonus of up to 10% of salary, and is linked to achievement of targets and outcomes derived from the corporate and operational plans. The Chief Executive’s
performance is appraised by the Chairman in consultation with the Remuneration and Appointments Committee. The performance appraisals of the other senior
managers are carried out by the Chief Executive under the Board’s Performance Management system which applies to all staff. The performance management system is
about continuous improvement, supporting the achievement of business targets and encouraging personal growth. 

Remuneration report
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Remuneration of the Senior Managers and details of the pension benefits for 2006-2007 was as follows:
Accrued

pension Cash Cash Real

Real increase at age 60 Equivalent Equivalent increase

in pension at 31 March Transfer Transfer in Cash

Total Total and related 2007 Value Value Equivalent

remuneration remuneration lump sum and related at 31 March at 31 March Transfer

2006-2007 2005-2006 at age 60 lump sum 2007 2006 Value

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

L Montgomery, Chief Executive

Salary 90-95 90-95 
Pension 0-2.5 35-40
Related Lump Sum 0-2.5 115-120
Transfer Value 790 770 0
T Murray, Director of Legal Services and Applications

Salary 80-85 70-75
Pension 0-2.5 15-20
Related Lump Sum 0-2.5 55-60
Transfer Value 411 384 15
A Menzies, Director of Corporate Services and Accounts

Salary 65-70 65-70
Pension 0-2.5 15-20
Related Lump Sum 0-2.5 50-55
Transfer Value 250 241 8
I Middleton, Director of Audit and Compliance

Salary 55-60 50-55
Pension 0-2.5 15-20
Related Lump Sum 0-2.5 50-55
Transfer Value 392 371 10
C Lancaster, Head of Policy and Development

Salary 50-55 40-45
Pension 0-2.5 5-10
Related Lump Sum 2.5-5.0 15-20
Transfer Value 70 56 13

Board Members

The remuneration for the Chairman and other Board Members is determined by the Scottish Government. Under the current Scottish Government policy, the basic
remuneration for the Chairman and Board Members is revalorised annually, providing performance is at least satisfactory, at a rate of increase that is set by Ministers
as informed by the recommendations of the Senior Salaries Review Body. The Chairman formally assesses the performance of Board Members annually against criteria
as agreed between the Chairman and the Scottish Government. The current criteria include: commitment/contribution; team working; ability to constructively challenge
within the Board; contribution to strategy/policy formulation; and specific areas of contribution. The Board Members receive emoluments and expenses only.
Remuneration of the Board Members for 2006-2007 was as follows:

2006-2007 2005-2006
Name £000 £000

Graham Bell QC 5-10 –
Les Campbell 0-5 –
William Gallagher 5-10 5-10
Joseph Hughes 0-5 –
Denise Loney 0-5 –
Paul McBride QC 5-10 –
Susan McPhee 5-10 5-10
Ellen Morton 5-10 5-10
David Nicol 10-15 10-15
Iain Robertson CBE (Chairman) 25-30 –
Elaine Rosie 5-10 5-10
Professor Mahendra Raj 0-5 –
Sheriff Kenneth Ross (not remunerated) – –
Margaret Scanlan OBE 10-15 10-15
Graham Watson 5-10 –
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Other than the Chairman, Board Members are not members of the Board’s pension scheme. Details relating to the Chairman’s pension benefits were as follows:

Accrued

Real pension Cash Cash Real

increase at age 60 Equivalent Equivalent increase

in pension at 31 March Transfer Transfer in Cash

and related 2007 Value Value Equivalent

lump sum and related at 31 March at 31 March Transfer

at age 60 lump sum 2007 2006 Value

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

I Robertson, Chairman

Pension 0-2.5 0-5
Related Lump Sum 0-2.5 0-5
Transfer Value 8 0 8

Appointment of the Chairman by the Scottish Government is on a part-time basis (2 days a week) for a fixed term (normally 4 years) which is renewable for a second
term but there will be no automatic renewal or extension of the appointment beyond the first term. Scottish Ministers may terminate appointments giving 3 months’
notice in writing prior to the intended date of termination where appropriate. The Board Members are appointed by the Scottish Government on a part-time basis 
(31⁄2 days per month) for a fixed term of 3 or 4 years, which is renewable for a second term but there will be no automatic renewal or extension of the appointment
beyond the first term. Scottish Ministers may terminate appointments giving 3 months’ notice in writing prior to the intended date of termination where appropriate.

The table below shows the appointments of the serving Board Members for the year to 31 March 2007:
Period of 

Name Start date appointment to

Graham Bell QC 1 April 2006 31 March 2010
Les Campbell 1 September 2006 31 March 2011
William Gallagher 1 April 2000 31 March 2008 
Joseph Hughes 1 September 2006 31 March 2011
Denise Loney 1 January 2007 31 March 2011
Paul McBride QC 1 April 2006 31 March 2010
Susan McPhee 1 January 2005 31 March 2008 
Ellen Morton 1 December 2002 31 March 2010 
David Nicol 1 April 2002 31 March 2010 
Iain Robertson CBE (Chairman) 1 April 2006 31 March 2010
Elaine Rosie 1 January 2005 31 March 2008 
Professor Mahendra Raj 1 September 2006 31 March 2011
Sheriff Kenneth Ross (not remunerated) 1 April 2004 31 March 2008 
Margaret Scanlan OBE 1 September 1997 31 March 2007 
Graham Watson 1 April 2006 31 March 2010

The Audit Committee is chaired by a co-opted member, Prof Ian Percy CBE. His remuneration for 2006-2007 was £860.

Lindsay Montgomery

Chief Executive and Accountable Officer
7 September 2007
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The Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986 (“the Act”), as amended by the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000, states that the Scottish Legal Aid Board 
must prepare a statement of accounts for each financial year in the form and on the basis determined by Scottish Ministers. The accounts are prepared on an accruals
basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Scottish Legal Aid Fund and the Scottish Legal Aid Board and of its income and expenditure,
recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the financial year.

In preparing the accounts the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the Financial Reporting Manual, and in particular must:

• observe the accounts direction issued by Scottish Ministers, including the relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting 
policies consistently

• make judgements and estimates reasonably
• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, and show and explain any material departures in the financial statements
• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Board will continue to operate.

The Accountable Officer for the Scottish Government’s Justice Department has designated the Chief Executive of the Scottish Legal Aid Board as the Accountable Officer 
for the Board. The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibility for the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which I am answerable,
for keeping proper records and for safeguarding the Board’s assets are set out in the Non-Departmental Public Bodies’ Accountable Officer Memorandum. 

The Board and the Chief Executive are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Scottish Legal Aid
Board’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Lindsay Montgomery

Chief Executive and Accountable Officer
7 September 2007
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Scope of Responsibility

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the achievement of the Scottish Legal Aid Board’s
policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which I am responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities
assigned to me.

The Board is a Non-Departmental Public Body sponsored by the Scottish Government’s Justice Department. The Board has a Chairman appointed by Scottish Ministers 
and consists of not less than 11 and not more than 15 members who are appointed by Scottish Ministers. Board Members are responsible for determining the Board’s
strategic aims, approving its corporate plan, monitoring expenditure and operations, providing advice to Scottish Ministers and reviewing Board performance.

The purpose of the System of Internal Control

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives. 
It can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to
identify and prioritise the risks to achieving departmental policies, aims and objectives; to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact 
should they be realised; and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in place in the Board for the year 
ended 31 March 2007 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts, and accords with Scottish Government guidance.

The Risk and Control Framework 

The Board and the Executive team lead the Board’s risk management process. Ownership of every identified risk lies with a named member of the Executive team. 
A senior manager is appointed as Risk Management Co-ordinator to deal with training, administrative and reporting issues within the Board’s risk framework.

The Risk Management Co-ordinator has undertaken training accredited by the Institute of Risk Management and further training is scheduled to ensure the Board
continues to be aware of and able to apply best practice.

The Board’s internal auditors have assured the Board and the Chief Executive that its risk management procedures comply with best practice, in the form of the Risk
Management Standard of the Institute of Risk Management.

The Board provides training for all staff on risk management theory and practice. It encourages all staff to apply risk management techniques to setting and reviewing
their personal and departmental objectives, and to contribute to preparing and reviewing risk registers. The Board has documented its risk management process in 
its “Risk Policy and Framework” document, which is available to all staff. This document, and the staff training, explains the principles of risk appetite. The Board also
has a delegated authority matrix. This documents the limits of post holders’ authority in specified areas, while setting out the procedures, such as business cases, 
for new ventures that involve costs and risk but may be beneficial to the Board’s stakeholders.

The key elements of the Board’s risk management strategy are:
• clear and concise documentation and training for all staff on the Board’s definition of risk, its objectives in having a risk framework and staff roles and

responsibilities
• a documented and communicated process of identifying and evaluating risks, assessing risk appetite, identifying and implementing suitable responses to risks,

providing ongoing assurance about the effectiveness of the framework and processes to embed and review risk awareness
• multi-level review and reporting processes throughout the risk cycle, involving staff, managers, the Executive team, internal audit, the Audit Committee 

and the Board
• identification and regular review of both the continuing appropriateness of the risks and responses identified and of the on-going status of the identified 

or planned responses to risks.

The key ways in which risk management is embedded in the Board are:
• the link between corporate planning and risk management processes
• including risk in routine, regular operational reporting processes
• the ownership of risks by directors and managers
• involving the Audit Committee and the Board in agreeing and reviewing strategic and operational risks
• including risk management in training plans and as standing items in team meetings
• using risk registers for each of the Board’s projects, as part of the PRINCE2 project management methodology
• the documented timetable of monthly, quarterly and annual reviews of strategic and departmental risk profiles.

More generally, the organisation is committed to a process of continuous development and improvement. In particular, in the period covering the year to 31st March
and up to the signing of the accounts the organisation has continued to provide training to managers and staff on both the principles of risk management and the
practical application of risk management within the Board. Risk awareness and training forms part of the induction for all staff. Regular review and reporting of risks
has taken place throughout the year, with reviews and reports being considered at all levels (team, departments, directorates, Executive team, Audit Committee 
and Board).

Statement on the system of internal control
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Review of Effectiveness of the Internal Control System

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control. My review of its effectiveness is informed by:
• the managers within the Board who are responsible for developing and maintaining the internal control framework
• the work of the internal auditors, who submit to the Chief Executive and the Board’s Audit Committee, regular reports which include the Head of Internal Audit’s

independent and objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Board’s systems of internal control together with recommendations for improvement
• comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other reports. 

The Board and the Audit Committee have advised me on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control. A plan to
address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.

System of internal control

The wider system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify the principal risks to achieving Board policies, aims and objectives; to
evaluate the nature and extent of those risks; and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.

The Board

The Board meets regularly and monitors operational and financial performance, considers the plans and strategic direction of the Board and considers reports from
Board Committees set up to deal with areas such as Audit, Legal Services and Remuneration and Appointments. The Chief Executive and Directors also attend Board
meetings. The Executive team and the Audit Committee review, quarterly, the effectiveness of its risk management framework and the content and appropriateness 
of the Board’s departmental and strategic risk registers. The Board reviews this work annually.

The Executive Team

The Chief Executive leads an Executive team made up of the directors responsible for all operational and administrative functions of the Board. The Executive team
meets at least twice a month and receives comprehensive management information on all the Board’s operations, including information on risk management. The
Executive team receives and reviews monthly updates to risk registers and, in liaison with the Risk Management Co-ordinator and Internal Audit Department,
undertakes quarterly reviews of all Board risk registers.

The Remuneration and Appointments Committee

The Committee considers remuneration of the Board’s senior staff and takes an overview of appointments and remuneration issues, including the staff pay remit submitted
to the Scottish Government, remuneration and terms and conditions for the Chief Executive and Executive Directors and pension policies and related matters. 

The Audit Committee

The Audit Committee, comprises members of the Board, co-opted members and the Chief Executive; and reports direct to the full Board. As part of its remit, it is
responsible for advising the Accountable Officer on the effectiveness of the Board’s internal control system. The Audit Committee receives and reviews quarterly 
reports from the Risk Management Co-ordinator about the status of the Board’s risk registers and on any risk-related activity, such as training.

The Audit Committee has responsibility for assisting the Accountable Officer and the Board Members to perform their individual and collective responsibilities 
for ensuring that:
• the Board’s published financial statements represent a true and fair reflection of the financial position
• the Board complies with any statutory requirements for the use of public funds
• the Board operates within agreed limits to its authority and for the use of public funds
• Board Members comply with the code of conduct for NDPBs published by the Treasury.

The Audit Committee receives regular reports from the Internal Audit Department, to standards defined in the Government Internal Audit Manual. These include the
Director of Audit and Compliance’s independent opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Board’s system of internal control and recommendations for
improvement. It is also responsible for overseeing financial reporting, external audit, internal control, and Audit and Compliance Department activities.

Internal audit

The Board has an internal audit service supervised by the Director of Audit and Compliance. Internal audit work concentrates on areas of key activity determined 
from an analysis of the areas of greatest risk. These are scheduled in the annual audit activity plan approved by the Audit Committee and the Chief Executive. 
The Director of Audit and Compliance is responsible to me as the Chief Executive and makes quarterly reports to the Audit Committee. He has direct access to Board
Members and to the Convener of the Audit Committee.

The Director of Audit and Compliance has issued an Assurance Statement to me, which provides his opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control
system and the extent to which it can be relied on. The external auditors also report to me, the Audit Committee, and to the Board, any internal control issues that they
identify during their normal audit activities.

Lindsay Montgomery

Chief Executive and Accountable Officer
7 September 2007
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Independent auditors’ report to the Scottish Legal Aid Board, the Auditor General for Scotland and the Scottish Parliament

We have audited the financial statements of the Scottish Legal Aid Board for the year ended 31 March 2007 under the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986. In accordance 
with Section 5(1) of the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986 the Scottish Legal Aid Board has a duty to prepare separate financial statements in respect of the Scottish Legal
Aid Fund and the Scottish Legal Aid Board (Grant-In-Aid), each of which comprise the Operating Cost Statement, the Statement of Recognised Gains and Losses, the
Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, and the related notes. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out within them.

This report is made solely to the Scottish Legal Aid Board and to the Auditor General for Scotland in accordance with sections 21 and 22 of the Public Finance and
Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to those two parties those matters we are required to state to them 
in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. In accordance with the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Auditor General for Scotland, this report is also made to
the Scottish Parliament, as a body. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Scottish Legal Aid Board
and the Auditor General for Scotland, for this report, or the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the Board, Chief Executive and auditors

The Board and Chief Executive are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986 
and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers. The Board and Chief Executive are also responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and receipts.
These responsibilities are set out in the statement of the Board’s and Chief Executive’s responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with the relevant legal and regulatory requirements and with International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland) as required by the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Auditor General for Scotland.

We report our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to
be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers. We also report
whether in all material respects the expenditure and receipts shown in the financial statements were incurred or applied in accordance with any applicable enactments
and guidance issued by the Scottish Ministers, the Budget (Scotland) Act covering the financial year and sections 4 to 7 of the Public Finance and Accountability
(Scotland) Act 2000.

We also report if, in our opinion, the Management Commentary in the Statement of Accounts is not consistent with the financial statements, if the Board has not kept
proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by relevant authorities
regarding remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Statement on the System of Internal Control reflects the Board’s compliance with Scottish Executive guidance. We report if, in our opinion, it
does not comply with the guidance or if it is misleading or inconsistent with other information we are aware of from our audit of the financial statements. We are not
required to consider, nor have we considered, whether the statements cover all risks and controls. Neither are we required to form an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Board’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements. This other information
comprises only the Vision and Strategy, Chairman’s Introduction, Chief Executive’s Report, What We Do, Legal Aid Facts and Figures, Civil Legal Assistance, 
Criminal Legal Assistance, Public Defence Solicitors’ Office, Children’s and Contempt Legal Assistance, Our Performance, Corporate Developments, Board of Directors,
Performance Trends and Statistics, Foreword in the Statement of Accounts, and the part of the Remuneration Report in the Statement of Accounts that is not audited.
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements. 
Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued
by the Auditing Practices Board as required by the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Auditor General for Scotland. An audit includes examination, on a test basis,
of evidence relevant to the amounts, disclosures and regularity of expenditure and receipts included in the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration
Report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the Board and Chief Executive in the preparation of the
financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Board’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient
evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or error, and that in all material respects the expenditure and receipts shown in the financial statements were incurred or applied in
accordance with any applicable enactments and guidance issued by the Scottish Ministers. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited.

Independent auditor’s report
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Opinions
Financial statements

In our opinion:
• the Scottish Legal Aid Board financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986 and the directions made

thereunder by the Scottish Ministers, of the state of affairs as at 31 March 2007 of the Scottish Legal Aid Fund and the Scottish Legal Aid Board (Grant-in-Aid) and 
of the Scottish Legal Aid Fund’s and the Scottish Legal Aid Board’s (Grant-in-Aid) net operating cost, recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the year then
ended; and

• the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986
and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers.

Regularity

In our opinion in all material respects the expenditure and receipts shown in the financial statements of the Scottish Legal Aid Fund and the Scottish Legal Aid Board
(Grant-In-Aid) were incurred or applied in accordance with any applicable enactments and guidance issued by the Scottish Ministers, the Budget (Scotland) Act
covering the financial year and sections 4 to 7 of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000.

KPMG LLP

Chartered Accountants
Register Auditor 

Saltire Court
20 Castle Terrace
Edinburgh EH1 2EG

7 September 2007
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Operating cost statement for the year ended 31 March 2007
2005-2006

2006-2007 £000
Notes £000 Restated

Civil legal assistance

Civil legal aid 3 35,410 33,479 
Civil advice & assistance and ABWOR 3 19,927 20,384 
Gross civil legal assistance expenditure 3 55,337 53,863 
Less operating income 4 (13,924) (12,130)
Total net civil legal assistance expenditure 41,413 41,733 

Criminal legal assistance

Criminal legal aid 5 98,470 91,663 
Criminal advice & assistance and ABWOR 5 12,495 12,112 
Contempt of court 5 112 77 
PDSO (Public Defence Solicitors’ Office) 5 955 818 
Total criminal legal assistance expenditure 112,032 104,670

Legal aid for children 6 4,210 3,759

Other expenditure

Miscellaneous legal aid expenditure 60 34 
Bad debt (net of movement on provision) 8 577 253 

637 287 

Net expenditure before interest 158,292 150,449 

Interest receivable (30) (35)
Pension scheme finance costs 16 19 – 
Notional interest on capital 9 (2,606) (2,385)

Net operating costs 155,675 148,029 

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing activities.

Statement of recognised gains and losses for the year ended 31 March 2007
2005-2006

2006-2007 £000 
Notes £000 Restated

Pension scheme – changes in assumptions 16 (133) – 
Pension scheme – actuarial loss 16 (40) – 
Pension scheme – PDSO transfer to fund 16 (333) – 

Recognised losses relating to the year (506) – 

Prior year adjustment 2 (80,636) – 

Recognised losses since the last financial statements (81,142) – 

Scottish Legal Aid Fund
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Balance sheet as at 31 March 2007
2006

2007 £000
Notes £000 Restated

Fixed assets

Intangible assets 10 12 19 
Tangible assets 11 8 18 

20 37
Debtors: amounts falling due in more than one year 12 8,858 7,347 

Current assets

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 12 3,330 3,170 
Cash at bank and in hand 13 5,516 7,418 

8,846 10,588 
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 14 (7,349) (8,229)
Net current assets 1,497 2,359 

Total assets less current liabilities 10,375 9,743 
Provisions for liabilities and charges 15 (89,155) (79,322)
Net liabilities excluding pension liability (78,780) (69,579)
Pension liability 16 (567) – 
Net Liabilities including Pension Liability (79,347) (69,579)

Represented by:
General fund 17 (79,348) (69,580)
Revaluation reserve 18 1 1 
Taxpayer’s equity (79,347) (69,579)

The notes on pages 97 to 106 form part of these accounts and should be read in conjunction with the statements above.

Lindsay Montgomery

Chief Executive and Accountable Officer
7 September 2007

Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2007
2005-2006

2006-2007 £000
Notes £000 Restated

Net cash outflow from operating activities before financing 19 (150,921) (148,490)

Financing:
Grant-In-Aid received 17 149,019 147,517 
Decrease in cash in the year (1,902) (973)

Reconciliation of movement in cash to movement in net funds

Opening cash at bank and in hand 13 7,418 8,391 
Closing cash at bank and in hand 13 5,516 7,418 
Movement in net funds (1,902) (973)
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1 Accounting policies

1.1 Basis of accounting

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention as modified, to include fixed assets at their value to the organisation by reference
to their current cost. The accounts are prepared in accordance with the accounting principles and disclosure requirements of the Government’s ‘Financial Reporting
Manual’. Without limiting the information given, the accounts meet the accounting and disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standards Board, so far as those
requirements are appropriate and in accordance with the Accounts Direction given by Scottish Ministers. The accounting policies selected have been applied
consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

As explained in note 2, because of changes in accounting practice the Board will no longer be able to adopt the approach of reflecting a balance sheet debtor in
respect of future income from the Scottish Government, relating to the value of work in progress for legal aid certificates in issue, resulting in the Scottish Legal Aid
Board Fund balance sheet on page 96, recording net liabilities of £79m (2006 £70m). This reflects the inclusion of liabilities falling due in future years which, to the
extent that they are not to be met from the Board’s other sources of income, may only be met by future grants or grants-in-aid from the Scottish Government. This is
because, under the normal conventions applying to Scottish Government control over income and expenditure, such grants may not be paid in advance of need. 
Grant-In-Aid for 2007-2008, taking into account the amounts required to meet the Board’s liabilities falling during that year, has already been included in the Scottish
Government’s estimates for that year, which have been approved by parliament, and there is no reason to believe that the Scottish Government’s full sponsorship and
future parliamentary approval will not be forthcoming. Further, the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986 creates a statutory obligation for payment of sums due to any solicitor
or counsel out of the Legal Aid Fund. Accordingly, it is considered appropriate to adopt the going concern basis for the preparation of these financial statements.

1.2 Corresponding amounts

Corresponding amounts are shown for the primary financial statements and for the notes to the accounts. Where corresponding amounts are not directly comparable
with the amount shown in the current financial year, Financial Reporting Standard 28 ‘Corresponding Amounts’ requires that they should be adjusted and the basis for
adjustment disclosed in a note to the financial statements.

1.3 Changes in accounting policy

For the financial year ended 31 March 2007, the Financial Reporting Advisory Board has agreed amendments to the Financial Reporting Manual. The changes in the
accounting policy have been reflected by prior year adjustments in line with Financial Reporting Standard 3 ‘Reporting Financial Performance’. The impact of these
changes is disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements.

1.4 Funding

Most of the expenditure of the Board is met from funds advanced by the Scottish Government within an approved allocation. Cash drawn down to fund expenditure
within this approved allocation is credited to the general fund. All income that is not classed as funding is recognised in the period in which it is receivable. Funding for
the acquisition of general fixed assets received from the Scottish Government is credited to the general fund. Funding received from any source for the acquisition of
specific assets is credited to the government grant reserve and released to the operating cost statement over the life of the asset.

1.5 Fixed assets

Fixed assets are capitalised at their cost of acquisition and installation and are revalued each year using Business Monitor Producer Price Indices to take account of
specific price changes. The threshold for capitalisation of assets is £5,000; however, individual assets whose cost falls below the threshold but are of a similar nature
are grouped and capitalised. 

1.6 Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on all fixed assets, on a straight line basis, at rates calculated to write-off the revalued cost, less estimated residual value, of each asset over
its expected useful life as follows:
• office equipment – 5 years
• office furniture – 10 years
• personal computer hardware and software – 3 years
• other computer hardware – 5 years
• other software licences – the shorter term of the length of life of licence and its useful economic life.

1.7 Notional credits

In accordance with the Government Financial Reporting Manual, a notional credit for interest on capital is included in the Operating Cost Statement. An accounting
entry reversing this notional position is also included in the General Fund. This is a charge when the balance sheet shows net assets and a credit when the balance
sheet reports net liabilities.

1.8 Provisions for liabilities and charges

The liability to pay accounts resulting from work performed up to and including 31 March is calculated based on the number of outstanding legal aid certificates and
estimates of cost and time since the certificate was issued. 

Notes to accounts for the Scottish Legal Aid Fund
For the year ended 31 March 2007
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1 Accounting policies continued

1.9 Pension costs (PDSO staff)

The Legal Aid (Scotland) Pension Scheme 1988 is an unfunded pension scheme providing benefits based on final pensionable pay. The liabilities of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Board. Pension scheme liabilities are measured using a projected unit method and discounted at the current rate of return on a high
quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liability. The amount charged to the statement of financial activities represents the service cost expected
to arise from employee service in the current year, in line with the requirements of Financial Reporting Standard 17 ‘Retirement Benefits’.

1.10 VAT

The Board is not eligible to register for VAT and all costs are shown inclusive of irrecoverable VAT.

1.11 Losses and special payments

Operating expenditure includes certain losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the Board not been bearing its known risks. Losses and
special payments are disclosed separately in a note to the accounts (note 20). 

1.12 Related party transactions

Related party transactions are identified, considered and disclosed in line with the requirements of Financial Reporting Standard 8 ‘Related Party Transactions’. 

2 Prior year adjustments

For the financial year ended 31 March 2007, the Financial Reporting Advisory Board have agreed amendments to the Financial Reporting Manual. This has resulted in 
a number of changes in accounting policies and to the format of the accounts:

Accounting for Grant-In-Aid:

The previous practice where grants and grants-in-aid received for revenue purposes were shown as Income, is superseded so that such amounts shall be considered 
as contributions from controlling parties giving rise to a financial interest in the residual interest of the body, and hence should account for them as financing. 
Thus the funding will be recorded as a movement on the general reserve. This has a number of consequences for the Board’s accounts:
• in relation to the presentation of the primary Financial Statements, the ‘Income and Expenditure Account’ will be replaced by an ‘Operating Cost Statement’, which

will no longer show grant/grant-in-aid as income
• the fact that the grant/grant-in-aid can no longer be considered income means that the Board will no longer be able to accrue future income relating to the value of

work in progress for legal aid certificates in issue. Instead, the Board will reflect the liability for payments to solicitors and advocates in respect of unpaid work
completed at the balance sheet date as a provision for liabilities and charges

• the final consequence of this change is that the Board will no longer be able to adopt the approach of reflecting a balance sheet debtor in respect of future income
from the Scottish Government relating to the value of work in progress for legal aid certificates in issue.

Accounting for fixed assets:

Previously, grants or grant-in-aid received to finance all fixed assets were credited to a government grant reserve; and subsequently released to match the depreciation
charge, over the expected useful life of the asset. The changes to the Financial Reporting Manual mean that grant-in-aid received to finance the acquisition of fixed
assets in general is to be credited to general reserves; and only grants received to finance the acquisition of a specific asset is to be credited to a Government Grant
reserve.

A review of the Board’s assets with a current net book value greater than zero has revealed that all of the assets were funded from general grant-in-aid, not from
specific capital grants. Therefore, the Government Grant reserve has been transferred in its entirety to the General Fund reserve.
The following table identifies all balances restated in these financial statements:

Reported in
2005-2006 Adjustment Restated

£000 £000 £000

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 58,841 (55,671) 3,170 

Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year 32,354 (25,007) 7,347 

Total Debtors 91,195 (80,678) 10,517 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (62,544) 54,315 (8,229)

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (25,007) 25,007 – 

Total Creditors (87,551) 79,322 (8,229)

Provision for liabilities and charges – (79,322) (79,322)

Government grant 42 (42) – 

General Fund 11,056 (80,636) (69,580)
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3 Civil legal assistance expenditure
2006-2007 2005-2006

£000 £000

Civil legal aid

Solicitors’ charges 20,641 20,847
Advocates’ fees 4,928 4,605
Solicitor Advocates’ fees 7 –
Outlays 9,757 7,986

35,333 33,438
Expenses paid to successful unassisted persons 77 41

35,410 33,479

Civil advice and assistance and ABWOR

Solicitors’ charges 17,678 17,694
Outlays 2,249 2,690

19,927 20,384

Gross civil legal assistance expenditure 55,337 53,863
Less operating income (13,924) (12,130)
Total net civil legal assistance expenditure 41,413 41,733

These figures include:
• estimates of the value of work done for which payment is outstanding at 31 March 2007
• estimates for work done as a matter of special urgency. Some of this work will not lead to a grant of full legal aid and may be paid under determination 

by the Scottish Ministers under section 4(2)(c) of the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986. In 2006-2007 , the expenditure under this scheme was £1,240,000 
(2005-2006: £953,000).

• payments to account made to solicitors and advocates under regulation 11 of the Civil Legal Aid (Scotland) (Fees) Regulations 1989. 
In 2006-2007 the expenditure under this scheme was £2,010,000 (2005-2006: £1,531,000).

4 Civil legal assistance income
2006-2007 2005-2006

£000 £000 

Contributions by assisted persons1 2,546 1,842 
Expenses recovered2 9,279 9,159 
Amounts recovered out of property recovered or preserved by assisted persons3 573 238 
Losses recovered from damages 1,526 891 
Total 13,924 12,130 

1 Contributions by assisted persons is shown net of any refunds. Amongst the reasons refunds may arise are: 
• the financial circumstances of the assisted person having changed
• the total cost of the case being less than the contribution
• the cost of a case having been fully recovered from a third party.

The net amounts refunded during 2006-2007 were £378,000 (2005-2006: £393,000).

2 Expenses recovered are shown net of any adjustments, which may arise because the legal aid account has been taxed (re-assessed) by the Auditor of Court.
Expenses refunded during 2006-2007 were £37,000 (2005-2006: £1,000). These are incorporated in the operating income table above.

3 Included in the amounts recovered out of property recovered or preserved by assisted persons are sums relating to assets over which the Board has taken a
standard security. Under certain circumstances, the Board will securitise assets such as property until the debt is repaid. Any outstanding sum will attract interest 
at 8% a year, unless the rate is adjusted by an Act of Sederunt, until the balance is settled. The total value of securitised assets for 2007, including accrued interest,
is £298,000 (2006: £309,000). 
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5 Criminal legal assistance expenditure
2006-2007 2005-2006

£000 £000

Criminal legal aid

Solicitors’ charges 78,419 73,801
Advocates’ fees 12,103 10,391
Solicitor Advocates’ fees 2,748 2,201
Outlays 5,200 5,270

98,470 91,663

Criminal advice & assistance and ABWOR

Solicitors’ charges 11,924 11,535
Outlays 571 577

12,495 12,112

Contempt of court

Solicitors’ charges 92 54
Advocates’ fees 8 12
Solicitor Advocates’ fees 10 8
Outlays 2 3

112 77

Public Defence Solicitors’ Office (PDSO)

Criminal defence costs – outlays 63 58
Salaries and wages 489 447
Social security costs 43 39
Pension scheme service costs 42 –
Accommodation 137 136
Audit fees 2 2
Depreciation 15 16
Revaluation/permanent diminution in value of fixed assets 2 3
Other operating costs 162 117

955 818
Total criminal legal assistance expenditure 112,032 104,670

These figures include:
• estimates of the value of work done for which payment is outstanding at 31 March 2007; and
• estimates for work done as a matter of special urgency. Some of this work will not lead to a grant of full legal aid and may be paid under determination 

by the Scottish Ministers under section 4(2)(c) of the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986. In 2006-2007, the expenditure under this scheme was £92,000 
(2005-2006: £122,000).

6 Legal aid for children expenditure
2006-2007 2005-2006

£000 £000

Solicitors’ charges 2,908 2,324
Counsels’ fees 932 1,128
Outlays 370 307

4,210 3,759

These figures include estimates of the value of work done for which payment is outstanding at 31 March 2007.
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7 PDSO Staff
2006-2007 2005-2006

£000 £000

Staff costs (PDSO)

Staff salaries and wages 485 444
Social security costs 43 39
Agency/temporary/contract 4 3
Pension scheme service costs 42 –

574 486

2006-2007 2005-2006
£000 £000

Staff numbers

Operations and legal services 11 11
Administration and support functions 5 5
Agency/temporary/contract – –

16 16

PDSO pensions and other benefits are payable out of the Scottish Legal Aid Fund account.

8 Bad debt (net of movement in provision)
2006-2007 2005-2006

£000 £000

Irrecoverable contributions from assisted persons 328 39
Irrecoverable expenses 242 154
Irrecoverable sums from property recovered or preserved by assisted persons 7 60

577 253

The sums written off during the year were £417,000 (2005-2006: £233,000).

9 Notional credits

A notional credit for interest on capital is included in the Operating Cost Statement. This is calculated at 3.5% (2005-2006: 3.5%) of the average value of net liabilities
on the balance sheet.

10 Intangible fixed assets
Software

£000

Cost or valuation

Balance at 1 April 2006 48
Permanent diminution (2)
As at 31 March 2007 46

Amortisation

Balance at 1 April 2006 29
Provided during year 6
Backlog (1)
As at 31 March 2007 34

Net book value at 31 March 2007 12

Net book value at 31 March 2006 19

These assets relate to the operation of the PDSO (see note 5)
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11 Tangible Fixed Assets
Office PC/

furniture Office computer 
and fittings equipment hardware Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation

Balance at 1 April 2006 5 6 46 57
Permanent diminution – – (2) (2)
As at 31 March 2007 5 6 44 55

Depreciation

Balance at 1 April 2006 5 6 28 39
Provided during year 9 9
Backlog – – (1) (1)
As at 31 March 2007 5 6 36 47

Net book value at 31 March 2007 – – 8 8

Net book value at 31 March 2006 – – 18 18

These assets relate to the operation of the PDSO (see note 5).

12 Debtors
2006

2007 £000
£000 Restated

Bodies external to Government

Contributions due from assisted persons 5,965 5,100
Expenses to be recovered 4,246 3,992
Amounts due out of property recovered or preserved by assisted persons 1,724 1,172
Prepayments 253 253

12,188 10,517

Amounts falling due in less than one year included above are:

Bodies external to Government

Contributions due from assisted persons 2,378 2,142
Expenses to be recovered 365 559
Amounts due out of property recovered or preserved by assisted persons 334 216
Prepayments 253 253

3,330 3,170

Amounts falling due after more than one year included above are:

Bodies external to Government

Contributions due from assisted persons 3,587 2,958
Expenses to be recovered 3,881 3,433
Amounts due out of property recovered or preserved by assisted persons 1,390 956 

8,858 7,347
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13 Cash
2007 2006
£000 £000

Cash at bank and in hand 167 785
Principal sums* (note 14) 5,090 6,435
Funds held under arrestment pending resolution (note 14) 259 198

5,516 7,418

*Principal sums consist of damages and other money recovered on behalf of assisted persons. They are held in an interest bearing account until all the financial
transactions for a case are concluded. Once the net liability to the Legal Aid Fund can be settled, the remaining balance due will be transferred to the assisted person.
The movement in the account during the year was as follows:

2007 2006
£000 £000

Balance as at 1 April 6,435 6,760

Received during the year 12,890 17,150
Interest received during year 227 241

13,117 17,391
Less:
Sums repaid to assisted persons 12,754 16,601
Interest paid to assisted persons 182 224
Losses recovered from damages received 1,526 891

14,462 17,716
Balance as at 31 March 5,090 6,435

14 Creditors
2006

2007 £000
£000 Restated

Bodies external to Government

Accruals 21 6
Amounts due to solicitors and advocates 1,979 1,590
Principal sums (note 13) 5,090 6,435
Arrestments (note 13) 259 198

7,349 8,229

The liability relating to legal aid work performed until and including the 31 March, but not paid at 31 March was accounted for as an accrual at 31 March 2006. 
At 31 March 2007 this has been reclassified as a provision (see note 15) and the comparative balance changed accordingly. This has no net impact on the 
balance sheet.

15 Provisions for liabilities and charges
£000

Provision for amounts outstanding on granted legal aid cases

As at 1 April 2006 79,322
Additions and increase to provision 55,489
Amounts used in the period (32,533)
Unused amounts reversed in the period (13,123)
As at 31 March 2007 89,155

The Board estimates the value of unbilled live cases each year to arrive at the amounts disclosed within the accounts, as indicated in note 14, as a provision. 
The amount is an estimate of the expenditure required to settle any obligation at the balance sheet date following the requirements of Financial Reporting Standard 12
‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’. In estimating the provision, the Board has adopted prudent measurement techniques based on the latest data
available. No income is anticipated for cases that may successfully recover costs.

This was previously reported as an accrual. The change has no impact on the net assets reported as 31 March 2006.
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16 Pension arrangements

The Board operates a contributory defined benefit (final salary) pension scheme.

The Legal Aid (Scotland) Pension Scheme 1988 sets out the conditions for entitlement and determines the rate at which benefits are payable. The scheme is set up
under paragraph 8(3) of Schedule 1 to the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986 which gives the Board power to make rules to provide pensions, allowances or gratuities for 
its employees. The scheme is administered on behalf of the Board by the Scottish Public Pensions Agency, an Executive Agency of Scottish Ministers.

Although the Board operates a single scheme for all staff, the income, costs and liabilities are apportioned between staff funded by the Scottish Legal Aid Fund,
presently only PDSO staff; and staff funded from the Scottish Legal Aid Board’s Grant-In-Aid. This disclosure, therefore, relates only to PDSO staff.

There being no assets held, the scheme is unfunded. The pensions and other benefits are met as they fall due. Scheme members pay contributions at a rate 
of 6% of pensionable remuneration. These contributions are used to offset the expenditure. Contributions from PDSO staff were £19,000 (2005-2006 £17,000).

A full actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out as at 31 March 2007 by Buck Consultants. The major assumptions used by Buck Consultants were: 

31 March 31 March
2007 2006

Discount rate per annum 4.60% 5.37%
Revaluation of deferred pensions 2.75% 2.50%
Increases to pensions in payment 2.75% 2.50%
Salary increases 3.75% 4.00%
Inflation 2.75% 2.50%

The mortality rate assumptions used for pensioner life expectancy assumed in the 31 March 2007 valuation were based on the table PXA92 projected to 2045.

2006-2007

£000 

Analysis of the amount charged to operating costs

Current service cost (see note 7) 42
Past service cost –

42

2006-2007

£000

Analysis of the amount credited to income

Expected return on pension scheme assets –
Finance charges on pension scheme liabilities 19

19

2007

£000 

Reconciliation of the liability in the scheme over the year:

Scheme liability at the beginning of the year –
Transfer of PDSO staff from Grant-In-Aid 333*

333
Movement in year

Current service cost 42
Other finance charge 19
Changes in financial assumptions 133
Actuarial loss 40
Liability in scheme at end of the year 567

*In previous years’ accounts the pension liabilities arising from PDSO staff have been included in the liabilities of the Scottish Legal Aid Board accounts. 
Anticipating the significant expansion of the PDSO during 2007-2008, these liabilities have been transferred to the Scottish Legal Aid Fund Accounts, where 
the assets and liabilities of PDSO most appropriately lie. There are no comparative figures for 2006 because historic separable data for PDSO is not available.
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Amounts for the current and previous four years are as follows:

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Defined benefit obligation 567 – – – – 
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities (40) – – – – 

17 General Fund
2007 2006
£000 £000

Previously reported opening balance at 1 April 11,056 10,662 
Prior year adjustment (see note 2) (80,636) (77,345)
Restated balance at 1 April (69,580) (66,683)

Government grant 149,000 147,500
Net cost of operations (155,675) (148,029)
Net movement on pension scheme (487) 17
Reversal of notional interest on capital (2,606) (2,385) 
Balance as at 31 March (79,348) (69,580)

18 Revaluation Reserve
2007 2006
£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2006 1 1 
Balance as at 31 March 2007 1 1 

19 Reconciliation of net cost of operations to net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities
2005-2006

2006-2007 £000
£000 Restated

Net operating costs (155,675) (148,029)
Depreciation charges 15 16 
Permanent diminution in value of fixed assets 2 3 
Increase in debtors (1,671) (1,149)
Decrease in creditors (880) (744)
Increase in provisions 9,833 3,798 
Pension scheme service and finance costs 61 –
Reversal of notional interest on capital (2,606) (2,385)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (150,921) (148,490)

20 Losses and special payments
2006-2007 2005-2006

No of cases £000 No of cases £000

Write-off of bad debt 795 417 609 233
Special payments* 18 29 13 3

813 446 622 236

*There are cases where, in good faith, a solicitor or counsel provides advice for which the Board cannot pay under the letter of the Act or Regulations. There are also
cases where an error is made by the Board. In such cases, the Board may make an ex-gratia payment, without prejudice, of compensation up to an agreed limit. 
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21 Related party transactions

During the year, the Board entered into transactions of a value greater than £1,000 with the following related parties.

2006-2007 2005-2006
£000 £000

Joseph Hughes 255 –
Paul McBride QC 238 –
David Nicol 28 9
Margaret Scanlan 2 –
Michael Scanlan 2 7

These related parties are Board Members and their spouses or relatives who transacted with the Board at any time during the year. They are active legal aid
practitioners and all the transactions arise from providing legal aid to assisted persons in the normal course of their profession, via their firms. The amounts detailed
include outlays and VAT but do not include amounts paid for work carried out, on behalf of other firms, as an Edinburgh agent.

22 Capital commitments

No capital commitments existed at the balance sheet date.

23 Post balance sheet date events

During 2004-2005, Board investigations revealed that a solicitor had fabricated documents to obtain payments from the Legal Aid Fund. The matter was reported 
to the police; however, no action could be taken following the death of the solicitor. The total amount obtained over a 7 year period has been quantified as £1.8m. 
The Board has undertaken a review to ensure that the case is an isolated one and has fortified its controls to minimise the risk of a re-occurrence.

The recovery of the loss has been sought both by the Scottish Ministers’ Civil Recovery Unit and by the Board. At the date of signing of these accounts, a binding
agreement has been signed by all parties that will effect recovery to the Scottish Ministers’ Civil Recovery Unit and to the Board, with no loss to public funds. 
The terms of the agreement provide for repayment of the funds over varying periods, the latest of which is four months from the date of the agreement.
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Scottish Legal Aid Board

Operating cost statement for the year ended 31 March 2007
2005-2006 

2006-2007 £000 
Notes £000 Restated

Expenditure

Staff costs 26 9,192 8,443
Operating costs 27 4,083 3,816
Depreciation 30 & 31 494 471
Permanent diminution in value of fixed assets and backlog depreciation 30 & 31 71 211
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 30 & 31 15 – 
Impairment of fixed assets 30 & 31 19 53
Operating costs before interest 13,874 12,994

Interest receivable 28 – – 
Pension scheme finance costs 35 1,441 1,212
Notional interest on capital 29 (1,063) (753)
Net operating costs 14,252 13,453 

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing activities.

Statement of recognised gains and losses for the year ended 31 March 2007
2005-2006

2006-2007 £000
Notes £000 Restated

Pension Scheme – changes in assumptions 35 (6,378) (4,425)
Pension Scheme – actuarial loss 35 (2,301) (1,038)
Pension Scheme – transfer of PDSO to Legal Aid Fund 35 333 –
Recognised losses relating to the year (8,346) (5,463)
Prior year adjustment 25 1,365 –
Recognised losses since the last financial statements (6,981) (5,463)
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Balance sheet as at 31 March 2007
2005-2006

2006-2007 £000
Notes £000 Restated

Fixed assets

Intangible assets 30 107 217
Tangible assets 31 884 974

991 1,191
Current assets

Debtors 32 543 467
Cash at bank and in hand 18 60

561 527
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 33 (253) (160)
Net current assets 308 367
Net assets excluding pension scheme liabilities 1,299 1,558
Pension scheme liability 35 (36,830) (26,780)
Net liabilities including pension liability (35,531) (25,222)

Represented by:
General fund 36 (35,548) (25,239)
Revaluation reserve 37 17 17
Taxpayer’s equity (35,531) (25,222)

The notes on pages 109 to 115 form part of these accounts and should be read with the statements above.

Lindsay Montgomery

Chief Executive and Accountable Officer
7 September 2007

Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2007
2005-2006

2006-2007 £000
Notes £000 Restated

Net cash outflow from operating activities 38 (12,415) (11,806)
Capital expenditure:
Payments to acquire intangible fixed assets 30 (5) (67)
Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets 31 (394) (382)
Net cash outflow before financing (12,814) (12,255)
Financing:
Financed by government grant 36 12,772 12,271
(Decrease)/increase in cash in the year (42) 16 

Reconciliation of movement in cash to movement in net funds

Opening cash at bank and in hand 60 44
Closing cash at bank and in hand 18 60
Movement in net funds (42) 16 
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24 Accounting Policies

24.1 Basis of accounting

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention as modified, to include fixed assets at their value to the organisation by reference
to their current cost. The accounts are prepared in accordance with the accounting principles and disclosure requirements of the Financial Reporting Manual. Without
limiting the information given, the accounts meet the accounting and disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standards Board, so far as those requirements are
appropriate and in accordance with the Accounts Direction given by Scottish Ministers. The accounting policies selected have been applied consistently in dealing with
items considered material in relation to the accounts.

As explained in note 35, pensions and other benefits are payable out of Grant-In-Aid and are met as they fall due. However, the accounts have been prepared in line
with Financial Reporting Standard 17 ‘Retirement Benefits’ and include an actuarial valuation of the pension scheme liability. As a result, the balance sheet shows net
liabilities of £36m (2006 £25m). This reflects the inclusion of liabilities falling due in future years which, to the extent that they are not to be met from the Board’s other
sources of income, may only be met by future grants or grants-in-aid from the Scottish Government. This is because, under the normal conventions applying to Scottish
Government control over income and expenditure, such grants may not be paid in advance of need. Grant-In-Aid for 2007-2008, taking into account the amounts
required to meet the Board’s liabilities falling during that year, has already been included in the Scottish Government’s estimates for that year, which have been
approved by parliament, and there is no reason to believe that the Scottish Government’s full sponsorship and future parliamentary approval will not be forthcoming.
Accordingly, it is considered appropriate to adopt the going concern basis for the preparation of these financial statements.

24.2 Corresponding amounts

Corresponding amounts are shown for the primary financial statements and for the notes to the accounts. Where corresponding amounts are not directly comparable
with the amount shown in the current financial year, Financial Reporting Standard 28 ‘Corresponding Amounts’ requires that they should be adjusted and the basis for
adjustment disclosed in a note to the financial statements.

24.3 Changes in accounting policy

For the financial year ending 31 March 2007, the Financial Reporting Advisory Board has agreed amendments to the Financial Reporting Manual. The changes in the
accounting policy have been reflected by prior year adjustments in line with Financial Reporting Standard 3 ‘Reporting Financial Performance’. The impact of these
changes is disclosed in note 25 to the financial statements.

24.4 Funding

Most of the expenditure of the Board is met from funds advanced by the Scottish Government within an approved allocation. Cash drawn down to fund expenditure
within this approved allocation is credited to the general fund. All income that is not classed as funding is recognised in the period in which it is receivable. Funding for
the acquisition of general fixed assets received from the Scottish Government is credited to the general fund. Funding received from any source for the acquisition of
specific assets is credited to the government grant reserve and released to the operating cost statement over the life of the asset.

24.5 Fixed assets

Fixed assets are capitalised at their cost of acquisition and installation and are revalued each year using Business Monitor Producer Price Indices to take account of
specific price changes. The threshold for capitalisation of assets is £5,000; however, individual assets whose cost falls below the threshold but are of a similar nature,
are grouped and capitalised. 

24.6 Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on fixed assets on a straight line basis, at rates calculated to write-off the revalued cost, less estimated residual value, of each asset over its
expected useful life, as follows:

• office equipment – 5 years
• office furniture – 10 years
• personal computer hardware and software – 3 years 
• other computer hardware – 5 years
• other software licences – the shorter term of the length of life of licence and its useful economic life.

24.7 Notional credits

In accordance with the Government Financial Reporting Manual, a notional credit for interest on capital is included in the Operating Cost Statement. An accounting 
entry reversing this notional position is included in the General Fund. This is a charge when the balance sheet shows net assets and a credit when the balance sheet
reports net liabilities.

24.8 Operating leases

Rentals applicable to operating leases are charged to the Operating Cost Statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Statement of accounts
Notes to accounts for the Scottish Legal Aid Board
For the year ended 31 March 2007
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24.9 Pension costs

The Legal Aid (Scotland) Pension Scheme 1988 is an unfunded pension scheme providing benefits based on final pensionable pay. The liabilities of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Board. Pension scheme liabilities are measured using a projected unit method and discounted at the current rate of return on a high
quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liability. The amount charged to the operating cost statement represents the service cost expected to
arise from employee service in the current year, in line with the requirements of Financial Reporting Standard 17 ‘Retirement Benefits’.

24.10 Accruals and prepayments

The Board adjusts cash spend using accruals and prepayments to match expenditure to the period it was actually incurred. Only invoices over £500 are accrued or
prepaid.

24.11 VAT

The Board is not eligible to register for VAT and all costs are shown inclusive of irrecoverable VAT.

24.12 Losses and special payments

Operating expenditure includes certain losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the Board not been bearing its own risks. Losses and
special payments are disclosed separately in a note to the accounts (note 39). 

25 Prior year adjustments

For the financial year ending 31 March 2007, the Financial Reporting Advisory Board has agreed amendments to Government’s Financial Reporting Manual. This has
resulted in number of changes in accounting policies and to the format of the accounts:

Accounting for Grant-In-Aid:

The previous practice where grants and grants-in-aid received for revenue purposes were shown as income, has changed so that such amounts shall be considered as
contributions from controlling parties giving rise to a financial interest in the residual interest of the body, and hence should account for them as financing. Thus the
funding will be recorded as a movement on the general reserve. In relation to the presentation of the primary Financial Statements, the ‘Income and Expenditure
Account’ will be replaced by an ‘Operating Cost Statement’, which will no longer show grant/grant-in-aid as income.

Accounting for fixed assets:

Previously grants or grant-in-aid received to finance all fixed assets were credited to a government grant reserve; and subsequently released to match the depreciation
charge, over the expected useful life of the asset. The changes to the Financial Reporting Manual mean that grant-in-aid received to finance the acquisition of fixed
assets in general is to be credited to general reserves; and only grants received to finance the acquisition of a specific asset is to be credited to a Government Grant
reserve.
A review of the Board’s assets with a current net book value greater than zero has revealed that all of the assets were funded from general grant-in-aid, not from
specific capital grants. Therefore, the Government Grant reserve has been transferred in its entirety to the General Fund reserve.

The following table identifies all balances restated in these financial statements:
Reported in
2005-2006 Adjustment Restated

£000 £000 £000

Government grant 1,365 (1,365) –

General fund (26,604) 1,365 (25,239)
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26 Staff
2006-2007 2005-2006

£000 £000 

Staff costs

Board Members’ emoluments 128 120
Staff salaries 6,857 6,413
Social security costs 542 502
Pension scheme service costs 843 612
Payments to pensioners 459 460
Contributions refunded and transfers to other schemes 130 234
Agency/temporary/contract 233 102

9,192 8,443

2006-2007 2005-2006 
WTE WTE 

Staff numbers

Operations and legal services 185 187
Administration and support functions 105 105
Agency/temporary/contract 16 14

306 306

27 Operating Costs
2006-2007 2005-2006

£000 £000
Restated

Accommodation 542 508
Audit fee 39 36
Staff related costs 232 217
Travel and subsistence 86 104
Print, postage, stationery and telephones 447 637
Office Equipment and maintenance 805 537
Rentals under operating leases 691 692
Other administrative costs 1,241 1,085

4,083 3,816

28 Interest receivable

The contract with the Royal Bank of Scotland prescribes quarterly payments of bank interest receivable. The creditor balance of £30,000 (2005-2006: £18,000) 
as at 31 March 2007 (see note 33) is held pending agreement on the treatment of this with the Scottish Government.

29 Notional credits

A notional credit for interest on capital is included in the Operating Cost Statement. This is calculated at 3.5% (2005-2006: 3.5%) of the average value of net liabilities 
on the balance sheet. 
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30 Intangible fixed assets
Software 

£000 

Cost or valuation

Balance at 1 April 2006 444
Additions 5
Disposals (28)
Permanent diminution in value (27)
As at 31 March 2007 394

Depreciation

Balance at 1 April 2006 227
Provided during year 88
Disposals (28)
Backlog (14)
Impairment 14 
As at 31 March 2007 287

Net book value at 31 March 2007 107

Net book value at 31 March 2006 217

31 Tangible fixed assets
Office PC/

furniture Office computer 
and fittings equipment hardware Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation

Balance at 1 April 2006 68 279 2,029 2,376
Additions – 12 382 394
Disposals (42) (12) (445) (499)
Permanent diminution in value – (13) (101) (114)
As at 31 March 2007 26 266 1,865 2,157

Depreciation

Balance at 1 April 2006 66 127 1,209 1,402
Provided during year 1 49 356 406
Disposals (42) (12) (430) (484)
Backlog – (5) (51) (56)
Impairment – 4 1 5
As at 31 March 2007 25 163 1,085 1,273

Net book value at 31 March 2007 1 103 780 884

Net book value at 31 March 2006 2 152 820 974

32 Debtors
2007 2006 
£000 £000

Bodies external to Government

Prepayments 543 467
543 467
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33 Creditors
2007 2006 
£000 £000 

Other Central Government bodies

Interest received due to Scottish Executive 30 18
Bodies external to Government

Accruals 143 139
Trade creditors 80 3

253 160

34 Financial instruments

The Board has no borrowings and relies primarily on funding from the Scottish Government for its cash requirements. The Board is, therefore, not exposed 
to liquidity risks. 

The Board has no material deposits, and all material assets and liabilities are denominated in sterling. The Board is not, therefore, exposed to interest rate 
or currency risk.

35 Pension arrangements

The Board operates a contributory defined benefit (final salary) pension scheme. 

The Legal Aid (Scotland) Pension Scheme 1988 sets out the conditions for entitlement and determines the rate at which benefits are payable. The scheme is set up
under paragraph 8(3) of Schedule 1 to the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986 which gives the Board power to make rules to provide pensions, allowances or gratuities for its
employees. The scheme is administered on behalf of the Board by the Scottish Public Pensions Agency, an Executive Agency of Scottish Ministers.

Although the Board operates a single scheme for all staff, the income, costs and liabilities are apportioned between staff funded by the Scottish Legal Aid Fund,
presently only PDSO staff; and staff funded from the Scottish Legal Aid Board’s grant-in-aid. This disclosure, therefore, relates to staff other than PDSO staff.

There being no assets held, the scheme is unfunded. The pensions and other benefits are met as they fall due from grant-in-aid. Scheme members pay contributions 
of 6% of pensionable salaries amounting to £310,000 (2005-2006 £283,000). These contributions along with any transfers from other schemes, are used to offset the
Board’s grant-in-aid expenditure up to a limit of £250,000. Any excess receipts are surrendered to the Scottish Government; and any excess expenditure on pensions,
over and above that estimated for the year, is met by the Scottish Government.

A full actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out as at 31 March 2007 by Buck Consultants. The major assumptions used by Buck Consultants were: 

31 March 31 March
2007 2006

Discount rate per annum 4.60% 5.37%
Revaluation of deferred pensions 2.75% 2.50%
Increases to pensions in payment 2.75% 2.50%
Salary increases 3.75% 4.00%
Inflation 2.75% 2.50%

The mortality rate assumptions used for pensioner life expectancy assumed in the 31 March 2007 valuation were based on the table PXA92 projected to 2045.
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35 Pension arrangements continued
2006-2007 2005-2006 

£000 £000

Analysis of the amount charged to operating costs

Current service cost (see note 26) 843 612
Past service cost – –

843 612 

2006-2007 2005-2006
£000 £000

Analysis of the amount credited to income

Expected return on pension scheme assets – –
Finance charges on pension scheme liabilities 1,441 1,212 

1,441 1,212 

2007 2006
£000 £000 

Reconciliation of the liability in the scheme over the year:

Scheme liability at the beginning of the year 26,780 19,493
Transfer of PDSO liabilities to Legal Aid Fund (333)*

26,447

Movement in year

Current service cost 843 612
Benefits paid (580) –
Other finance charge 1,441 1,212
Changes in financial assumptions 6,378 4,425
Actuarial loss 2,301 1,038
Liability in scheme at end of the year 36,830 26,780

* In previous years’ accounts the pension liabilities arising from PDSO staff have been included in the liabilities of the Scottish Legal Aid Board accounts. Anticipating
the significant expansion of the PDSO during 2007-2008, these liabilities have been transferred to the Scottish Legal Aid Fund Accounts, where the assets and
liabilities of PDSO most appropriately lie. 

Amounts for the current and previous four years are as follows:
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Defined benefit obligation 36,830 26,780 19,493 17,259 15,200 
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities (360) (1,038) 1,184 – N/A 

36 General fund
2007 2006 
£000 £000 

Balance on General Fund at 1 April (26,604) (19,363)
Prior year adjustment 1,365 1,522 
Restated General Fund Reserve as at 1 April (25,239) (17,841)
Operating costs (14,252) (13,453)
Net movement on pension scheme (7,766) (5,463)
Reversal of notional interest on capital (1,063) (753)
Grant-In-Aid 12,772 12,271
Balance as at 31 March 2007 (35,548) (25,239)

37 Revaluation reserve
2007 2006
£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 17 17
Balance as at 31 March 2007 17 17
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38 Reconciliation of net costs of operations to net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities
2005-2006

2006-2007 £000
£000 Restated

Net operating costs (14,252) (13,453)
Deferred income – (27)
Depreciation charges 494 471
Permanent diminution in value of fixed assets 71 211
Loss on disposal 15 –
Impairment of fixed assets 19 53
Increase in debtors (76) (167)
Increase in creditors 93 35
Pension scheme service and finance costs 2,284 1,824
Reversal of notional interest on capital (1,063) (753)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities (12,415) (11,806)

39 Losses and special payments
2006-2007 2005-2006

No of Cases £000 No of Cases £000

Losses 4 – 1 2
Special payments 6 1 3 2

10 1 4 4

40 Capital commitments
2007 2006 
£000 £000 

In respect of contracts entered into at 31 March – 154 

41 Operating leases
2007 2006

Land and Land and
buildings Other buildings Other 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Annual commitments, at 31 March, under operating leases are as follows:
Leases expiring:

• in one year or less – 6 – 9
• between one and five years – – – 18
• in five years or more 664 – 664 –

664 6 664 27

The Board’s offices at 39-44 Drumsheugh Gardens are leased. The lease provides for the payment of a sum for dilapidation at the expiry of the leases in 2014 and 2015.
Because the Board has a rolling planned programme of maintenance to avoid the need for extensive refurbishment at the expiry of the lease, the Board has not
provided for dilapidations.

In line with SSAP 21 Accounting for leases and hire purchase contracts, the 2006 and 2007 figures have been restated to reflect the commitment at the balance sheet
date rather than the expenditure for the period. This has no impact on the financial statements. 

42 Post balance sheet events

No events occurred between 1 April 2007 and the time these accounts were signed that would materially affect the information provided.
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